South Dakota State University

Open PRAIRIE: Open Public Research Access Institutional Repository and Information Exchange

Electronic Theses and Dissertations

2018

Exploiting the Genetic Diversity of Wild Ancestors and Relatives of Wheat for its Improvement

Jagdeep Singh Sidhu South Dakota State University

Follow this and additional works at: https://openprairie.sdstate.edu/etd

Part of the Plant Breeding and Genetics Commons

Recommended Citation

Sidhu, Jagdeep Singh, "Exploiting the Genetic Diversity of Wild Ancestors and Relatives of Wheat for its Improvement" (2018). *Electronic Theses and Dissertations*. 2641. https://openprairie.sdstate.edu/etd/2641

This Thesis - Open Access is brought to you for free and open access by Open PRAIRIE: Open Public Research Access Institutional Repository and Information Exchange. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Open PRAIRIE: Open Public Research Access Institutional Repository and Information Exchange. For more information, please contact michael.biondo@sdstate.edu.

EXPLOITING THE GENETIC DIVERSITY OF WILD ANCESTORS AND

RELATIVES OF WHEAT FOR ITS IMPROVEMENT

BY

JAGDEEP SINGH SIDHU

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the

Master of Science

Major in Plant Science

South Dakota State University

2018

EXPLOITING THE GENETIC DIVERSITY OF WILD ANCESTORS AND RELATIVES OF WHEAT FOR ITS IMPROVEMENT

JAGDEEP SINGH SIDHU

This thesis is approved as a creditable and independent investigation by a candidate for the Master of Science in Plant Science degree and is acceptable for meeting the dissertation requirements for this degree. Acceptance of this does not imply that the conclusions reached by the candidate are necessarily the conclusions of the major department.

Sunish K. Sehgal, Ph.D.

Date

Thesis Advisor

David Wright, Ph.D. Date Head, Department of Agronomy, Horticulture and Plant Science

Deah, Graduate School

í

Date

This thesis is dedicated to my respected father Mr. Amrik Singh Sidhu, mother Mrs.

Harjit Kaur, my dear sister Sukhdeep Kaur and cute niece Samreet.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First of all, I am grateful to Dr. Sunish Sehgal for giving me an opportunity work in his winter breeding program. My master's work would not have been possible without his love, help, support and encouragement. I truly respect Dr. Sunish's considerate nature, his hard work and his care for his students, specifically for me. I learned a plethora from him and looking forward to do the same in future. I am also thankful to Dr. Shaukat Ali for his help and support not only as a pathologist but also as an encouraging person to push us forward. My sincere thanks to Dr. Jose Gonzalez and Dr. Deepthi Kolady for being on my committee and helping in my thesis. I would also like to thank all of my lab mates and friends for their help and support. To name few special personalities: Yeyan, Karan, Nancy, Simran, Jyoti, Rame, Mike, Dilkaran, Abhinav, Sai, Mark, Jasdeep, Navdeep and many more. I owe to all those people and books from which I have learned as little as a single word.

Nothing was possible without my families support; big salute to my mother, sister and my uncle, Sr. Chamkaur Singh. Finally, to my mentor – my father Sr. Amrik Singh – because I owe it all to you, many thanks. At last but not least to the force/nature controlling the whole universe.

LIST OF FIGURES
LIST OF TABLES
ABSTRACTxiii
INTRODUCTION1
Chapter 1 Literature review
1.1 Wheat – a general introduction
1.1.1 Importance of wheat
1.1.2 Rising Wheat demands vs stagnant yields
1.1.3 Lack of genetic diversity in wheat germplasm
1.1.4 Origin of wheat
1.2 Wild relatives of wheat
1.2.1 Gene pools of wheat
1.2.2 <i>Triticum turgidum</i> subsp
1.2.3 Importance of different <i>Triticum turgidum</i> subsp. in wheat improvement 10
1.2.4 Mini core collections 12
1.2.5 <i>Triticum turgidum</i> subsp. mini core or core collections
1.3 Rye (Secale cereale L.)
1.3.1 Importance of Rye as a crop
1.3.2 Origin and dissemination of rye14

CONTENTS

1.3.3 Taxonomy of rye	15
1.3.4 Stress tolerance in rye	15
1.3.5 Genetic diversity analysis in Rye	17
1.3.6 Association mapping for tan spot resistance	17
1.4 Wheat diseases	19
1.4.1 Leaf rust	19
1.4.2 Fusarium Head blight	22
1.4.3 Tan spot	24
1.5 Exploiting wheat-diazotrophic interactions	28
1.5.1 Impact of Nitrogen fertilizer uses	28
1.5.2 Biological nitrogen fixation	28
1.5.3 Endosymbiotic associations	29
1.5.4 Endophytic and associative associations	29
1.5.5 Wheat diazotrophic studies	29
1.5.6 Potential in wild relatives-diazotroph interactions	30
Chapter 2 Characterizing wild and domesticated tetraploid wheat species (Triticum	
turgidum subsp.) for resistance to Fusarium head blight, leaf rust, and tan spot	31
2.1 Abstract	31
2.2 Introduction	32
2.3 Material and methods	34

2.3.1 Mini core collection	
2.3.2 Fusarium head blight screening	
2.3.3 Leaf rust screening	
2.3.4 Tan spot screening	40
2.4 Results	
2.4.1 Fusarium head blight (FHB) screening	
2.4.2 Leaf rust screening	44
2.4.3 Tan spot screening	
2.5 Discussion	51
2.6 Conclusions	53
Chapter 3 Evaluation and identification of ancestors and wild relatives of v	wheat for their
interaction with diazotrophs	55
3.1 Abstract	55
3.2 Introduction	56
3.3 Material and methods	59
3.3.1 Plant material	59
3.3.2 Growth medium	61
3.3.3 Plant growth conditions	61
3.3.4 Tissue collection and ¹⁵ N analysis	61
3.3.5 Statistical analysis	

3.4 Results	62
3.5 Discussion	65
3.6 Conclusions	67
Chapter 4 Assessing genetic diversity in rye and characterizing genomic regions	
conferring resistance to tan spot	68
4.1 Abstract	68
4.2 Introduction	69
4.3 Material and methods	
4.3.1 Plant materials	
4.3.2 Genotyping and SNP discovery	
4.3.3 Population structure and genetic diversity	
4.3.4 Mini core set of rye	
4.3.5 Inoculations and evaluation of reaction to Pyrenophora tritici repentis	(PTR)
race 5	
4.3.6 GWAS analysis	
4.3.7 Comparative analysis of rye and wheat	
4.4 Results	
4.4.1 Genotype by sequencing-based genome-wide SNPs	
4.4.2 Genetic variability in rye germplasm	
4.4.3 Population structure and principal component analysis (PCA)	

4.4.4 Mini core of rye
4.4.5 Reaction to Pyrenophora tritici repentis race 5 (PTR race 5)
4.4.6 Marker-trait association (MTA) for tan spot (PTR race 5) resistance in rye 88
4.4.7 Comparative analysis with wheat
4.5 Discussion
4.5.1 Genome coverage by SNPs
4.5.2 Diversity analysis
4.5.3 Mini Core representing the global set
4.5.4 Identification of potential genomic regions conferring tan spot (PTR race 5)
resistance
4.6 Conclusions
LITERATURE CITED
APPENDIX

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1-1: Gene pools of wheat (Chaudhary et al. 2013)
Figure 2-1: Single spikelet inoculations for FHB
Figure 2-2: Inoculations for leaf rust at seedling stage
Figure 2-3: Inoculations with <i>P. tritici repentis</i> race 5
Figure 2-4: Comparison of reaction to FHB among <i>T. turgidum</i> subsp. <i>dicoccon</i> and <i>T.</i>
<i>turgidum</i> subsp. <i>dicoccoides</i>
Figure 2-5: Main response categories to leaf rust screening at seedling stage. Scoring
scale is based on (Stakman and Levine 1944)
Figure 2-6: Distribution of accessions of different <i>T. turgidum</i> subsp. among different
response categories of seedling leaf rust
Figure 2-7: Distribution of accessions of different T. turgidum subsp. among different
response categories of leaf rust resistance in the field
Figure 2-8: Main response categories to seed <i>P. tritici repentis</i> race 5
Figure 2-9: Distribution of accessions of different <i>T. turgidum</i> subsp. among different
response categories of tan spot (PTR race 5) resistance
Figure 2-1: Distribution of susceptible accessions among necrotic and chlorotic response
category towards tan spot (PTR race 5)
Figure 3-1: Diagrammatic representation of principle behind the ¹⁵ N dilution technique
Figure 3-2: Boxplot representing species average for $\sigma^{15}N$ values
Figure 3-3: Variation for $\sigma^{15}N$ and total %N values among lines of different species
tested in this study

Figure 4-1: Geographic diversity covered by the selected accessions of the global set as
well as accessions of the mini core set
Figure 4-2: Distribution of PIC values for the total number of markers corresponding to
each chromosome of rye
Figure 4-3: Distribution of pairwise dissimilarity values among Secale cereale subsp.
cereale for the total number markers corresponding to each chromosome of rye
Figure 4-4: Pairwise dissimilarity based neighbor-joining tree
Figure 4-5: Model-based structure results (K=3) for 178 Secale sp. accessions presented
as a barplot
Figure 4-6: Pairwise dissimilarity based PCA. First PCA (PC1) explains 40% of the
genetic diversity and the second PCA explains other 3%
Figure 4-7: Tan spot lesions scoring, based on the 1 to 5 scale (Lamari and Bernier
1989)
Figure 4-8: Three different model based manhattan plots representing $-\log_{10}$ (p-value) for
SNPs distributed across all of the 7 chromosomes of Rye in relation to their association to
tan spot (PTR <i>race 5</i>) resistance
Figure 4-9: Synteny between wheat genome (IWGSC RefSeq v1.0) and rye genome
(1000bp flanking sequence of 4,037 SNPs)

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2-1: <i>Triticum turgidum</i> subsp. accessions in mini core collection and number of
accessions screened for each disease
Table 2-2: Distribution of Triticum turgidum subsp. dicoccoides and Triticum turgidum
subsp. dicoccon accessions among different response categories against FHB
Table 2-3: Resistant and moderately resistant accessions to FHB identified from mini
core set of <i>T. turgidum</i> subsp
Table 2-4: Resistant and moderately resistant accessions to leaf rust at seedling stage and
at adult plant stage identified from mini core set of <i>T. turgidum</i> subsp
Table 3-1: A diverse set of <i>Triticum</i> species evaluated for association with diazotrophs
Table 3-2: ANOVA table describing variance explained by species and accessions for ^{15}N
values. Each accession was replicated twice. The analysis is based on nested CR design,
accessions being nested under species
Table 4-1: SNPs discovered by genotyping-by-sequencing of 178 rye accessions along
with their corresponding chromosome
Table 4-2: Comparison of mini core set and global set of Secale cereale subsp. cereale
for the diversity indices

ABSTRACT

EXPLOITING THE GENETIC DIVERSITY OF WILD ANCESTORS AND RELATIVES OF WHEAT FOR ITS IMPROVEMENT

JAGDEEP SINGH SIDHU

2018

Wheat is the third most staple food worldwide but current 1% annual improvement in the wheat production is insufficient to meet the growing demands in future. The narrow genetic base of wheat limits continuous improvement in wheat productivity and tolerance to biotic and abiotic stresses under changing climate. Wild ancestors and relatives of wheat hold a potential in widening the genetic pool of wheat and enhance its resilience to biotic and abiotic stresses. This study was focused towards characterizing the genetic diversity in wild relatives of wheat for disease resistance and efficient association with diazotrophs. In the first study, we evaluated a mini core set of *Triticum turgidum* subsp. (tetraploid wheat, AABB) for resistance to *Fusarium* head blight (FHB), leaf rust and tan spot. Three, six, and nine accessions showed resistance response to Fusarium head blight (FHB), leaf rust and tan spot respectively. These germplasm resources could be further exploited in wheat breeding. In the second study, in addition to tetraploid wheat, diploid and hexaploid germplasm of both wild and adapted species were evaluated for efficient association with diazotrophic bacteria by analyzing the N content. We observed significant differences for ¹⁵N content among different species, represented as average σ^{15} N. Lower σ^{15} N indicates a higher possibility of biologically fixed nitrogen (BNF). Wild accessions both in diploid (*T. boeticum*, $A^{m}A^{m}$, $\sigma^{15}N = 20.85$) and tetraploid species

(*T. turgidum* subsp. *dicoccoides*, AABB, $\sigma^{15}N = 16.44$) showed significantly better associations with diazotrophs as compared to domesticated species (T. monococcum, $A^{m}A^{m}$, $\sigma^{15}N = 26.67$) and modern hexaploid varieties (*T. aestivum*, AABBDD, $\sigma^{15}N$ =31.74). Our study shows that the wild species hold a promise in identification and characterization of efficient association with diazotrophic bacteria and this interaction can be recovered in modern cultivars of wheat to enhance the performance of wheat in marginal soils. In the final study, we analyzed the genetic diversity in the global collection (178 accessions) of rye using 4,037 high-quality SNPs and developed of a mini core set of 32 accessions of rye that represents more than 95 % of the allelic diversity (PIC = 0.25) of our collection (PIC = 0.26). Genome-wide association study (GWAS) was performed on 160 accessions (Secale cereale subsp. cereale) with 4,037 high-quality SNPs to identify genomic regions conferring tan spot resistance. Nearly 32%, 27%, 24%, and 17% accessions showed resistant, moderately resistant, moderately susceptible and susceptible reaction to Pyrenophora tritici-repentis race 5 (PTR race 5) respectively. Two QTLs conferring resistance to tan spot (PTR race 5) were identified (p = < 0.001) using mixed linear model (GAPIT) on chromosomes 5R and 2R. The QTLs QTs-sdsu-5R and QTs-sdsu-2R explained 13.11% and 11.62% of the variation. In conclusion, wild relatives and ancestors of wheat hold a potential for wheat improvement especially for tolerance to abiotic and biotic factors.

INTRODUCTION

Wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.), the third most staple food worldwide; provides one-fifth of the calories and 20% of the protein to more than 4.5 billion people [1]. But annual wheat yield improvement of an average 1% will be insufficient to feed the rising population [2]. Climate change, soil degradation, loss of arable land, unavailability of irrigation waters, increasing fertilizer costs and above all, evolving pathogens further aggravate this scenario [3]. A steady increase in productivity of at least 2% per year is required to meet the growing wheat demands [4]. Furthermore, wheat improvement must be resource efficient and sustainable.

Part of the reason for stagnant wheat yield is the lack of genetic diversity in the gene pool of wheat germplasm used worldwide. This is partially because of how wheat originated; wheat evolved from a miraculous and spontaneous cross between cultivated emmer (*Triticum dicoccon* - AABB) and goatgrass (*Aegilops tauschii* - DD) approx. 8000 years ago [5,6]. This event happened only once or twice and the reproductive isolation of wheat from its wild parents lead to a narrow genetic base of wheat [5]. In order to identify novel high yielding varieties with improved abiotic and biotic stress tolerance we have to broaden the genetic base of wheat.

One of the feasible and best approach is to incorporate genetic diversity from wild ancestors and other relatives of wheat such as tetraploid wheat (*T. turgidum* subsp.) and rye (*Secale cereale L.*). As opposed to domesticated varieties – being pampered by breeders and farmers – wild species are challenged by a spectra of abiotic and biotic stresses, leading to the survival of the fittest with the best tolerance ability [7]. Proving their potential, wild relatives of wheat has contributed so many important genes into

wheat germplasm such as drought tolerance [8], salt tolerance [9], O₃ tolerance [10], powdery mildew resistance, stem rust resistance, leaf rust resistance, yield and grain quality traits [7]. These wild species can also be a great source for novel traits such as better interaction with beneficial microbes e.g. diazotrophs which can relieve our dependency from fertilizers and lead to a better environment friendly ecosystem. To exploit this useful genetic diversity of wild relatives we have to identify core sets covering vast genetic and geographic diversity of corresponding species; and then characterize those sets for different useful traits, and finally mobilizing the useful genes through wide hybridization or alien gene introgression into adapted cultivars.

This study was focused on characterization of diverse mini-core set of tetraploid wheat lines (includes wild and cultivated) for disease resistance; characterization of diverse germplasm of wheat (diploid, tetraploid and hexaploid) for an efficient interaction with diazotrophic bacteria; and assessment of genetic and geographic diversity in a global set of rye (includes cultivated and wild), and mapping of novel resistance loci conferring resistance to tan spot.

OBJECTIVES:

- 1. Characterization of wild tetraploid wheat mini-core set for resistance to *Fusarium* head blight (FHB), leaf rust and tan spot.
- 2. Evaluation and identification of ancestors and wild relatives of wheat for their interaction with diazotrophs.
- 3. Assessment of genetic and geographic diversity in a global set of rye and characterization of genomic regions conferring resistance to tan spot.

Chapter 1

Literature review

1.1 Wheat – a general introduction

1.1.1 Importance of wheat

Wheat has been cultivated for 8000 years and from then to now it has been a staple food for so many great civilizations of Europe, West Asia and North America [11]. It provides 1/5th of the calories and 20% of the protein to more than half of the world [1]. Wheat is grown on more than approx. 220 million ha, spanning on more agricultural land than any other crop. Signifying its importance, wheat's world trade is larger than all other crops combined together. Wheat-based foods are rich in carbohydrates, vitamins, and minerals; added with meat or legumes it makes good satisfying and balanced diet. Wheat is also favored by farmers because of easy agronomic practices, storage of grains and grinding for flour making [11].

1.1.2 Rising Wheat demands vs stagnant yields

World population is rising day by day and according to current pace, there will be 9 billion people by 2050 [12]. There are already 1 billion hungry people in the current world who don't get proper nutrition and by 2050 this number is predicted to rise [13]. Even to maintain present food demands, we have to increase food production at least by 70%, with a special focus on increasing yield of staple crops such as wheat, rice and maize [12]. In specific, wheat has to be produced 20 times more by 2050 as compared to current yearly average production of 735 million metric tons [14]. This scenario of wheat production demand is further aggravated by loss of arable land, soil degradation, loss of irrigation water, stagnate yields, and an expected 20 to 30% loss in wheat production due to increasing temperatures [3]. In nutshell, for food security, total wheat production over the next 50 years needs to exceed the total production in the last 10,000 years since agriculture began.

1.1.3 Lack of genetic diversity in wheat germplasm

For genetic improvement in any crop, genetic diversity is the key [7]. Genetic diversity is the base on which breeders can make selections for the superior traits of interest. Genetic diversity is progressively lost during the crop domestication and further in the breeding programs which are focused towards few traits, hindering long-term crop improvement [7]. For wheat, along with domestication, the way it originated can also be blamed for its narrow genetic base. As wheat evolved from a miraculous and spontaneous cross between cultivated emmer (*Triticum dicoccon*, AABB) and goatgrass (*Aegilops tauschii*, DD) making wheat a hexaploid with a genome composition of AABBDD [5]. This event happened only a few times in history, coupled with reproductive isolation it led to the narrow genetic base of wheat. It is apparent that in order to meet global food security, we have to develop high yielding cultivars with better stress tolerant capacity. Do that, we have to increase the aura of genetic diversity in wheat germplasm.

1.1.4 Origin of wheat

Modern day wheat is a hexaploid (AABBDD) with three sets of homeologous chromosomes designated A, B and D. Its origin is unique, as it involved a whole-genome hybridization of the ancestral species. Approx. 500,000 years ago a spontaneous cross between *T. urartu* (2n=2x=14, A^uA^u) and an unknown species carrying B genome (2n=2x=14, BB) gave birth to wild emmer, *T. turgidum* subsp. *dicoccoides* (2n=4x=28, AABB) [15]. Wild emmer was further domesticated into *T. turgidum* subsp. *dicoccon* (2n=4x=28, AABB) [16,17] and is aptly called as cultivated emmer.

During the time period of cultivation of tetraploid species of wheat such as cultivated emmer, crops were grown in close proximity to wild relatives. Less than 8,000 years ago, tetraploid (*T. turgidum* subsp. *dicoccon*) wheat spontaneously got hybridized with D genome species – *Aegilops tauschii* (2n=2x=14, DD) and gave rise to the modern bread wheat, *T. aestivum* (2n=6x=42, AABBDD) [5,6]. The addition of DD genome provided wheat with an enhanced geographic and environmental adaptability; enhanced yield and quality; made wheat the one of the most staple food.

1.2 Wild relatives of wheat

1.2.1 Gene pools of wheat

Gene pool (GP) word come from a Russian word *genofond* (given by Aleksandr Sergeevich Serebrovskii) which refers to complete set of genes or genetic information found in a population [18]. Gene pool of a particular species also includes its wild relatives as genetic information can be shared between them, though these events may be rare due to reproductive isolations. In 1971 Jack Harlan and Jan de Wet divided the gene pool into sub-gene pools based on crop wild relative's relatedness with cultivated species and easiness of sharing genetic information with cultivated species [19]. Primary gene pool (GP1 or 1°) includes most genetically close relatives (readily crossed), secondary gene pool (GP2 or 2°) includes less close relatives (difficult to interbreed) and tertiary gene pool (GP3 or 3°) includes distant relatives (natural crossing not possible). In case of wheat, Jian *et al.* adapted the gene pool concept of Harlan and de Wet but they coupled that concept with chromosome homology [20]. Though the base is easiness for hybridization but to a larger extent, wheat gene pools are based on similarity of the chromosome sets [21].



Figure 1-1: Gene pools of wheat [22]. The gene pool concept of wheat is based on homology between chromosome sets.

1.2.1.1 Primary gene pool of wheat

The primary gene pool of wheat includes wild species which share a complete homologous genome with wheat. It includes *Triticum spelta*, *Triticum monococcum* subsp., *Triticum turgidum* subsp., and *Aegilops tauschii*. Though the hybridization is not that easy due to ploidy discrepancies still genes can be transferred from these wild relatives via direct cross with wheat (amphidiploid) or through bridging species such as the development of synthetic hexaploid wheat by crossing *Triticum turgidum* subsp., and *Aegilops* tauschii.

1.2.1.2 Secondary gene pool of wheat

The secondary gene pool of wheat includes species which have at least one genome in common. It includes *T. timopheevi* (AAGG), *T. zhukovsyi* (GGAAAA), and *Aegilops speltoides* (BB). Genes can only be transferred through biotechnological approaches and to a lesser extent through direct hybridization with wheat.

1.2.1.3 Tertiary gene pool

It includes species of wheat relatives which don't have any homologous genome common with wheat. It includes *Secale cereale* (RR), *Thinopyrum elongatum* (EE), *Elymus* subsp. (SSHHYY), and *Thynopyrum intermediatum* (JJEESS). Gene transfer is possible only through biotechnological approaches or through bridging species such as X *Triticosecale* (AABBRR) in case of rye.

1.2.2 Triticum turgidum subsp.

To broaden the genetic base of wheat, tapping the diversity of its wild relatives seems feasible and best approach [21]. Though every species in wheat gene pool has its own importance, in this study, we focused towards most closely related species, *Triticum turgidum* subsp. (AABB) – from the primary gene pool and other towards distant relative *Secale cereale* (RR) – from the tertiary gene pool.

1.2.2.1 Origin of tetraploid species

1.2.2.1.1 Wild emmer:

All diploid species of wheat with A, B, D and S can be traced back to a common ancestor from which they originated 2.5 to 6 million years ago. Among these species, *Triticum urartu* (AA) and other unknown species of sitopsis section hold their important place as their hybridization around 0.36 to 0.5 million years ago gave birth to tetraploid species of

wheat, *T. turgidum* subsp. *dicoccoides* (2n=4x=28, AABB) – wild emmer [15,23]. Wild emmer lines are hulled (hard glume) and they shatter freely. Natural stands of wild emmer are still found in the Fertile Crescent region [24].

1.2.2.1.2 Cultivated emmer

Cultivated emmer evolved from wild emmer and was domesticated in the Fertile Crescent around 9,500 to 9,000 years back [16,17]. Two populations of wild emmer are found in the Fertile Crescent, northern and southern. Based on genetic analysis (Özkan et al. 2002; Wunder 2005), chloroplast DNA microsatellite variations [28], and RFLPs [29], it is suspected that northern population of wild emmer (South turkey, Iran and Iraq part of the Fertile Crescent) is real progenitor of cultivated emmer and location of this domestication correspond to the focal point where agriculture started, Karacadag region in Southeast Turkey [24]. Brittle rachis was the main trait that was altered through domestication, thus cultivated emmer has non-brittle rachis that helps to keep spikelet's intact on spike until manually harvested [24,30]. Based on my experience with tetraploids species of wheat, cultivated emmer is easy to thresh as compared to wild emmer but still cannot be freely threshed, as it is hulled too. Soon after domestication, cultivated emmer wheat expanded towards east through Mesopotamian plain to India, towards west through Anatolia to Europe [24]. For almost 6,000 years it stayed as one of the most important grain crops in these regions [17,31].

1.2.2.1.3 Diversification of free-threshing tetraploids:

Origin of free-threshing tetraploid (AABB) species is still a matter of debate, whether they originated from wild emmer or they originated from cultivated emmer. In most of the studies, it is shown that these free-threshing tetraploids evolved from the natural stands of cultivated emmer [32,33]. Their origin was a result of post-domestication diversification [24]. This diversification happened either due to the pressure of local agro-ecological conditions or driven by natural hybridization. *Triticum turgidum* subsp. *durum* is suspected to have evolved from domesticated emmer in the eastern Mediterranean region due to the adaptation to the local ecological conditions (Dvorak 2007; Feldman 2007). A similar theory is applicable to the other free-threshing tetraploid species namely, Rivet wheat (T. turgidum L. subsp. turgidum), Polish wheat [T. turgidum L. subsp. polonicum (L.) Thell.], and Khorasan wheat [T. turgidum L. subsp. turanicum (Jakubz). These species might have also emerged due to agroecological pressures too. Another possibility of species diversification is interploidy introgression. During early periods of agriculture, crops were grown in close proximity to their wild relatives, therefore, there was always a chance of cross-pollination even among different policy levels [37,38]. Two subspecies of T. turgidum are suspected to emerge likewise, Georgian wheat [T. turgidum subsp. paleocolchicum (Menabde)] emerged from a cross between wild emmer and T. aestivum [39] and Persian wheat [T. turgidum subsp. *carthlicum* (Nevski)] is believed to be a segregant from a cross between domesticated emmer and *T. aestivum* [40]. Morphologically, Persian wheat is really similar to *T. aestivum.* These introgressions from hexaploid wheat point out that there has been a role of *T. aestivum* in the diversification of tetraploid species [24].

1.2.3 Importance of different *Triticum turgidum* subsp. in wheat improvement

1.2.3.1 Wild emmer (*T. turgidum* subsp. *dicoccoides*)

Many important genes especially related to stress tolerance has been transferred from wild emmer to wheat. To name few, Leaf rust resistance QTL [41], stripe resistance genes [42–44], septoria leaf blotch resistance [45], and *fusarium* head blight [46].

1.2.3.2 Cultivated emmer (*Triticum turgidum* subsp. *dicoccon*)

Similar to wild emmer, cultivated emmer has also contributed a number of important genes into the wheat gene pool. To name few resistance to *Septroria nodorum* leaf blotch [47], [48], resistance to Russian wheat aphid [49] and resistance to Greenbug [50].

1.2.3.3 Durum wheat (*T. turgidum* subsp. *durum***)**

Durum wheat has freely threshable heads and non-brittle rachis. It is today's most cultivated tetraploid species of wheat with total 17 million ha of cultivation. Durum is mainly produced in European Union countries, Canada, Syria, USA, Algeria, and Morocco; and to a smaller extent in the Russia, Turkey, Tunisia, Mexico, and India [51,52]. It is mainly used for pasta, macroni and semolina etc. Regarding the potential of durum wheat as a relative to wheat, mostly it is used as a bridge to transfer genes from other diploid species such as *A. tauchii* (DD). Thousands of durum based synthetic hexaploid wheat lines have been developed [53,54]. Several important genes have been incorporated into wheat from durum wheat e.g. Hessian fly resistance genes were transferred from durum line PI134942 [55], stem rust resistance [56], and *Fusarium* head blight resistance [57].

1.2.3.4 Rivet wheat (*T. turgidum* subsp. *turgidum*)

Rivet was once cultivated in Mediterranean region but slowly it disappeared as a crop [58]. To my best knowledge, no report of introgression from rivet to wheat has been reported.

1.2.3.5 Khorasan wheat (T. turgidum subsp. turanicum)

Kohrasan wheat was first described as *T. orientale* [59] and then treated as a variety of durum wheat [60]. Eventually, it was given its current name *T. turgidum* subsp. *turanicum*. Common name Khorasan was given based on its natural diversity in the Persian province of Khorasan [61]. It is also interesting that Khorasan wheat has not been cultivated beyond the limits of Near and central Asia (Turkey, Mesopotamia, Iran, Kazakhstan), and northern Africa) [61]. Due to its nutritional qualities Khorasan wheat was adapted in organic farming and mainly grown in upper mid-west areas of North America (borders of Montana, North Dakota, Alberta, and Saskatchewan) [61]. Kamut[®] is the most popular variety of Khorasan wheat and it is believed to be a segregant from a cross between *T. turgidum* subsp. *polonicum* and *T. turgidum* subsp. *durum* which occurred spontaneously in the Fertile Crescent region. [62]

1.2.3.6 Polish wheat (*Triticum turgidum* subsp. *polonicum*)

Polish is not that popular as a crop though it is grown sporadically in warm climates of southern Spain. Italy, Ukraine and warmer parts of Asia, Algeria, and Ethiopia [63]. It is characterized by large glume size up to 4.5 cm, long seeds and thousand kernel weight may reach upto 80 gm. Hybrids developed by crossing polish wheat with *Aegilops* species record yielded 80 tonnes/hac but had high fertilizer needs. Based on similar

discoveries it can be said that polish wheat is a great source for high yielding wheat varieties characterized by plump grain [64].

1.2.3.7 Persian wheat (*T. turgidum* subsp. *carthilicum*)

Persian wheat has not been exploited that much for wheat improvement. There are only a few reports for novel disease sources, such as *fusarium* head blight resistance sources [65]. Species like *T. turgidum* subsp. *carthilicum* are being underexplored and studied, a better evaluation of their germplasm may provide us with important sources for abiotic and biotic stress tolerance.

1.2.3.8 Georgian wheat (*T. turgidum* subsp. *paleocolchicum*)

This tetraploid species is endemic to Georgia and is locally known as colchic emmer [66]. Taxonomy wise, it was first classified as a subsp. *T. dicoccum*, then V. Menabde considered it as *T. paleocolchicum* (Menabde) [66]. In this study, Van Slageren's classification was considered in which he described georgian wheat as *T. turgidum* subsp. *paleocolchicum* [67]. *T. turgidum* subsp. *paleocolchicum* is of great interest from the evolution point of view as it combines the free-threshing traits with other wild traits of wild emmer and is considered as a bridge between wild and emmer wheat [66].

1.2.4 Mini core collections

Most of the plant genetic resources are preserved as accessions in the gene banks [68]. A number of accessions for particular species may go up to thousands. Owing to the large number of accessions, management in gene banks and utilization by breeders has always been a challenge [68]. One of the strategies to handle such large number of accessions is Core Collections (CC) and minicore collection (MC). First proposed by Frankel and Brown the concept of core collections implies to keep only a few (10 percent of full

collection) diverse lines from the full collection which can represent the genetic diversity of full set to the best [69,70]. Based on that concept there are core collections for a number of crops including wheat [71] [72], rice [73], maize [74] and soybean [68]. In case a full set is too large then core collection will still be large to be handled efficiently by breeders or in gene banks. In that case, mini core collections are the answer, mini core is only 10 percent of core collections which means the only a percent of the full set [75]. Mini core is much easier and efficient to handle as compared to full set as well as core set.

1.2.5 Triticum turgidum subsp. mini core or core collections

For *Triticum turgidum* subsp. of wheat, only few core collections have been developed that too for elite varieties of durum [76,77]. Others core collections which include few wild species of *T. turgidum* subsp., are based on one or few target traits and not with a intent to cover the genetic diversity of these species, such as Santra *et al.* focused to cover locations with least chronic diseases [78], Sanguineti *et al.* selected lines for better root architecture [79]. Therefore, there is need to develop core sets and mini core sets for other species of wheat which can be better exploited for wheat improvement.

1.3 Rye (Secale cereale L.)

1.3.1 Importance of Rye as a crop

Rye (*Secale cereale* L.) belongs to the Triticeae tribe in the family Poaceae [80] and is believed to share a common ancestor with wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.) and barley (*Hordeum vulgare* L.) [81]. Germany, Poland, Russian federation, Belarus, and Ukraine are the major producers of rye and it is also produced to some extent in China, Canada, Turkey and USA [82]. Around the globe, rye is cultivated mainly for/as food, feed, pasture, as a cover crop or a green manure crop [83]. It is one of the main sources of carbohydrates for northern and eastern Europe [81], [84]. Several types of rye-based bread are eaten around the world and mainly in Europe e.g. German bread are made up of 70% wheat flour and 30% rye flour [85]. Rye based products are a rich source of nutritionally important compounds like minerals (Zn, Fe, and P), beta-glucans, resistant starch and dietary fiber [86]. In North America, rye is preferably grown as a cover crop or as pasture, and its grains are used in livestock feed and in alcohol distilling. In drylands of southern Australia, it is grounded to prevent wind erosion. Furthermore, due to its sturdiest, it is also considered as a good pioneer crop to restore the fertility of waste lands [83].

1.3.2 Origin and dissemination of rye

Most of the *Secale* sp. originated in the Middle East, eastern Turkey in specific. Wild species *Secale strictum* Presl. (Syn. *Secale montanum Guss. emend.* Sencer) is believed to be the ancestor of rye [87–90]. *Secale strictum* along with other wild species first invaded wheat and barley fields as a weed and from these weedy species of rye, farmers consciously or unconsciously selected a variant with a non-brittle rachis and larger seeds, now classified as *Secale cereale*, only cultivated species of rye [88]. Exact geographic origin of cultivated rye is still a matter of debate but mostly proposed to be around Mt. Ararat and Lake Van area in eastern Turkey [88,91]. Thereafter, along with the dissemination of wheat and barley to Europe and Western Mediterranean, rye first came as a weed to these places [88], [91]. Due to its resiliency, it then adapted as a secondary crop in the areas with the harsh environment (cold and heat stress), where other staple crops like wheat were not able to survive. Eventually, seeing its versatility, people started

cultivating rye in Canada and northern parts of the US. Species are also found in Russia, Japan, Australia and an isolated population can be found in South Africa as well.

1.3.3 Taxonomy of rye

The taxonomic classification of genus *Secale* has been a matter of debate. Reviewed by Sencer and Hawkes [88], Roshevitz [92], and several other studies, different systems have been proposed to classify species of genus *Secale*. Lately, Frederiksen and petersen [93] concluded only three *Secale* subsp. *i.e. S. sylvestre, S. strictum* (including *subsp. strictum* and subsp. *africanum*; and *var. strictum, and var. ciliatoglume*) and *S. cereale* (which encompasses subsp. *cereale* and subsp. *ancestrale*). This classification is in accordance with the classification of Sencer and Hawks [88]. Based on reproductive mode, growth habit and wild/domesticated behavior the taxonomic system of American Germplasm Resources Information Network (GRIN) classifies the genus *Secale* into four species. *S cereale* annual allogamous species, *S. sylvestre* and *S. vavilovii* annual autogamous species and last is perennial wild-type allogamous *S. strictum* [94]. Among all *Secale* sp., *S. cereale* is the only cultivated species.

1.3.4 Stress tolerance in rye

Rye (*Secale cereale L.*) is known for its stress tolerance and hardiness. In adverse environments such as marshy lands [83], cold [95–97], drought [98], salt stress [99,100] and aluminum stress [101–103] rye is reported to perform much better than other cereals. Rye is also a well-documented source of tolerance/resistance to many pathogens as well. Crespo-Herrera *et al.* reviewed the important pathogen resistance genes transferred to wheat from rye [104]. One of the important examples signifying the pest resistance of Rye is 1BL.1RS translocation in wheat. Petkus rye chromosome arm 1RS carries savior genes conferring resistance against stem rust (*Sr31*), leaf rust (*Lr26*), powdery mildew (*Pm8*) and yellow rust (*Yr9*) [105–107]. Another important translocation is 1AL.1RS from Insave rye transferred into wheat variety Amigo which carries stem rust resistance gene *Sr1RS*^{Amigo} and powdery mildew resistance gene *Pm17*, allelic to *Pm8* [106].

Along with abiotic and biotic stress tolerance/resistance, rye chromatin in wheat also contributes to an increase in grain yield and adaptation potential. [108–110]. During 1990's, 60 percent of the wheat varieties at International Maize and Wheat Improvement Center (CIMMYT) carried 1BL.1RS translocations [111] and 40 percent such varieties were also developed in China [35]. Though there are some cases where rye chromatin is reported to negatively impact agronomic traits in wheat e.g. 1RS translocation have negative impacts on yield [109], quality [112] in few wheat backgrounds. These negative effects may be due to suppressors in certain wheat backgrounds or due to linkage drag from rye [104]. Associated negative impacts can be mitigated by switching different wheat backgrounds or by targeting fine translocations from rye or by changing the target wheat chromosome to be translocated as in some cases rye chromosome arm 1RS performs differently depending on which wheat chromosome arm it is replaced e.g. 1AS or 1BS or 1DS [108,113].

Triticale (*X. Triticosecale*), a cross between durum wheat (AABB) and rye (RR) further signifies stress tolerance potential of rye by producing relatively higher biomass and grain yield over other cereals in dry and cold environments [114]. Via triticale or chromosome substitutions/translocations important genes (as above discussed) from rye has been exploited for the improvement of other cereals like wheat. Still, there may be many more important genes in rye that can be explored for wheat improvement [115]. To

better access them, genetic diversity analysis and characterization of those genes is a crucial step.

1.3.5 Genetic diversity analysis in Rye

Among the diploid species of Poaceae family, rye has the largest genome (~7.9 Gbps) [116] and about 90% of the genome is occupied by repetitive sequences [117]. Due to the complex genome, coupled with the regional cultivation of rye, its genome has not been extensively studied, unlike other related grasses. Still, many important genetic diversity studies analyzing the relationship between/within Secale sp. have been conducted. Due to technological limitations, these studies were based on small number of molecular markers, covering a small portion of the genome, e.g. 11 PCR-RFLPs [118]; 14 allozyme, 3 SSR [119]; 15 SSR [120], 24 SSR [94]; 20 isozyme loci, 14 ISSR, 38 SSR [121]; 242 ISSRs and 169 RAPDs [122]; 779 AFLP [123]. Above that most of the markers used in these studies were not mapped to their corresponding chromosome locations [124]. To address this issue of anonymous and less number of markers, so far only single study has been conducted by Targonska et al [124]. They used 1054 DArT markers approx. equally distribution on all 7 chromosomes of rye and concluded that these SNPs provides a better picture of genetic diversity in rye gene pool. This achievement can be attributed to comparatively high number of markers used in this study and well distribution of markers of all chromosomes.

1.3.6 Association mapping for tan spot resistance

Along with genetic diversity analysis, characterization or mapping of genes for important traits is also critical. Finding the underlying gene(s) for a phenotype helps in its manipulation and efficient transfer from one plant or species to other. Genetic mapping

can be done using either bi-parental mapping or association mapping. Bi-parental mapping involves the use of recent recombination frequency among markers and trait in any segregating generation in order to find markers linked with a trait. Though biparental mapping is a robust technique, it is laborious and time-consuming as in order to study linkage disequilibrium between marker and traits, one has to develop a segregating population that may take at least 2 years. More importantly, there are only few recombination events during the development of a mapping population [125]. An alternative approach is Genome wide association studies (GWAS) which take the advantage of historical recombination. A diverse germplasm is collected (GWAS panel) in order to cover a maximum diversity of a species, it is genotyped to get genome-wide distributed markers, any association between the phenotype of interest and genotype is detected using regression-based models. One of the challenges for GWAS is underlying population structure and/or kinship among genotypes which can lead to false positives [126]. To tackle that, many statistical approaches have been developed which incorporate the knowledge of population structure and kinship as covariates into the model [95], linear mixed models (lmm) are one of the good choices among other statistical models. Lmms are known to take care of population structure as well as Kinship [127,128]. With the advancement in next-generation sequencing techniques and phenotyping platforms underlying genes of many traits have been mapped using genome wide association studies [129–132]. But in rye, so far only one association study has been done that too is candidate gene-based association mapping [95].

1.4 Wheat diseases

Since 1990s cultivated area under cereal crops like wheat and barley is decreasing in the US. Farmers planted 29 million ha in 1992 as compared to 20 million ha in 2016/17 and this trend is going down as the estimation of area under wheat for 2017/18 is 18 million ha [133]. This is partly because of the change in agricultural support policies that give farmers more planting flexibility, because of competition in international agriculture markets, introduction of genetically modified soybean and corn – which made cultivation of these crops easier, increasing demand for ethanol, shifting diet choices towards low carbohydrate foods and partly because of emerging diseases like Fusarium head blight FHB, leaf rust and emerging diseases like tan spot [134].

1.4.1 Leaf rust

1.4.1.1 Importance

Leaf rust is the foliar rust disease of wheat and it leads to significant yield losses worldwide [135]. During 2007, leaf rust caused 13.9% of the winter wheat yield loss in Kansas (Kansas Department of Agriculture), the chief wheat-producing state in the US. Yield losses are attributed to less number of kernels and are aggregated by lower kernel weight [135].

1.4.1.2 Causal agent

Leaf rust is caused by a fungus named *Puccinia triticina* Eriks, belongs to order Uredinales in the family Basidiomycetes [135]. It was first assigned to *P. recondita* species complex [136] then seeing it's sexual incompatibility with fungi of this group it was classified as *Puccinia triticina* Eriks.

1.4.1.3 Host Range

Wheat is the primary host of *Puccinia triticina*. It can also infect tetraploid species of wheat namely durum wheat (*Triticum turgidum* subsp. *durum*), wild emmer wheat (*Triticum turgidum* subsp. *dicoccoides*), cultivated emmer wheat (*Triticum turgidum* subsp. *dicoccoi*) and triticale (X *Triticosecale*) [135]. *Thalictrum speciosissimum* hosts sexual spore stages of *P. triticina*. Natural stands in North America are resistant to *P. triticina* that's why fungal infections in North America are the dependent on the asexual spores only [137].

1.4.1.4 Life cycle

Puccinia triticina is a macrocyclic (5 spore stages) and heteroecious (two different hosts) rust fungi. Wheat is the primary host, urediniospores, teliospores, and basidiospores are produced on it and *Thalictrum speciosissimum* is the alternate host which harbors pycniospores and aceiospores. Primary infection on wheat is caused by aeciospores (from alternate host) or urediniospores (from volunteer grasses). Post-infection, urediniospores are developed which act as a source of secondary inoculum provided favorable conditions prevail (10-25°C, free water on leaf surface). During unfavorable conditions, fungus produces teliospores, which act as dormant spores for overwintering. Via meiosis teliospores gives rise to basidiospores. Basidiospores are the final spores to be produced on primary host and are carried by wind to the nearby alternate host (*Thalictrum speciosissimum*). Infection leads to sexual spores - pycniospores (male spores) and receptive hyphae (female spores), followed by fertilization and development of diakaryotic hyphae. This leads to aeciospores, which are wind born and once they infect the primary host (wheat) again, the life cycle of leaf rust is complete [135].

1.4.1.5 Resistance types

The genetic resistance characterization can be based on seedling stage or Adult Plant called Adult Plant Resistance (APR). Seedling resistance is race specific, vertically controlled by a single major gene and hypersensitive in reaction. On the other side, APR is polygenic, race non-specific, horizontally controlled by many genes, partial and durable in nature [138]. Major resistance genes follow gene for gene hypothesis and for the protection of plants they lead to hypersensitive response or programmed cell death in tissue surrounding the site of infection.

1.4.1.6 Resistance sources/genes

By now, about 80 major resistance genes have been identified [139]. They are designated *Lr1* to *Lr 78*, *Lrac 104* and *Lrac 124*. Out of the total, 24 genes confer APR and rest are expressed at seedling stage. Most of the genes have been mapped and have been located on 20 of 21 chromosomes of wheat with an exception of 3A [138].

In 1926 [140] identified wheat cultivars Malakof and Webster resistant to leaf rust. Upon genetic analysis, their corresponding genes were designated *Lr1* and *Lr2* respectively (Ausemus et al from [135]). From then till today approx. 34 resistance genes are identified from hexaploid wheat cultivars [138].

Approx. 56 genes have been identified and characterized in wild species of wheat. *Aegilops* subsp. have contributed approx. 18 genes. Namely, *Lr9* from *A. umbellulata*; *Lr19*, *Lr24*, and *Lr29* from *A. elongatum*; *Lr28*, *Lr35*, *Lr36*, *Lr47*, and *Lr51* from *A. speltoides*; *Lr 37* from *A. ventricosa*. *Aegilopes tauschii* donated seven genes - *Lr21*, *Lr22a*, *Lr32*, *Lr39*, *Lr41*, *Lr42*, and *Lr43*. *Lr44* comes from *Triticum spelta*. *Triticum monococum* gives *Lr 50*. 6 genes have been identified in tetraploid species of wheat.
Lr14a, Lr53, and Lr64 come from *Triticum dicoccoides*. Lr72, Lr61, and Lr23 were found in *Triticum turgidum* subsp. *durum*. *Lr25*, *Lr26*, and *Lr45* come from *Secale cereale*.

1.4.2 Fusarium Head blight

1.4.2.1 Importance

Fusarium head blight is caused by *Fusarium graminearum* which infects the heads of wheat and leads to distorted (lower test weight) and degraded (mycotoxin contaminated) seeds or in severe cases, no seed set at all [134]. Infection is aggravated by prolonged humid and wet conditions. Due to lower test weight, yield losses can toll up to 80% [141]. FHB is a worldwide problem and in the US alone total economic losses due to FHB from 1993 to 2001 were estimated at \$7.67 billion [142]. Seeds contaminated with myctoxins like Dieoxynivalenol (DON) and nivalenol (NIV) are harmful to human and animal health.

1.4.2.2 Causal organism

Fusarium head blight is predominantly caused by *Fusarium graminearum* (teleomorph: *Gibberella zeae*), especially in North America (page 1715, in [134]). Based on the sexual stage *Gibberella zeae* (Schwein.) Petch, it belongs to order Hypocreales in family Nectriaceae [143].

1.4.2.3 Host range

The pathogen is mainly reported to cause head blight in wheat and barley but it is capable to infect rice and oats as well [143]. It is also one of the main pathogens causing ear, stalk, and root rot of maize [134]. Wheat and corn both being the host of *Fusarium graminearum* makes it a bigger concern in corn-wheat-soybean cropping rotations [144].

1.4.2.4 Life cycle

Fusarium graminearum overwinters as saprophytic mycelia on crop debris and in case of corn-wheat-soybean cropping rotation, it mainly overwinters of corn residue [143]. In spring, sensing favorable weather conditions, generally, fungi develops perithecia which wear sexual spores known as ascospores. Ascospores are forcibly discharged from the perithecia [145] and with the aid of air currents it infects the wheat heads which are at anthesis stage [146]. Secondary infection from plant to plant is the result of conidia (produced on sporodochium), which can be windborne or spread by the rain splashes [146–148].

1.4.2.5 Resistant types

Host resistant to Fhb is the best sustainable and environment-friendly tool – as for any other pathogen [149–151]. In case of wheat – Fhb relationship, host resistance is complex and host can have resistance to one or another step in *Fusarium* infection process. Therefore it is divided into four main types: Type I – resistance to initial infection, Type II – resistance to fungal spread from the initial site of infection, Type III – Resistance to DON production and Type IV – Resistance to seed colonization. Among these, Type I and II are more extensively studied, mostly because these resist the fungus at an early stage of infection. Type III and IV have not been investigated deeply [152–154].

1.4.2.6 Resistance sources/genes

Many strains or races of *Fusarium graminearum* have been reported but no specific host – strain specific system has been recognized, in other words, virulence in *Fusarium graminearum* is not host-specific and resistance in cultivars is not strain specific thus it is of horizontal, quantitative and non-specific in nature [155]. So far 52 Fhb QTL mapping

studies have been done, out of total 52, 42 are performed using hexaploid wheat and rest on relative species. So far more than 400 QTLs have been identified on all chromosomes of wheat except 7D [156]. Loci *Fhb1* (Qfhs.ndsu-3BS) is the major Type II resistance source used worldwide. It hails from highly resistant Chinese cultivar named Sumai-3 [157–159]. Based on line Wangshuibai lin *et al.* 2006 identified QTL on 2D, 4B and 5A [160] and Jia *et al.* identified QTL for Type I resistance on chromosome 2B, 3BS, 4B, 5B and 7A [161]. Brazilian cultivar Forntana possess Type I resistance [153] and is found carry resistant QTL on 3A, 5A, 2B, 6B and 7A [162]. Forntana's resistance may be due to hard glumes and narrow flower opening [155]. Swiss winter wheat cultivar Arina is also reported to carry major resistance QTLs on chromosome 4AL, 6DL, 1BL and 6BS, 4DS [163–165].

As compared to hexaploid wheat, there has not been much success in identifying resistance among durum or tetraploid wheat species. There are only few resistance QTLs identified only from wild species. *T. turgidum* subsp. *dicoccoides* accession FA-15-3 (syn. Israel A) was found be resistance [166] and based on single chromosome recombinant population, QTL on 3AS was located [167]. *T. turgidum* subsp. *dicoccoides* accession PI478742 is found to carry resistant QTL on 7AL [168]. *T. turgidum* subsp. *durum* cultivar Strongfield is reported to carry resistance QTL on 2BS and *T. turgidum* subsp. *carthilicum* cultivar Blackbird have resistance QTL on 6BS [169].

1.4.3 Tan spot

1.4.3.1 Importance

Tan spot is an important disease of wheat caused by necrotrophic fungus *Pyrenophora tritici-repentis*. Tan spot is reported nearly everywhere where wheat is cultivated [170].

Disease symptoms on susceptible host appear as tan colored oval shaped necrotic and/or chlorotic spots with a black pinhead spot in the center. In highly susceptible genotypes these lesions may coalesce and cover the larger/whole leaf surface area [170,171]. Up to 49% yield loss has been attributed to tan spot during favorable disease conditions [172]. Losses due to tans pot are attributed to low thousand kernel weight, less number of kernels per head, if the infection is early then less number of tillers, low biomass, and low leaf area index [173]. Due to its overwintering habit on crop residues or stubles tan spot is of major concern in sustainable agricultural systems which are based on no-tillage as the inoculum of primary infection is always there in the field [170].

1.4.3.2 Causal organism

Pyrenophora tritici-repentis is the main causal organism of tan spot. *P. tritici-repentis* was first named as *Pleospora trichostroma* [174] and from that time its nomenclature has changed many times. Presently, its sexual stage is called as *Pyrenophora tritici-repentis* (Died.) Drechs and the asexual stage is called as *Drechslera tritici-repentis* (Died.) Drechs [175].

1.4.3.3 Host range

The main host for *P. tritici-repentis* is wheat and it can infect all species of wheat including tetraploid and hexaploid species [170]. Along with wheat, it can infect many other grass species like barley (*Hordeum vulgare*), oats (*Avena sativa*), wild oats (*Avena fatua*), rye (Secale cereale) and many other [176,177]. These alternative hosts though help in spread and survival of inoculum but they are also a great source of novel resistance genes.

1.4.3.4 Life cycle

P. tritici-repentis overwinters on crop residue by forming sexual fruiting bodies called pseudothecia. In spring (favorable weather) it produces ascospores bearing asci. Asci contains ascospores and are the primary source of inoculum. Another primary source of inoculum can be seed born conidia, conidia from alternative hosts etc. After initial infection conidia are produced in large numbers and these are blown to nearby plants by wind or rain causing secondary infection and the cycle continues till favorable conditions (high humidity, temp above 15°C) sustain [178,179].

1.4.3.5 Host selective toxins (HSTs) and Race classification

Different isolates (races) of *P. tritici-repentis* have been reported to produce one or more of the three host selective toxins (HSTs), which are designated as Ptr ToxA, Ptr ToxB, and Ptr ToxC. (Ciuffetti et al. 1998). These Isolates are classified into different races based on their reaction on the differential checks which is determined by their corresponding HST. There are four hexaploid wheat differential checks namely salamouni (universal resistant check), glenlea (Necrotic reaction to Ptr ToxA), 6B635 (Cholortic reaction to Ptr ToxC) and 6B622 (Cholortic reaction to Ptr ToxB). Till date 8 races have been classified based on which host selective toxin they produce, Race 1 (Ptr ToxA and Ptr ToxC), Race 2 (Ptr ToxA), Race 3 (Ptr ToxC), Race 4 (none), Race 5 (Ptr ToxB), Race 6 (Ptr ToxB and Ptr ToxC), Race 7 (Ptr ToxA and Ptr ToxB), Race 8 (Ptr ToxA, Ptr ToxB, and Ptr ToxC).

Ptr ToxA and Ptr ToxB are known proteins and are both known to activate host defense mechanism that is employed to defend against biotrophic pathogens. On the other side, Ptr ToxC is not a protein rather it is a non-ionic molecule.

1.4.3.6 Resistance sources/genes

Though fungus can be controlled using cultural and chemicals controls, host resistant against tan spot is most cost-effective and environment-friendly way to limit yield losses[180]. As described above, fungus produces at least 3 host-selective toxins (HSTs): Ptr ToxA, Ptr ToxB, and Ptr ToxC, that interact directly or indirectly with dominant host genes *Tsn1* [170,181], *Tsc2* [182] and *Tsc1* [183,184] respectively. Recessive counterparts of these genes are characterized as insensitive genes to the corresponding toxin. Along with these insensitive genes, few resistance genes (tsr2, tsr3, tsr4, tsr5), and QTLs associated with tan spot resistance have also been discovered. Tsr2 hails from T. turgidum subsp. turgidum accession (PI 352519), mapped on chromosome 3BL and confers resistance to race 3 isolates causing necrosis in tetraploid wheat [185]. Tsr3 resists isolates of race 1. It is mapped on chromosome 3D and it was reported in synthetic hexaploid wheat lines [186]. Tsr4 confers resistance to another isolate of race 1 and mapped on chromosome 3A. *Tsr4* comes from resistant cultivar salamouni [187]. Tsr5 is reported to resist race 5 isolates causing necrosis on tetraploid wheat lines, mapped on 3B [188]. Though some major tan spot resistance genes have been reported but tan spot resistance is majorly considered as quantitative as its reaction varies with genetic background, environment, and experimental error. Based on the quantitative behavior of tan spot resistance, many QTLs associated with tan spot resistance [170] has been reported by many independent studies such as [26,189–193].

If we look at sources of resistance they are mostly from tetraploid (*T. turgidum* subsp.) [180] and hexaploid (*T. aestivum*) [194,195] wheat, with few from D genome donor

species *A. tauchii* [196,197]. Still, there is a lot of scope in the identification of tan spot resistance sources from relatives of wheat [170].

1.5 Exploiting wheat-diazotrophic interactions

1.5.1 Impact of Nitrogen fertilizer uses

Nitrogen is an essential element in plant growth, representing 2% of the total plant dry matter in the food chain [198]. Though N makes about 80% of the atmosphere, the inability of the plants to fix free nitrogen makes them dependent on synthetic fertilizers [199]. More than 60% of the synthetic fertilizers produced worldwide are consumed in cereal production only and the yield increments due to these fertilizers come with considerable environmental impacts [200]. Nitrogen is applied in the plant available form - NO₃ or NH₄. On an average only 30 – 50% of the applied nitrogen is observed by the plants; rest leads to water resources contamination through leaching of nitrates and surface runoff; global warming and ozone layer depletion through ammonia volatilization [201]. Additionally, increase in the production costs of the inorganic fertilizers makes them unaffordable for many farmers. Therefore, we must remove our dependency on synthetic fertilizers to have sustainable agriculture. One of the alternatives is to exploit the association of cereals with nitrogen-fixing bacteria.

1.5.2 Biological nitrogen fixation

Diazotrophs are bacteria or archaea which can fix atmospheric nitrogen via a process known as biological nitrogen fixation. They can enzymatically (nitrogenase) reduce atmospheric N_2 to ammonia, making it accessible to the plants [202]. This process is unique to bacteria and archaea [203]. Plants benefit from this process by developing endosymbiotic, associative or entophytic relations with bacteria.

1.5.3 Endosymbiotic associations

Endosymbiotic associations between legumes and nitrogen-fixing bacteria (*Rhizobium*) are the most efficient associations. Bacteria reside inside the root nodules, which provide oxygen-free conditions for nitrogen fixation and in exchange bacteria provides fixed nitrogen in the form of ammonia. Up to 70% of the nitrogen needs for associated plants are fulfilled by these bacteria, making them independent of synthetic nitrogen fertilizers [204].

1.5.4 Endophytic and associative associations

Highly efficient endosymbiotic relationships have not been reported in the gramineae family. However, numerous studies have reported endophytic or associative associations of plant growth promoting bacteria's with grass family. Lines or varieties of sugarcane cultivated under low nitrogen conditions can obtain a substantial percentage of their nitrogen from associations with endophytic and associative diazotrophic bacteria.

1.5.5 Wheat diazotrophic studies

A few wheat-bacterial association studies have been conducted and showed a promise for biological nitrogen fixation in wheat. Webster *et al.* reported that bacteria *Azorhizobium caulinodans*, which forms nodules on the stems and roots of the tropical legume *Sesbania rostrate*, can colonize the wheat roots internally [205]. Lethbridge *et al.* showed BNF nitrogen acquisition in two spring wheat cultivars through bacteria mixture including *Azotobacter* and *Azospirillum* [206]. Schloter *et al.* presented different patterns of wheat root colonization by *Azospirillum barsilense* [207]. Best example proving the potential of BNF in wheat is a study done by Iniguez *et al.* [208]. Using nitrogen-fixing *bacteria Klebsiella pneumoniae* 342 (Kp342) authors showed a significant gain in wheat nitrogen

plants from biologically fixed nitrogen. Kp342 relieved nitrogen (N) deficiency symptoms and increased total N concentration in the plant. Similar to these there are many studies which have shown the potential of nitrogen fixation in wheat – diazotroph systems.

1.5.6 The Potential in wild relatives-diazotroph interactions

Problem with already done wheat-diazotrophs studies is the amount of fixed nitrogen is not enough that can suffice the N needs of modern varieties. Therefore a better system needs to be discovered. One of the approaches would be to test the wild relatives of wheat. No study has been conducted to see diazotroph interaction with wild relatives of wheat. We hypothesize that as these wild relatives are present in wild and their nitrogen requirements to some extent must be meant by diazotrophic bacteria. Therefore we hypothesize that wild relatives of wheat provide us with a hope to explore wheat – diazotrophic associations. These systems may not be applied directly to modern agriculture but these can help to unravel the genetic basis of the efficient associations with diazotrophs which can then be exploited for restoring this ability in the modern cultivars.

Chapter 2

Characterizing wild and domesticated tetraploid wheat species (*Triticum turgidum* subsp.) for resistance to *Fusarium* head blight, leaf rust, and tan spot.

2.1 Abstract

The narrow genetic base of wheat germplasm limits a continuous improvement in the wheat productivity and limits its ability to perform under stressed environments. Wild ancestors of wheat harbor under-exploited genetic diversity which can be used for wheat improvement. In this study, we evaluated a mini core set (95 accessions) of T. turgidum subsp. for resistance to *Fusarium* head blight (FHB), leaf rust and tan spot. The mini core represents a genetic and geographic diversity of 1,890 accessions of *T. turgidum* subsp. from NBRP Kyoto gene bank. Upon screening for Type II resistance against FHB using single spikelet inoculations in a greenhouse, we identified three resistant accessions of T. turgidum subsp. dicoccon viz. MG 5293-1, KU 1058, and MG 5416-1 with disease severity of less than 15 percent. All three accessions were collected from different geographic backgrounds suggesting the possibility of diverse sources of resistance. Upon comparison among subspecies, higher disease severity was observed on T. turgidum subsp. *dicoccoides* as compared to T. *turgidum* subsp. *dicoccon*. The accessions were also evaluated for their response to leaf rust both at seedling stage in the greenhouse and at adult stage in the field. We identified three accessions of *T. turgidum* subsp. *durum* viz. Cltr 4071, PI 244061, and PI 185233 that were resistant at seedling (HR - R) as well as at adult stage (5R - 10R). In addition, a few accessions were susceptible at seedling stage but demonstrated resistant reaction in the field, could possess adult plant resistance genes against leaf rust. Screening against tan spot (PTR race 5) also yielded interesting results:

of the 84 accessions screened nine accessions were found to be resistant and all are *T*. *turgidum* subsp. *dicoccoides*. Among susceptible accessions *T. turgidum* subsp. *dicoccoides* showed chlorotic reaction but *T. turgidum* subsp. *dicoccon* responded with necrotic reaction. As *T. turgidum* subsp. *dicoccoides* is the wild ancestor of *T. turgidum* subsp. *dicoccon*, this divergence in response to tan spot could yield a good system to study the plant-fungi co-evolution. All resistance sources identified in our study could be exploited for wheat improvement via synthetic hexaploid wheat or direct cross with modern wheat cultivars.

2.2 Introduction

It is essential to increase the wheat production in order to meet the ever-growing foodfeed needs of the growing population [2]. Simultaneously, changing climate leading to recurrent biotic (evolving pathogens) and abiotic stresses (fluctuating weather, increased greenhouse emissions) is challenging the current wheat production [3]. Recent origin of polyploid wheat (bread wheat AABBDD) evolved from a low frequency of historic hybridization events between *T. turgidum* subsp. *dicoccon* (AABB) and *Aegilops tauschii* (DD) [15,23]. This low frequency resulted in a narrow genetic base of wheat germplasm and as a hurdle for continuous increase in wheat productivity [209]. Wild ancestors of wheat are a great trove of genetic diversity that can be exploited for broadening the genetic base of wheat (Cox 1998, Sehgal 2005, Sehgal et al 2011). Wild relatives are still found in the natural habitats e.g. Fertile Crescent and they are also conserved in the seed banks as germplasm collections. Though a series of efforts have been made to utilize the genetic diversity in *Ae. tauschii* (DD) through the development of synthetic hexaploid wheat [46,210], but tetraploid wheat (*T. turgidum* subsp.) has been relatively less exploited for bread wheat improvement. In order to effectively access the diversity from the wild ancestors of wheat, we need to identify mini core sets with a smaller number of lines which can represent the genetic diversity of their corresponding species to the best. Equally important is the characterization of these mini core sets in order to identify lines with valuable traits which can then be exploited for wheat improvement.

Fungal head and leaf diseases cause a significant loss in yield as well as grain quality of wheat [211]. FHB is caused by *Fusarium graminearum* which infects the spikes (heads) of wheat and leads to distorted (lower test weight) and degraded (mycotoxin contaminated) seeds or in severe cases, no seed set at all [134]. Host resistance against FHB is complex therefore divided according to at which stage of *Fusarium* infection process plant defense is active. Two main types are Type I – resistance to initial infection and Type II – resistance to fungal spread from the initial site of infection [152,153]. Several sources of resistance carrying major resistance genes originated from China like hexaploid line Sumai 3 (*Fhb1*) [157–159] and from alien species like *Leymus racemosus* (*Fhb3*) [212], *Elymus tsukushiensis* (*Fhb6*) [213], and *Thinopyrum ponticum* (*Fhb7*) [214] however, very few reports of resistance in tetraploid wheat have been reported [166,168,169].

Leaf rust, another important fungal disease, is caused by *Puccinia triticina* Eriks, which mainly infects leaves and interferes with the photosynthetic efficiency of diseased plants [135]. Resistance against leaf rust can be qualitative, race specific which is called seedling resistance or/and it can be adult plant resistance which is polygenic and race nonspecific [138]. More than 80 leaf rust resistance genes have been identified, located on 20 of 21 chromosomes of wheat except for 3A [138]. Most of the genes are effective

at seedling stage or are race specific and only a hand full have shown adult plant resistance (e.g. *Lr34*, *Lr46*, and *Lr67*) [215,216]. Species-wise, approx. 34 resistance genes have been identified from the hexaploid wheat background, 18 from *Aegilops* subsp. and only six from *Triticum turgidum* subsp. [138,217,218].

Tan spot is also an important foliar disease of wheat caused by necrotrophic fungus *Pyrenophora tritici-repentis*. Tan spot is reported nearly everywhere where wheat is cultivated [170]. Fungus produces three host-selective toxins (HST) Ptr ToxA, Ptr ToxB, and Ptr ToxC, that interact directly or indirectly with dominant host genes Tsn1 (Stock et al. 1996; Faris et al. 2013), Tsc2 (Effertz et al. 2001) and Tsc1 (Orolaza et al. 1995; Friesen and Faris 2004) respectively. Based on HST, so far eight races of *Pyrenophora tritici-repentis* have been reported. In this study, we primarily investigated resistance against race 5 which produces HST Ptr ToxB. Along with major insensitivity gene *tsc2*, resistance genes like *tsr5* and few other QTLs have been reported to resist *PTR* race 5 [182,188].

For all three diseases, *Triticum turgidum* subsp. gene pool has not be exploited to its potential. Therefore the overall objective of our study was to characterize a diverse mini core set of tetraploid wheat for their reaction to important fungal diseases of wheat namely *Fusarium* head blight (FHB), leaf rust and tan spot and identify sources of resistance that can be exploited for wheat improvement.

2.3 Material and methods

2.3.1 Mini core collection

Mini core set used in this study consists of 95 accessions of *T. turgidum* subsp. (Table 2-1, Appendix Table 3). Five accessions – with higher protein content – come from CNR Institute of Plants Genetics (Bari, Italy). 90 accessions come from gene bank collection of NBRP Kyoto, Japan representing the genetic and geographic diversity of 1890 accessions. Briefly, 1890 accessions of *T. turgidum* subsp. were genotyped using 275 DArT (Diversity arrays technology) markers and a core set of 380 accessions was extracted. This core set was further genotyped using genotype by sequencing (GBS) based 6,000 SNP and a mini core set of 90 accessions best representing the geography and genetic diversity was extracted. Detailed information about all accessions is provided in Appendix Table 3.

2.3.2 Fusarium head blight screening

2.3.2.1 Plant material

From the mini core set, 39 accessions in total were screened, 28 of *T. turgidum* subsp. *dicoccoides* and 11 of *T. turgidum* subsp. *dicoccon* (Table 2-1). Detailed information for each accession is in Appendix Table 3. Flourish and AC Emerson were the susceptible and resistant checks respectively. For each accession approx. six vernalized seedlings were transplanted with two seedlings per pot containing soil mix - Sunshine 365 (Sun Gro Horticulture, Agawam, MA). Plants were grown in a greenhouse with 14 hours of the day at a temperature of 21-25°C and 10 hours night at a temperature of 18-20°C till they were inoculated. For FHB data analysis each head/spike was considered as one rep. Mostly 10 heads were scored for each genotype. Consensus score of disease rating is based on the average of all reps.

Sr.no.	SubSpecies	Minicore	FHB	Leaf rust	Tan spot
1	dicoccoides	33	28	28	28
2	durum	28	-	26	25
3	dicoccon	14	11	11	12
4	turgidum	7	-	7	7
5	turanicum	4	-	4	4
6	polonicum	4	-	4	4
7	carthilicum	2	-	1	2
8	paleocolchicum	1	-	1	1
9	pyramidale	1	-	1	1
10	abyssinicum	1	-	1	-
TOTAL		95	39	84	84

Table 2-1: *Triticum turgidum* subsp. accessions in mini core collection and number of accessions screened for each disease.

2.3.2.2 Inoculations

Fungal cultures were grown on PDA (Potato dextrose agar) media by placing single fungus plug on each media plate under sterile conditions. After culturing, plates were placed in controlled conditions, temp 18-20°C with 12 hours of light and 12 hours dark. Seven days later, plates were washed with sterile water to make a conidial solution (Figure 2-1A) and concentration was adjusted to 50,000 macro-conidia per ml. For every inoculation, fresh inoculum was prepared the same day. At anthesis, 10ul of macroconidia inoculum was injected (Figure 2-1B) into two florets of middle spikelet using a pipette following the protocol of Stack *et al* [219]. Following a gentle spray inoculated head was covered with a transparent zip-lock bag (Figure 2-1C). For rest of the growth period plants were kept in a greenhouse at 22-25°C day (14 hours) temperature and 18-22°C night (10 hours) temperature. Ziplock bags provided humid conditions for initial infection of fungus and were removed 3 days after inoculation.



Figure 2-1: Single spikelet inoculations for FHB. A) Sickle-shaped macro conidia of *Fusarium graminearum*. B) Single spikelet inoculations with 10ul of macro-conidia solution (50,000 spores/ml) of *Fusarium graminearum*. C) Inoculated spike covered with ziplock to maintain humidity. D) The response of a resistant line (KU1058) after Single spikelet inoculation (red arrow). The disease was able to spread only to one spikelet (black arrow) from the point of inoculation and rest of the spike is healthy and green.

2.3.2.3 Disease Scoring

Three weeks after inoculation, inoculated spikes were scored for disease severity (Figure 2-1D) on a 0-100% scale [220,221]. Total spikelets on a spike and diseased – water soaked, bleached or red-brown discoloration – spikelets were counted and the ratio of

diseased/total spikelets was calculated. Response categories were divided based on percentage severity, R: 0-15%, MR: 15-30%, MS: 30-50% and S: >50%.

2.3.3 Leaf rust screening

2.3.3.1 Plant material

Leaf rust screening was done both at seedling stage in greenhouse and adult stage in the field. 84 accessions from mini core were scored for seedling response and due to germination issues in the field, only 74 accessions were scored in field conditions (Table 2-1). Detailed information for each accession is presented in Appendix Table 3. For seedling screening, each genotype was planted in three cones, three seeds in each cone (two inches in diameter and six inches height) and each cone was considered as one replication. SY Wolf was used as a resistant check, McNair and Morocco were used as susceptible checks. Plants were grown in a greenhouse with 14 hours a day at a temperature of 21-25°C and 10 hours night at a temperature of 18-20°C till they were inoculated.

For field screening, winter type seedlings were transplanted after vernalization and spring type accessions were planted directly in the field in the spring of 2017. Each accession was planted in two reps (4 feet rows) with approx. 5-10 seeds per rep at Brookings, SD.

2.3.3.2 Inoculations

For seedling screening, *Puccinia triticina* urediniospores were collected in glycine capsules from the naturally infected winter wheat breeding trials in Brookings, SD. The collected spores were dehydrated in a desiccator for about 24 hours and were stored at 80°C for later use. On the day of inoculations, spores were heat shocked in a water bath at 42°C for 10 min, while they were still in a glycine bag. Spore concentration was

normalized to 2-3 mg spores per ml of soltrol [222,223]. At 2-3 leaf stage (10-15 days old), plants were inoculated using atomizer with a pressure of five psi (Figure 2-2B). Spore germination was tested on water agar (Figure 2-2C). Soltrol was allowed to evaporate for 20-30 min and inoculated seedlings were placed for 24 hours in a humidity chamber. For further development of the disease, plants were moved into a growth chamber with 14 hours light at a temperature of 24 °C and 10 hours dark at 18°C.

No artificial inoculations were done in the field, all infections were due to natural disease occurrence because of spreader rows planted in observation nursery.



Figure 2-2: Inoculations for leaf rust at seedling stage. A) Collection of urediniosporesfrom the infected wheat leaves. B) The front end of atomizer used for spraying inoculum.C) Germinating urediniospores. D) Susceptible reaction and developing urediniospores in pustules.

2.3.3.3 Scoring

For seedling screening, 10 days post inoculations, plants were rated for infection type (IT) on a 0-4 stakman scale [224] Stakman and Levine 1944). On this scale, 0: nearly

immune; 1: very resistant; 2: moderately resistant; 3: moderately resistant to moderately susceptible; and 4: very susceptible.

For field screening, scoring was done on flag leaf stage, mostly after heading based on infection type and percentage severity scale [224]. Severity was rated on a percentage scale of 5, 10, 20, 40, 60, 80, and 100. Infection types were O - immune response, R - resistant, MR - moderately resistant, MS - moderately susceptible and S - susceptible. The final score was the combination of severity and infection type.

2.3.4 Tan spot screening

2.3.4.1 Plant material

84 mini core accessions were screened for resistance against *Pyrenophora tritici-repentis* race 5. Seeds of each genotype were planted in three cones, three seeds in each cone (two inches in diameter and six inches height). Each cone was considered as one replication. Salamouni was used as a resistant check and 6B662 was used as a susceptible check. Plants were grown in a greenhouse with 14 hours of day at a temperature of 21-25°C and 10 hours of night at a temperature of 18-20°C till they were inoculated.

2.3.4.2 Inoculations

Inoculum preparation and inoculations were performed according to Ali and Francl, 2001 [225]. *Pyrenophora tritici-repentis* race 5 frozen plugs were plated on fresh V8-PDA media plates. For mycelium growth (Figure 2-3A), plates were kept in dark for five days (generally colonies reach 1 to 1.5-inch diameter). After that plates were flooded with sterile water, fungal mycelium was knocked down using sterile test tubes (Figure 2-3B). For conidial production (Figure 2-3C), plates were kept under light at room temperature for 24 hours and then incubated at 16°C under dark for 24 hours. Plates were flooded

with sterile water and spores were collected using sterile loop wire (Figure 2-3D). Spore concentration (Figure 2-3E) was adjusted to 3000 spores/ml as described by Jordahl et al. 1992 [226]. At 2nd leaf stage, plants were inoculated with *Pyrenophora tritici-repentis* race 5 by using spore suspension of 3000 spores/ml (Figure 2-3F). Inoculated plants were moved to mist chamber (18°C) for 24 hours and grown for five days in a greenhouse at 21-25° C and 14 hours photoperiod.



Figure 2-3: Inoculations with *P. tritici-repentis* race 5. A) Mycelium growth after 5 days of plug plating on V8 PDA. B) After mycelium was knocked down. C) Conidial production post light/dark cycle for 24 hours. D) Preparation of conidial solution using a sterile loop wire. E) Conidia stained with trypan blue – for visibility – otherwise conidia are colorless. F) Inoculum spray using 3000 spores/ml G) Chlorotic and necrotic susceptible responses.

2.3.4.3 Scoring:

Five days post inoculation, disease lesions were rated on a qualitative scale of 1 to 5 [177]. 1: resistance response, 2: moderately resistance, 3: moderately susceptible

response, 4: susceptible (some lesions coalescent) and 5: highly susceptible (all lesions generally coalescent).

2.4 Results

2.4.1 Fusarium head blight (FHB) screening

Average disease severity among the screened mini core accessions ranged from 14.7 to 100%. Susceptible check Flourish showed average disease severity 70% (range 60 to 80%), as expected. Average disease severity on the resistant check (AC Emerson, Cantera seeds) was 11%, ranging from 6 to 23%. Table 2-2 summarizes the distribution of different accessions among different response category. Of 39 accessions from the corset screened, three accessions showed a resistance response (Table 2-3). Interestingly these three accessions belong to *T. turgidum* subsp. *dicoccon*. Average disease severity on MG5293-1, KU1058, and MG5416-1 was 14.7, 14.2 and 15% respectively. In addition another three accessions from T. turgidum subsp. dicoccon and one accession from T. turgidum subsp. dicoccoides showed moderately resistant (MR) response (Table 2-3). Eight accessions fall into moderately susceptible (MS) category, including five T. turgidum subsp. dicoccoides accessions and three T. turgidum subsp. dicoccon accessions. The other 24 accessions were susceptible (S), the majority (22) of the accession were from T. turgidum subsp. dicoccoides and two accessions were from T. turgidum subsp. dicoccon.

Species-wise comparison of disease severity suggested that *T. turgidum subsp. dicoccoides* showed statistically higher disease severity (average 79.9% infected spikelets per spike) as compared to *T. turgidum* subsp. *dicoccon* (average 36.1 % infected spikelets per spike) (Table 2-2, Figure 2-4).

Category (Severity)*	<i>dicoccoides</i> no. (%)	dicoccon no. (%)	Total (%)
R (0-15%)	0 (0%)	3 (27%)	3 (7.5%)
MR (15-30%)	1 (3.5%)	3 (27%)	4 (10.2%)
MS (30-50%)	5 (17%)	3 (27%)	8 (20.5%)
S (>50%)	22 (78%)	2 (18%)	24 (61.5%)
Total	28	11	39

Table 2-2: Distribution of *Triticum turgidum* subsp. *dicoccoides* and *Triticum turgidum*subsp. *dicoccon* accessions among different response categories against FHB.

*Categories: R: 0-15%, MR: 15-30%, MS: 30-50% and S: >50%.

Table 2-3: Resistant and moderately resistant accessions to FHB identified from the mini

 core set of *T. turgidum* subsp.

Accession	<i>T. turgidum</i> subsp.	Origin	Disease category†	Severity*
KU1058	dicoccon	Spain	R	14.7
MG5293-1	dicoccon	Italy	R	14.8
MG5416-1	dicoccon	-	R	15.0
KU124	dicoccon	-	MR	20.5
PI355497	dicoccon	Soviet Union	MR	26.0
PI428105	dicoccoides	Israel	MR	29.1
Cltr4013	dicoccon	India	MR	30.0

*Average disease severity. †Categories: R: 0-15%, MR: 15-30%, MS: 30-50% and S:



Figure 2-4: Comparison of response to FHB inoculation among *T. turgidum* subsp. *dicoccon* and *T. turgidum* subsp. *dicoccoides*. X-axis: percentage infected spikelets, Y-axis: *T. turgidum* subsp. Bars represent standard error.

2.4.2 Leaf rust screening

At seedling stage, genotypes varied in response to *P. triticina*. The resistant check SY Wolf, and susceptible checks McNair and Morocco gave highly resistance and susceptible reaction respectively as expected (Figure 2-5). Out of 84 mini core accessions screened, only two accessions (2.6%) viz. KU11830 and PI244061 were found to be highly resistant. Another six accessions (7.9%) demonstrated resistant reaction. All resistant accessions belong to subspecies *durum*. In addition, nine accessions (11.8%) were moderately resistance, 18 accessions (23.7%) were the moderately susceptible type and majority 49 (64.5%) of the accessions were highly susceptible to leaf rust (Figure 2-6). Only a few *T. turgidum* subsp. *durum* accessions were resistant whereas the majority of the *T. turgidum* subsp. *dicoccoides*, *T. turgidum* subsp. *dicoccon* and other accessions



Figure 2-5: Response to leaf rust screening at seedling stage. Scoring scale is based on [224]. SY Wolf is the resistant check and Morocco is the susceptible check.



Figure 2-6: Distribution of accessions of different *T. turgidum* subsp. among different response categories of seedling leaf rust. Others include *T. turgidum* subsp. *polonicum*, *carthilicum*, *turanicum*, *paleocochicum*, *abyssinicum* and *pyradmidale*.

In field screening, a wide range in disease severity ranging from 5 to 100% was observed among 74 genotypes evaluated. Six accessions (8.2% of total) were found to be resistant including one - *T. turgidum* subsp. *abyssinicum* (KU7348), four - *T. turgidum* subsp. *durum* (Cltr1471, PI244061, PI185233, Cltr6870), and one - *T. turgidum* subsp. *turgidum* (PI134951). Severity in these accessions ranged from 5 to 10%. Another 14 accessions (19.1% of total) were found to be moderately resistant, seven (9.5% of total) moderately susceptible and majority 36 accessions (49% of total) were susceptible. Species-wise distribution among different response categories is presented in Figure 2-7. Similar to seedling screening, majority of the resistant accessions were from *T. turgidum* subsp. *durum* and most of the *T. turgidum* subsp. *dicoccoides* accessions were susceptible.



Figure 2-7: Distribution of accessions of different *T. turgidum* subsp. among different response categories of leaf rust resistance in the field. Others species includes *T. turgidum* subsp. *polonicum*, *carthilicum*, *turanicum*, *paleocochicum*, *abyssinicum* and *pyradmidale*.

Three T. *turgidum* subsp. *durum* accessions viz. Cltr4071, PI244061, and PI185233 showed consistent resistant reaction at seedling (greenhouse) and at adult plant stage (field). In addition, another 3 accessions (Cltr6870, KU7348, and PI134951) showed susceptible reaction at seedling stage but showed a resistant response at adult plant stage, this could be further investigated for adult plant resistance genes (Table 2-4).

Accession	<i>T. turgidum</i> subsp.	Origin	Seedling response	Adult stage response
Cltr1471*	durum	Algeria	1 - R	5R
PI244061*	durum	Yemen	; - HR	5R
PI185233*	durum	UK	1 - R	10R
KU15591	durum	Egypt	1 -R	20S
PI60741	durum	Egypt	1 - R	20S
PI8898	durum	India	1 - R	10S
KU3701	durum	Turkey	1 - R	40 MS
KU11830	durum	Greece	; - HR	-
Cltr6870†	durum	Tunisia	2.1 - MS	5R
KU7348†	abyssinicum	Ethiopia	3 - MS	5R
PI134951†	turgidum	Portugal	2.2 -MS	10R

Table 2-4: Resistant and moderately resistant accessions to leaf rust at seedling stage and at adult plant stage identified from the mini core set of *T. turgidum* subsp.

* Resistant at both seedling stage and adult stage, † Resistant at adult stage but susceptible at seedling stage

2.4.3 Tan spot screening

Among the 84 accessions screened from the mini core, a varied response from susceptible to resistance was observed against *Pyrenophora tritici-repentis* race 5 (*PTR* race 5). Nearly 15% (13 accessions) of the accessions were resistant with the majority (nine) of the accessions of *T. turgidum* subsp. *dicoccoides* and two each of *T. turgidum* subsp.

dicoccon and *T. turgidum* subsp. *turgidum*. Another 18% (15 accessions) showed moderately resistance response whereas 29 accessions (34%) and 27 accessions (32%) showed moderately susceptible and susceptible response respectively. Among subspecies majority of the resistant or moderately resistant accessions belonged to *T. turgidum* subsp. *dicoccoides* and majority of the susceptible or moderately susceptible accessions belonged to *T. turgidum* subsp. *durum* (Figure 2-9).



Figure 2-8: Response to *Pyrenophora tritici-repentis* race 5 (*PTR* race 5). Left to right: R is the resistant reaction on KU1974 (*T. turgidum* subsp. *dicoccoides*), MR reaction on MG43330-66 (*T. turgidum* subsp. *dicoccoides*), S-Nec is a necrotic susceptible reaction on MG5293-1 (*T. turgidum* subsp. *dicoccon*) and S-Chl is a chlorotic reaction on KU15493 (*T. turgidum* subsp. *dicoccoides*)



Figure 2-9: Distribution of accessions of different *T. turgidum* subsp. among different response categories of *Pyrenophora tritici-repentis* race 5 (*PTR* race 5) resistance. Others species includes *T. turgidum* subsp. *polonicum, carthilicum, turanicum, paleocochicum, abyssinicum* and *pyradmidale*.

Two types of susceptible reactions were reported against *PTR* race 5, chlorotic and necrotic (Figure 2-8). Among 84 accessions evaluated, 37 accessions showed a chlorotic reaction and 38 showed a necrotic reaction. Interestingly, all the *T. turgidum* subsp. *dicoccoides* susceptible accessions showed chlorotic reaction as opposed to *T. turgidum* subsp. *dicoccon* accessions which showed a necrotic reaction (Figure 2-10). For rest of the subspecies, no conclusive result was obtained either because number accessions were low or accessions were equally distributed in both necrotic and chlorotic categories.



Figure 2-10: Distribution of susceptible accessions among necrotic and chlorotic response category towards *Pyrenophora tritici-repentis* race 5 (*PTR* race 5).

2.5 Discussion

Fusarium head blight, leaf rust, and tan spot are among the major devastating diseases of wheat leading to significant yield losses in the USA as well as worldwide [134,135,170]. Host resistance is one of the best approaches to combat these ever-evolving fungal diseases. Integrating QTLs/genes from diverse backgrounds increases the durability of resistance. Identification of novel sources of resistance against all three diseases from tetraploid ancestral species (*T. turgidum* subsp.) can help in enhancing the level of resistance in durum and bread wheat. We evaluated the mini core set of 95 accessions representing the genetic and geographic diversity of 1,890 accessions, which likely had a good chance of identification of resistance sources while reducing the workload [75].

Currently, for FHB most of the resistance comes from the hexaploid background [156] with only a few examples in tetraploid species [227]. Identification of resistant *T*.

turgidum subsp. sources is not only important for durum wheat breeding but these sources will also increase aura of resistance diversity in hexaploid wheat germplasm. After screening mini core set accessions for Type II resistance against FHB we identified three resistant accessions namely MG5293-1, KU1058 and MG5416-1 with disease severity less than 15%. Interestingly, all three accessions belong to *T. turgidum* subsp. *dicoccon*. So far only two sources of resistance have been identified in *T. turgidum* subsp. *dicoccon* background [228,229], thus our identified accessions will add to that scarce list. MG5293-1 is an accession from Italy, KU1058 is from Spain and MG5416-1 is of unknown origin. As most of the FHB resistance sources are of Chinese origin, diverse origin of our identified FHB resistant accessions suggests these accessions may carry novel resistance QTL/genes. Also, MG5293-1 and MG5416-1 were reported to be high in protein [230], therefore the transfer of resistance genes/QTLs into adapted germplasm of wheat may lead to increased protein content too, provided genes underlying these two traits are linked.

Identification of novel resistance sources against leaf rust is also very crucial, as *P*. *triticina* is known for high levels of virulence and wide adaptation in different climatic conditions [231]. In present study resistance against leaf rust was investigated both at seedling stage as well as an adult stage in the field conditions. We identified six accessions demonstrating resistance response at adult stage and eight at seedling stage. Among these, three accessions viz. Cltr4071, PI244061, and PI185233 were resistant at both seedling and adult stage. All three accessions are of *T. turgidum* subsp. *durum* type thus can be directly incorporated in durum wheat breeding. Other accessions which were

susceptible at seedling stage but resistant at adult stage may carry resistance genes/QTLs for adult plant resistance, however, this may need further investigation.

Resistance against tan spot is also important especially in the light of fact that it is caused by necrotrophic fungus Pyrenophora tritici-repentis (PTR) which can survive on residues as saprophytes thus can be a devastating disease in conservative agriculture systems [170]. In our study, we evaluated 84 accessions of a mini core set against PTR race 5 and identified 13 resistant accessions. The majority are from the *T. turgidum* subsp. dicoccoides suggesting resistance is much more prevalent in T. turgidum subsp. *dicoccoides* as compared to other subspecies. Another interesting finding in this study was the necrotic or chlorotic response of different species. It has been reported in a number of studies that PTR race 5 can cause necrotic response in the tetraploid wheat background and chlorotic in the hexaploid wheat background [188]. In our study, all the T. turgidum subsp. dicoccoides demonstrated a chlorotic response but T. turgidum subsp. *dicoccon*, which is cultivated form of *T. turgidum* subsp. *dicoccoides* were found be necrotic. It has been confirmed that fungus carries two virulence genes, one causing necrosis and other causing chlorosis and susceptibles genotypes carry corresponding susceptible genes [188]. From our results, it seems plausible that domestication and further evolution played a role in this host-fungus interaction leading to contrasting response in T. turgidum subsp. dicoccon as compared to T. turgidum subsp. dicoccoides.

2.6 Conclusions

In this study, a mini core collection of *T. turgidum* subsp. was characterized for devastating diseases of wheat viz. *Fusarium* head blight, leaf rust, and tan spot (race 5). Resistant sources against each disease were identified; three accessions against FHB,

three accessions against leaf rust and nine accessions against the tan spot. It was discovered that resistance against FHB is more prevalent in *T. turgidum* subsp. *dicoccon* as compared to *T. turgidum* subsp. *dicoccoides*. Resistance against leaf rust was majorly found in *T. turgidum* subsp. *durum* and resistance against tan spot (*PTR* race 5) is most prevalent in *T. turgidum* subsp. *dicoccoides*. We also propose that different response of *T. turgidum* subsp. *dicoccoides* (chlorotic) and *T. turgidum* subsp. *dicoccon* (necrotic) susceptible accessions against *PTR* race 5 can be used as a model to study the plant-fungi coevolution.

Chapter 3

Evaluation and identification of ancestors and wild relatives of wheat for their interaction with diazotrophs

3.1 Abstract

Nitrogen is an essential element in plant development and a limiting factor in plant growth. The inability of modern wheat cultivars to interact with nitrogen-fixing bacteria (diazotrophs) makes them dependent on synthetic fertilizers. Excessive fertilizer use impacts our environment in every possible way. Exploiting natural diversity of wild relatives of wheat is one the feasible approach to identify genotypes with efficient association with diazotrophs. In this study, we investigated modern cultivars and wild/domesticated relatives of wheat for their interaction with diazotrophs using ¹⁵N dilution technique. Soil mixture (soil + growing mix) was used to mimic natural soil conditions with the addition of Azosprillium sp. We observed significant differences for $\sigma^{15}N$ (¹⁵N content) among different species in 30-days old seedlings. Lower $\sigma^{15}N$ indicates a higher possibility of biologically fixed nitrogen (BNF). All wild species, diploid or tetraploid, had a significantly low concentration of ¹⁵N as compared to modern cultivars and their corresponding domesticated species, indicating that wild species have gained a portion of N requirement as BNF. *Triticum boeticum* ($A^{m}A^{m}$, $\sigma^{15}N = 20.85$) accessions gained a higher proportion of N as BNF as compared to domesticated form T. monococcum ($A^{m}A^{m}$, $\sigma^{15}N = 26.67$). Similarly, T. turgidum subsp. dicoccoides (AABB, σ^{15} N = 16.44) gained larger proportion of N from BNF as compared to domesticated T. turgidum subsp. dicoccon (AABB, $\sigma^{15}N = 26.32$). Modern cultivars (T. aestivum, AABBDD, $\sigma^{15}N = 31.74$) and landraces ($\sigma^{15}N = 30.81$) were unable/less efficient to

interact with diazotrophs. We also identified two accessions of *T. turgidum* subsp. *dicoccoides* which gained much higher proportion of N (σ^{15} N = 9.35 and 10.03) from BNF then all other accessions. These efficient accessions can be further investigated to identify underlying genes, which can be exploited for the improvement of modern cultivars. We also propose that identification of novel soil diazotrophs from the niche of these wild relatives also holds a potential.

3.2 Introduction

Wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.), the third most staple food worldwide; provides one-fifth of the calories and 20% of the protein for more than 4.5 billion people [1]. Annual wheat yield improvement of an average 1% will be insufficient to feed the rising population [2]. Climate change, soil degradation, loss of arable land, unavailability of irrigation waters, evolving pathogens and increasing fertilizer costs further aggravate this scenario of the demand-production gap [3]. A steady increase in wheat productivity of at least 2% per year is required to meet the growing wheat demands [4]. Furthermore, wheat improvement must be resource efficient and sustainable.

Production of wheat and other cereals is highly dependent on synthetic nitrogen fertilizers, and the yield increments due to these fertilizers come with considerable environmental impacts [200]. Nitrogen is applied in the plant available form -NO₃ or NH₄. On an average only 30-50% of the applied nitrogen is absorbed by the plants, rest leads to water contamination through leaching of nitrates and surface runoff; and global warming and ozone layer depletion through ammonia volatilization [201]. Freshwater contamination with nitrogen leads to algal blooms, which results in loss of marine life and if this contaminated water is ingested by infants it may lead to lethal diseases such as

blue baby syndrome. Furthermore, just in U.S. corn production alone, synthetic fertilizer (Urea) production consumes more than 30% of the non-renewable energy and leads to 70% of the greenhouse gas emissions [232]. Additionally, increasing production cost of the inorganic fertilizers makes them unaffordable for many farmers. Therefore, we must remove our dependency on synthetic fertilizers to have sustainable agriculture. Exploiting wheat-diazotrophic associations can be one of the sustainable approaches. Diazotrophs are bacteria or archaea which can fix atmospheric nitrogen [202]. They can enzymatically reduce atmospheric N_2 to ammonia, making it accessible to the plants, this process is unique to bacteria and archaea [203]. Plants benefit from this process by developing endosymbiotic, associative or endophytic relations with bacteria. Endosymbiotic associations between legumes and nitrogen-fixing bacteria (*Rhizobium*) are the most efficient associations. Bacteria reside inside the plant root nodules, which provide oxygen-free conditions for nitrogen fixation and in exchange bacteria provide plants with fixed nitrogen in the form of ammonia. Up to 70% of the nitrogen needs for symbiotic plants are fulfilled by these bacteria, making them independent of synthetic nitrogen fertilizers [204].

But these highly efficient endosymbiotic relationships have not been reported in the family Gramineae-grass family. However, numerous studies have reported endophytic or associative associations of plant growth promoting bacteria's with grass family. Among them, a few wheat-bacterial associations also have been reported such as *Azorhizobium caulinodans* colonization [205] and others. These studies demonstrate the potential of diazotrophs interactions in wheat. All these studies were based on modern wheat cultivars and no study has been done to see variation in wild relatives of wheat. We hypothesize
that more efficient diazotrophic associations in wild relatives are more likely to occur as compared to modern cultivars as they grow in natural ecosystems independent of synthetic fertilizers. In this study, an attempt was made to see diazotrophic interaction diversity among different wild species of wheat in contrast to modern and cultivated species. By studying these variations we can identify underlying genes and transfer those genes to high yielding cultivars.

In order to quantify biologically fixed nitrogen and discriminate it from added soil nitrogen or synthetic fertilizer, ¹⁵N dilution technique [233] can be used. There are two stable isotopes of nitrogen: ¹⁴N and ¹⁵N. In the atmosphere, the heavy isotope, ¹⁵N, occurs at a constant abundance of 0.3663 atoms%. If the ¹⁵N abundance in plant-available soil or growing media is higher than 0.3663 atoms%, then we can estimate the plant N derived from each source (atmosphere and soil). Plants with lower ¹⁵N atom% as compared to soil are likely to have obtained fixed N from associated bacteria (Figure 3-1). There is the only small difference between the natural abundance of ¹⁵N between soil N and atmospheric N₂. For more precise and accurate quantification of biologically fixed N soil is enriched with labeled ¹⁵N fertilizer.



Figure 3-1: Diagrammatic representation of principle behind the ¹⁵N dilution technique.
Soil (in pots) is enriched with 5% ¹⁵N labeled fertilizer. (A) Plant inoculated with diazotrophs have lower ¹⁵N content (0.56%) indicating N derivation from the atmosphere.
(B) The uninoculated plant has higher ¹⁵N content (5%), which indicates that no nitrogen fixation in this system.

3.3 Material and methods

3.3.1 Plant material

A diverse germplasm set of wheat and its relatives was collected to have a good coverage of the genetic diversity of the wheat gene pool (Table 3-1). It includes pre-domesticated "A" genome diploid species [*Triticum urartu* (A^uA^u) and *Triticum boeticum* (A^mA^m)],

post domesticated "A" genome diploid species [*Triticum monococcum* (A^mA^m)], predomesticated tetraploid species (*Triticum turgidum* subsp. *dicoccoides* (AABB)], post domesticated tetraploid species [*Triticum turgidum* subsp. *dicoccon* (AABB)]. To have a comparison with wild relatives, pre-green revolution (Watkin collection) and modern-day hexaploid wheat varieties (AABBDD) were also introduced in the set. The only manmade cereal triticale [X *Triticosecale* (AABBRR)] was also included in the set for its stress tolerance abilities.

Table 3-1: A diverse set of *Triticum* species evaluated for association with diazotrophs. This includes pre domesticated diploid (A^uA^u and A^mA^m) and post domesticated diploid (A^mA^m) wild relatives of wheat; pre and post domesticated tetraploid wild relatives (AABB), and hexaploid wheat landraces (AABBDD) and cultivars (AABBDD). We also screened triticale (X *Triticosecale*) due to its stress tolerant abilities.

Conus	Spacios	Ganoma	Tune	No. of
Genus	Species	Genome	Туре	accessions
Triticum	monococcum	$A^m A^m$	Domesticated	4
Triticum	boeticum	$A^m A^m$	Wild	4
Triticum	urartu	A ^u A ^u	Wild	4
Triticum	aestivum	AABBDD	Landraces	4
Triticum	aestivum	AABBDD	modern wheat	4
Triticum	t. subsp. dicoccon	AABB	Domesticated	4
Triticum	t. subsp. dicoccoides	AABB	Wild	4
X Triticosecale	-	AABBRR	Domesticated	4
Total				32

3.3.2 Growth medium

In order to mimic natural soil conditions, a mixture of garden soil and sungro 360 growing mixture was used as a growth medium for plants. Garden soil:sungro 360 were mixed in 1:1 ratio by volume and then continuously mixed for 3-4 times. In garden soil, there is 0.09% N, 0.05% P_2O_5 and 0.07% of K₂O. 360 growing mixture contains 35 - 45% sphagnum peat moss, composted bark, and vermiculite. Soil mixture was then filled into small cones (2 inches in diameter and 8 inches in height) which were used for planting.

3.3.3 Plant growth conditions

Each accession was repeated twice, each replication consist of three plants in a single cone. After planting, plants were watered with distilled water and grown in a greenhouse at 22 - 25 °C day (14 hours) temperature and 18 - 22 °C night (10 hours) temperature. After plants finished their seed reserves for nutrients and have a well-developed root system, approx. 10 days after planting, root zones were spiked with 1ml of labeled ammonium nitrate (1% ¹⁵N). Following the spiking, 1ml inoculation containing *Azosprillium* subsp. was poured into each pot.

3.3.4 Tissue collection and ¹⁵N analysis

Approx. four weeks after planting, young and healthy leaf tissue from each cone was collected in glass vials and dried at 65°C for 48h. Dried leaf tissues were ground using a tissue lyser and 10mg of tissue powder for each rep was assayed for ¹⁵N content by using Isotope Ratio Mass Spectrometry (IRMS) at SDSU.

3.3.5 Statistical analysis

 σ^{15} N value for each replication of each accession was calculated using following equation [234]:

$$\delta 15N \ (\) = [(\text{sample atom} \ 15N - 0.3663)/0.3663] \times 1000$$

Data was analyzed in R for differences among species and among accessions by performing Analysis of variance (ANOVA) based on linear mixed model 1. Accessions were considered to be nested under species. Species effect was treated as fixed effect and accessions effect was treated as a random effect. Pairwise comparison among species and among accessions was performed using Fisher's least significant differences (LSD) test.

$$Y_{ij} = \mu + S_i + L_{j(i)} + e_{ij} \qquad Model \ 1$$

 Y_{ij} : ¹⁵N value for ith species, jth accession.

- μ : Population mean or grand mean.
- S_i : ith species effect.
- $L_{I(i)}$: Jth accession effect nested under ith species.
- e_{ij} : random error.

3.4 Results

A large variation for σ^{15} N measurements was found between different species as well as within species. Total nitrogen uptake did not vary significantly between or within species. Approx. 61% of the total variation for σ^{15} N values was explained by the species and approx. 29% of the variation was explained by the accessions (Table 3-2). Lower the σ^{15} N value, larger is the likelihood that plant is getting a share of N from biologically fixed nitrogen. Among all species, the average ¹⁵N concentration was found to be the lowest in *T. turgidum* subsp. *dicoccoides* and highest in modern cultivars of winter wheat (Figure 3-2).

Table 3-2: ANOVA table describing variance explained by the species and the accessions for ¹⁵N values. Each accession was replicated twice. The analysis is based on nested CR design, accessions being nested under species.

Source	Df	TSS	MSS	F-value	P-value
Species	7	1643	234.71	4.60	6.17e ^{-5 *}
Accessions	25	771.9	30.88	3.97	1.83e ^{-5*}
Residuals	31	240.9s	7.77		

*Significant at α -level of 0.05.

Diploid wild species, *T. boeticum* and *T. urartu* had significantly low $\sigma^{15}N$ concentration than domesticated diploid species (*T. monococcum*). Similarly, $\sigma^{15}N$ concentration in wild tetraploid (*T. turgidum* subsp. *dicoccoides*) was significantly lower than domesticated tetraploid (*T. turgidum* subsp. *dicoccon*). ¹⁵N values in modern winter wheat cultivars, landraces (Watkin collection), accessions of triticale, *T. monococcum*, and *T. turgidum* subsp. *dicoccon* were significantly higher than other wild species except for *T. turgidum* subsp. *dicoccon*'s overlap with *T. turgidum* subsp. *boeticum* (Figure 3-2).

Based on pairwise comparison among all accessions, two accessions of *T. turgidum* subsp. *dicoccoides* (PI538719 and PI428057) had significantly less accumulation of ¹⁵N than rest of the tested accessions. Watkin collection accession - 1190004, Triticale accession - PI547164 and winter wheat variety - Alliance had significantly high ¹⁵N values than rest of the group (Figure 3-3).



Figure 3-2: Boxplot representing species average for σ^{15} N values. A) X *Triticosecale*, B) modern winter wheat cultivars, C) landraces from Watkin collection, D) *T. turgidum* subsp. *dicoccon*, E) *T. monococcum*, F) *T. boeticum*, G) *T. turgidum* subsp. *dicoccoides*, and H) *T. urartu*. Color code – green: wild species and red: domesticated species. Associated small letters with boxes denote different groups based on LSD values, different letter groups are significantly different.



Figure 3-3: Variation for $\sigma^{15}N$ and total %N values among accessions of different species tested in this study. Note: %N is approx. same in all accessions but the large variation for $\sigma^{15}N$ can be seen.

3.5 Discussion

Nitrogen is an essential element in plant growth, representing 2% of the total plant dry matter in the food chain [198]. Though N makes about 80% of the atmosphere, the inability of the plants to fix free nitrogen makes them dependent on synthetic fertilizers [199]. Due to adverse effects of nitrogen fertilizers, we have to cut down the use of synthetic fertilizers [200]. Exploiting natural ability of wild relatives to better access available soil nitrogen and/or to interact with diazotrophs can be one of the sustainable ways. In the current study, we assessed the variation for diazotrophic interaction among different wild relatives of wheat as well as in modern wheat varieties using ¹⁵N dilution technique. Among the analyzed species we observed not much variation for total nitrogen

content suggesting no species were better or worse at up taking and utilizing nitrogen. However, there was a large variation in ¹⁵N content among different species.

It is interesting to note that all the wild species gained much nitrogen from low ¹⁵N source as compared to modern or domesticated species (Figure 3-2). *T. boeticum* is wild form of *T. monococum* and *T. dicoccoides* is wild form of *T. dicoccon*, both of the wild species have gained more nitrogen from low ¹⁵N nitrogen sources as compared to their corresponding domesticated parents. It is possible that wild relatives were able to better interact with diazotrophs which in our case were *Azosprillium* sp. or other soil-borne bacterial species. This points out that cultivation or domestication might have broken the beneficial plant-diazotrophic bond or with the application of synthetic nitrogen fertilizers, we have been unknowingly selecting against such associations. As resource allocation due to domestication changes, therefore, it is possible that nutrient supply to root associating bacteria might be cut down by the plants and that portion was transported to seed reserves.

If we look at the modern wheat varieties, landraces and triticale, similar trends are observed as with domesticated species. These accessions are so dependent on synthetic fertilizers and their ¹⁵N values are much higher than wild species. It is clear as these accessions are bred to be fertilizer responsive and they are found to behave as fertilizer dependent in this experiment.

A better interaction among the wild relatives of wheat and diazotrophs can be a great source of developing synthetic nitrogen independent (or at least less dependent) wheat cultivars. As fertilizers costs are going high and for exploiting the marginal lands we need wheat cultivars that can better interact with the diazotrophs. Our study suggests that we should conduct broad analysis of wild wheat species to identify better genotypes that could help in understanding the mechanism of wheat diazotrophs interaction.

At last, we also like to point out the limitations of ¹⁵N dilution technique as a way to quantify biologically fixed nitrogen. Though this method can estimate the BNF nitrogen, it is a costly (\$15/sample) and needs a lot of precise addition of all other nutrients along with nitrogen. This technique works perfectly for legumes or in case symbiotic associations but for associative systems where BNF is fixed in traces, this method should be chosen carefully. Also, it may be better to use gene expression analysis in the rhizosphere for associative interactions.

3.6 Conclusions

In this study interaction between diazotrophs and wild/domesticated relatives of wheat was assessed. Interestingly, we found that wild relatives of wheat can interact better with diazotrophs as compared to domesticated or cultivated species. This suggests that domestication might have impacted the wheat-diazotrophic interactions in a negative way. We also identified two accessions of *T. turgidum* subsp. *dicoccoides* (PI 428057 and PI 538719) which gained much higher BNF fixed nitrogen than any other accession tested. These accessions may be a great source for efficient diazotrophic associations.

In order to restore this great association ability in the modern wheat cultivars, wild relatives such as *T. dicoccoides*, *T. urartu*, and *T. boeticum* seems a promising source. Novel species of diazotrophs can be discovered from natural soil conditions and tested with specific wild species and eventually, underlying genes of association with diazotrophs can be transferred to modern cultivars.

Chapter 4

Assessing genetic diversity in rye and characterizing genomic regions conferring resistance to tan spot

4.1 Abstract

Rye (Secale cereale L.) is known for its wide adaptation due to its ability to tolerate harsh winters and grow in semiarid areas. To better assess the diversity in rye and to utilize it for wheat improvement we genotyped by sequencing (GBS) 178 geographically diverse accessions of *Secale* sp. from U.S. National Small Grains Collection. We analyzed the genetic diversity in the set using 4,037 high-quality SNPs (single nucleotide polymorphisms) and developed a mini core set of 32 accessions of rye that represents more than 95% of the allelic diversity (PIC = 0.25) of *Secale cereale* subsp. *cereale*'s global collection (PIC = 0.26). Three major clusters separating S. cereale L. from S. strictum and S. sylvestre were observed by PCA and STRUCTURE analysis, however, no correlation of genetic clustering with geographic origins and growth habit (spring/winter) was observed. The collection was evaluated for response to Pyrenophora tritici-repentis race 5 (*PTR* race 5) and nearly 32% and 27% accessions were resistant and moderately resistant respectively, whereas 24% and 14% accessions were moderately susceptible and susceptible respectively. Genome-wide association study (GWAS) was performed on S. cereale subsp. cereale using 4,037 high-quality SNPs. Two QTLs conferring resistance to *PTR* race 5 were identified (p = < 0.001) using mixed linear model (GAPIT) on chromosomes 5R and 2R. The QTLs QTs.sdsu-5R and QTs.sdsu-2R explained 13.11% and 11.62% of the variation respectively. Comparative rye-wheat syntenic analysis showed a high correspondence between rye-wheat with known rearrangements as

expected. *QTs.sdsu-2R* is mapped in the syntenic region corresponding to the chromosome group 2 of wheat which harbors tan spot (*PTR* race 5) insensitivity gene (*tsc2*) and several other tan spot resistance genes/QTLs. The rye association set and the mini core set identified in our study could be utilized for genetic characterization of useful traits and genetic improvement of rye, triticale, and wheat.

4.2 Introduction

Rye (*Secale cereale* L.) belongs to the Triticeae tribe of the family Poaceae [80] and is believed to share a common ancestor with wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.) and barley (*Hordeum vulgare* L.) [81]. Most of the species of Genus *Secale* originated in the Middle East, modern-day Turkey [88]. Later along with the dissemination of wheat and barley to Europe and the Western Mediterranean region, rye first came as a weed to these places. From the weedy species of rye, farmers consciously or unconsciously selected a variant with a non-brittle rachis and larger seeds. This selected variant is now classified as *Secale cereale*, the only cultivated species of rye. Due to its resilience, rye first adapted as a secondary crop in the areas with the harsh environment (cold and heat stress), where other staple crops like wheat and barley were not able to survive [88]. Eventually, seeing its versatility, people started cultivating rye in Canada and northern parts of the United States of America. Species of rye are also found in Russia, Japan, Australia and an isolated population is also present in South Africa [83].

In general, the genus *Secale* is classified into four species (GRIN, http://www.arsgrin.gov): *S. cereale* - annual allogamous species, *S. sylvestre and vavilovii* - annual autogamous species and last is perennial wild-type allogamous *S. strictum* [94]. Around the globe, rye is cultivated mainly for food, feed, and pasture; as a cover crop or green

manure crop. Rye based products are a rich source of nutritionally essential compounds like minerals (Zn, Fe, and P), β -glucan (1.3-2.7%), resistant starch and dietary fibers [86,235]. In Europe, rye grain forms a substantial portion of the human (as bread) and animal diet. In North America, rye is preferably grown as a cover crop or as pasture, and its grains are used in livestock feed and alcohol distillation. In drylands of southern Australia, it is grounded to prevent wind erosion. Furthermore, due to its sturdiness, it is also considered as a good pioneer crop to restore the fertility of waste lands [83]. Triticale (X Triticosecale Wittmack), a cross between durum wheat (AABB) and rye (RR) further signifies the stress tolerating ability of rye by producing relatively higher biomass and grain yield over the other cereals in dry and cold environments [114]. Through chromosome substitutions or translocations, important genes from rye have been exploited for the improvement of other cereals especially wheat. Crespo-Herrera et al. overviewed the rye's importance as a source of biotic stress tolerance [104]. One of the important examples signifying the pest resistance of rye is 1BL.1RS translocation in wheat. Rye chromosome arm 1RS carries savior genes conferring resistance to stem rust (Sr31), leaf rust (Lr26), powdery mildew (Pm8) and yellow rust (Yr9) [105–107]. Likewise, there are many other wheat-rye translocations harboring stress-resistance genes that aided in increasing the grain yield and the adaptation potential of bread wheat [109,236–238].

Rye offers a great potential for wheat improvement and should be further explored [115]. Assessing the genetic diversity in rye can aid in broadening the genetic base of rye, better accessing the important genes and easy gene bank management [239]. Genetic diversity analysis involves the comparison of accessions for their similarities and dissimilarities at the molecular level, to determine the degree of diversity present in the set of accessions. Mining a large collection of accessions could be costly and laborious. Therefore extracting a core set which represents a majority of the entire set's genetic diversity can be a promising methodology [75,124,240]. As, core set or mini core set eliminates redundancy, simplify the exploration of important genes and systematic utilization of germplasm in breeding programs [75].

Among the diploid species of Poaceae family, rye has the largest genome (~7.9 Gbps) [116] and about 90% of the genome is occupied by repetitive sequences [117]. Due to the genome complexity and coupled with regional cultivation, the rye genome has not been extensively studied, unlike other related cereals. Nonetheless, many important genetic diversity studies in rye have been conducted using different marker systems like SSR [94,118–122], AFLP [123], DArT [124,241] and recently SNPs [242]. Majority of these studies either used a limited number of markers covering a small portion of the genome or may have ascertainment bias. GBS (genotyping by sequencing) provides an opportunity for simultaneous SNP discovery across the genome and enables analysis of the genetic diversity, population structure and evolution processes in the crop species. Identifying gene(s) and linked molecular markers to important phenotypic traits could help in crop improvement through marker-assisted tracking of important traits in breeding and wide hybridization. Gene identification also helps in the understanding the molecular mechanism of gene action. Several genetic linkage maps have been developed in rye [243–246] and recently a draft sequence of the rye genome has been produced to facilitate the molecular characterization of economically important traits. Several genes/QTLs have been mapped in rye like plant height [247,248], length of spikes [248]

and the number of spikelets per spike [248], benzoxazinoid content, rust resistance, α amylase activity, and preharvest sprouting [249]. Further, the availability of large-scale SNP data will enable the characterization and mapping of the genes for important traits using genome wide associate studies (GWAS).

GWAS is based on a simple principle of linkage disequilibrium, tightly linked genes show low linkage disequilibrium (LD), and it is maintained over generations. On the other side, loosely linked loci, present distantly from each other are in linkage equilibrium [250]. GWAS has been used to characterize several economically important traits like yield, disease, pest resistance, and abiotic stress tolerance in many crop species such as rice [251–255], maize [256–262], barley [263–269], wheat

[270,271,280,281,272–279]. However, the ability to identify genes/QTLs and linked markers using GWAS has not been exploited in rye. In this study, an attempt was made to map genes/QTLs responsible for tan spot resistance using GWAS methodology. Tan spot is an important disease of wheat caused by a necrotrophic fungus *Pyrenophora tritici-repentis (PTR)* causing up to 49% yield loss during favorable conditions [172]. Previously we have reported that though rye can be infected with tan spot, there is a good degree of resistance *to PTR* race 1 and *PTR* race 5 in rye [282]. Identification of genes/QTLs for tan spot resistance in rye could facilitate the development of tan spot resistant wheat, rye and triticale varieties. In this study, we characterized the genetic diversity in the geographically diverse set of rye accessions to develop a mini core set for genetic improvement of rye and wheat. Further, we evaluated the potential of GWAS in identifying genes/QTL conferring resistance to *PTR* race 5 in rye.

4.3 Material and methods

4.3.1 Plant materials

We selected a set of 178 geographically diverse (70 countries) accessions of *Secale* sp. from the USDA National Small Grains Collection (NSGC). A majority of the accessions are from the Middle East (primary center of origin) and Europe (secondary center of origin) (Figure 4-1). Species-wise, 160 accessions are of cultivated rye (*Secale cereale* subsp. *cereale*), nine of wild *S. cereale* subsp., five of *S. strictum*, and two each of *S. sylvestre and S. vavilovi* (Appendix Table 1 and Appendix Table 2). Only *Secale cereale* subsp. *cereale* accessions were employed in developing a rye genome wide association mapping panel and extracting a mini core set.





core set was selected based on hierarchical clustering of 160 *Secale cereale* subsp. *cereale* accessions.

4.3.2 Genotyping and SNP discovery

For DNA isolation we collected young leaf tissues from three-week-old plants of each accession. After isolation of DNA by CTAB method [283], the DNA of each genotype was quantified and normalized to 20ng/ul. GBS was performed by following the double-digestion enzyme protocol on an Ion Proton system for next-generation sequencing [284] at USDA Central Small Grain Genotyping Lab, Manhattan KS. Briefly, the 20ul of thr normalized DNA from each accession was double-digested with restriction enzymes, *PstI* and *MspI* and labeled with two adapters [284,285]. Once the adapters were ligated, the samples were pooled together for PCR amplification and sequencing was done on two flow cells of an Ion Proton Next Generation Sequencer. Non-reference SNP calling was performed using TASSEL 3.0 Universal Network Enabled Analysis Kit (UNEAK) pipeline. Reference-based SNP calling was done with TASSEL 5; as a reference genome, a custom reference genome was constructed from rye genome assembly of 454 sequences available at Plant Genome and Systems Biology (PGSB) website (http://pgsb.helmholtz-muenchen.de/plant/rye/gz/download/) [286].

4.3.3 Population structure and genetic diversity

Basic genetic diversity indices: polymorphic information content (PIC) and Shanon's diversity index (I-index) were calculated. For each SNP, PIC value was calculated using the formulae:

$$PIC = 1 - (p^2 + q^2)$$

Where p and q correspond to the major and minor allele frequency [287]. I-Index for each marker was calculated as follow:

$$I = -\Sigma p_i log_2 p_i$$

Where p_i is the allele frequency of the ith allele at a particular locus [288]. Percentage dissimilarity based principal coordinate analysis (PCA) among and between the species was performed using R-package prcomp [289]. For comparison among accessions, a pairwise genetic dissimilarity (GD) matrix was computed using R-package ape [290]. GD was employed for hierarchical clustering and a neighbor-joining (NJ) tree was constructed using R-package fastcluster [291]. Finally, the tree was pictographically developed using an online tool, Tree of life (iTOL) [292].

Population structure among all *Secale* sp. accessions was analyzed using STRUCTURE software [293]. To decide an optimum number of clusters, we employed DeltaK method described by Evano *et al.* [294]. This method is based on a change in the log probability of the data in question, moving from successive K values. Cluster (K) with the highest value of DeltaK – the estimated likelihood [LnP (D)] – was preferred.

4.3.4 Mini core set of rye

A mini core set was extracted to represent the diversity of 160 accessions of *S cereale* subsp. *cereale*. The accessions were classified into distance based clusters. Accessions within a cluster are more similar to each other as compared to accessions in different clusters. From clusters containing less than 10 accessions, a single accession (best representing the corresponding cluster) was picked. Clusters with larger than 10 accessions were further sub-clustered such that each sub-cluster has less than 10

accessions. Then, the best accession among the sub-clusters of each cluster was selected based on PIC value of resulting mini core set after adding the tested accession.

4.3.5 Inoculations and evaluation of reaction to *Pyrenophora tritici repentis (PTR)* race 5

Seeds of each genotype were planted in three cones, three seeds in each cone (3.8 cm in diameter and 20 cm in length) and each cone considered as one replication. 6B662 and Salamouni were the respective susceptible and resistant checks. Till inoculation, plants were grown in a greenhouse at an average temperature of 21 °C and 16-hour photoperiod. At the second leaf stage, plants were inoculated with *PTR* race 5 by using spore suspension of 2500 spores/ml. Inoculated plants were moved to mist chamber (18 °C) for 24 hours and later grown for seven days in a greenhouse at 21 °C and 16 hours photoperiod. Seven days post-inoculation, disease lesions were rated on a qualitative scale of 1 to 5 [177]. On this scale, 1 is considered as resistant, 2 as moderately resistant, 3 moderately susceptible, and 4 and 5 as susceptible (Figure 4-7). The experiment was repeated twice while maintaining same growing conditions to ascertain consensus response to *PTR* race 5. For GWAS analysis the average of both experiments was used (Appendix Table S2).

4.3.6 GWAS analysis

Genome-wide association mapping for *PTR* race 5 resistance was primarily conducted using R package GAPIT (Genome Association and Prediction Integrated Tool) [295]. Three linear models were tested namely, GLM (Generalized Linear Model), MLM (Mixed Linear Model), and CMLM (compressed mixed linear model). GLM is based on the least square fixed effects; therefore we cannot use the information on the random effects [295]. MLM includes both fixed and random effects. Fixed effects in our case were the SNP marker effect and population structure, and the random effect is relatedness of the individuals (kinship). MLM model is mathematically denoted as:

$$y = X\beta + Zu + e$$

where y is the vector of phenotypic values (categorical values in our case), " β " is the vector containing fixed effects namely SNP effects and population structure (Q), "u" is the random effects vector, which in our case is random genetic effects from multiple background QTL not controlled by markers (kinship). "X" and "Z" are known incidence matrixes for corresponding vectors. Kinship matrix was calculated using GAPIT's kinship algorithm which is based on VanRaden method [296] and Q matrix was obtained using principal component analysis [297]. CMLM is just an extension of MLM, which clusters the individuals into groups and uses the group based kinship matrix rather than individual based [298]. We primarily focused on MLM. Markers with p-value < 1.0×10^{-3} or log (p-value) > 3 were considered to be significant. For confirmation of the significant markers, 5-fold jackknife method was employed [299]. Briefly, the entire set of 160 accessions was divided into five sub-groups and four groups were used for association analysis, each time leaving one random group out. Results were also compared with the results from TASSEL 5.0 [300].

4.3.7 Comparative analysis of rye and wheat

To study the synteny among wheat and rye chromosomes, specifically for genomic regions conferring resistance against *PTR* race 5 in rye, comparative analysis between the wheat genome and rye genome was conducted. Flanking sequence (150 base pair) of each 4,037 SNP including the candidate SNPs identified in marker-trait analysis (MTA) were

retrieved from the rye reference genome. The 300bp long sequence for each SNP was compared with IWGSC wheat genome assembly TGACv1 [301] (http://plants.ensembl.org/Triticum_aestivum/Info/Index), using BLASTn [302]. Finally, results were visualized using a Perl based software Circos [303].

4.4 Results

4.4.1 Genotype by sequencing-based genome-wide SNPs

We obtained a total of 178,598,329 reads from two GBS libraries prepared from 178 rye accessions. Using UNEAK pipeline in TASSEL we identified 20,928 SNPs with 80% or less missing genotypes, whereas, with the reference-based pipeline, 27,882 SNPs with 80% or less missing genotypes were identified. For further analysis, the reference based SNPs were used. On average each chromosome has 4,000 SNPs (Table 4-1), with maximum (5,505) on chromosome 5R and minimum (2,536) on the chromosome 6R. To keep only the most informative SNPs, we removed 7,113 markers with indel as one allele. The high-quality SNPs (4,037) with less than 20% missing genotypes, heterozygotes less than 40% and MAF (minimum allele frequency) above 5% were retained for further analysis. Interestingly, like the total identified SNPs, the filtered set of 4,037 SNPs were also distributed similarly on all of the 7 chromosomes, with an average per chromosome of 577 and maximum (734) on chromosome 5R and minimum (358) on chromosome 6R (Table 4-1).

Chromosome	Total SNPs	Filtered SNPs*
1R	3,468	504
2R	3,914	600
3R	3,916	605
4R	5,505	685
5R	4,774	734
6R	2,536	358
7R	3,892	551
Total	28,005	4,037

Table 4-1: SNPs discovered by genotyping-by-sequencing of 178 rye accessions along with their corresponding chromosome.

* SNPs with 20% or less missing genotypes, heterozygotes less than 40% and MAF >5%

4.4.2 Genetic variability in rye germplasm

The average PIC value for the 4,037 SNPs present in 160 *S. cereale* subsp. *cereale* accessions was 0.26 with a range from 0.09 to 0.5. A higher proportion of SNPs (38%) had PIC value ranging from 0.1 to 0.2, 26% had 0.2 to 0.3, 19% had 0.3 to 0.4, 14% had 0.4 to 0.5 and minimum, only 1% of the SNPs had PIC value of less than 0.1. PIC values for SNPs for each chromosome followed the similar pattern of distribution as genome-wide SNPs. Average PIC value for 1R, 3R and 5R was 0.27; 0.25 for 6R, 7R and 4R; and 0.26 for 2R (Fig 4-2). The Average I-index for 4,037 SNPs in 160 *S. cereale* subsp. *cereale* accessions was 0.48. Among wild species (18 accessions), average PIC value and I-index were 0.25 and 0.57 respectively.



Figure 4-2: Distribution of PIC values for SNPs (160 *Secale cereale* subsp. *cereale* accessions) corresponding to each chromosome of rye. X-axis: PIC value and Y-axis rye chromosomes. Violin plots show the density distribution of SNPs for the chromosome corresponding PIC values. Box plots represent first and third quartiles. Horizontal white bars are corresponding median PIC value and yellow dot stands for average PIC value.

The average percentage dissimilarity (GD) among the entire set of *S. cereale* subsp. *cereale* was 0.48, and it ranged from 0.26 to 0.63. Lowest GD (0.26) was found between two accessions namely SD_Sc150 and SD_Sc148. Highest GD (0.63) was found between SD_Sc195 and SD_Sc186. Average GD for individual chromosomes ranged from 0.46

to 0.49 (Figure 4-3). The average GD among wild species (18 accessions) was 0.51, and it ranged from 0.15 to 0.66. Among the wild species, SD_Sc330 (*S. sylvestre*) and SD_Sc322 (*S. vavilovii*) were the most diverse accessions, and SD_Sc330 (*S. sylvestre*) and SD_Sc331 (*S. sylvestre*) were the most similar accessions with 0.66 and 0.15 GD respectively. GD matrix based farthest Neighbor-joining phylogenetic tree (Figure 4-4) accurately clustered each of the three species namely *S. cereale*, *S. strictum*, and *S. sylvestre* into different clusters, except for SD_Sc323, the only spring type accession of *S. strictum*, which falls in a cluster of *S. cereale*. On the contrary, *S. vavilovii* clades were found scattered within the clusters of *S. cereale*. Spring type accession of *S. strictum*. *S. sylvestre* and *S. strictum* were found to be closely related to each as compared to *S. cereale*.



Figure 4-3: Distribution of pairwise dissimilarity values among *Secale cereale* subsp. *cereale* for the total number SNPs corresponding to each chromosome of rye. X-axis: pairwise dissimilarity (percentage) and Y-axis rye chromosomes. Violin plots show the density distribution of pairwise dissimilarities values. Box plots represent first and third quartiles. Horizontal white bars are corresponding median pairwise dissimilarity and yellow dot stands for average pairwise dissimilarity corresponding to each chromosome.



Figure 4-4: Pairwise dissimilarity based neighbor-joining tree. Mini core set (doted clades) representing all the major clusters of *Secale cereale* subsp. *cereale*. *S. strictum* and *S. sylvestre* clearly fall into different clusters. Accessions of *S. vavilovii* are present among the *S. cereale* cluster.

4.4.3 Population structure and principal component analysis (PCA)

Bayesian clustering (STRUCTURE) analysis was performed on the 178 *Secale* sp. accessions and the estimated likelihood [LnP (D)] was found to be greatest at K = 3, suggesting three major populations that explain a significant genetic variation. (Figure 4-5). Among all accessions, 67% (120) belongs to one of the three populations with more than 70% ancestry contributed by any one population. The three populations namely P1, P2, and P3 consisted of 66, 51, and three accessions respectively. 32% (58) of the accessions were admixtures, sharing ancestry (<20%) with two of the three populations. Among admixtures, P12 contains 55 accessions which have shared ancestry (P12) among P1 and P2, only P13 has three accessions sharing ancestry from P1 and P3. No accession shared significant ancestry (above 20%) between P2 and P3. Accessions of *S. cereale* subsp. were majorly found in P1, P2, and P12, whereas, P3 and P13 consisted of wild accessions of *Secale strictum* and *Secale sylvestre*.

The GD based PCA results were relatively consistent with the model-based population structuring (Figure 4-6A). First and second PCA explained 40% and 3% of the genetic diversity respectively. Main populations (P1, P2, and P3) are clearly separated in the diversity space. Admixtures, namely P12 and P23 lie between the corresponding populations with which they share ancestry. P3 mostly consist of wild species of *S. strictum* and *S. sylvestre* and is separated from rest of the evaluated accessions (Figure 4-6B). One accession of *S. strictum* was found in the population of *S. cereale* subsp.. Interestingly, this accession is the only spring type accession of *S. strictum*. We also found some *S. vavilovii* accessions in the *S. cereale* diversity space. Relationship of genetic clustering with growth habit (spring vs winter) and geographic origin was also

accessed. No strong association between genetic clustering and growth habit was observed as accessions from both types overlapped in the diversity space (Figure 4-6C). Similarly, no correlation was found between genetic clusters and the geographic regions (Fig 4-6D). Geographic regions were divided according to Bolibok- Bragoszewska *et al.*, dividing Europe into 5 regions: east, west, south, north and central; and combining other countries into corresponding broad geographic regions like Middle East, Asia, South America, North America, Australia, and Russia [124].



Figure 4-5: Model-based structure results (K=3) for 178 *Secale* sp. accessions presented as a barplot. Y-axis represents the estimated membership of individuals from populations. Each bar on X-axis represents one individual. Accessions are ordered according to the species and order is given in Appendix table 2.



Figure 4-6: Pairwise dissimilarity based PCA. First PCA (PC1) explains 40% of the genetic diversity and the second PCA explains 3%. A) Individuals are colored according to the populations determined by model-based structure results. B) Individuals are colored for corresponding *Secale* sp. C) Individuals are colored according to spring or winter type habit. D) Individuals are colored according to the geographic origin.

4.4.4 Mini core of rye

A mini core set of 32 accessions was extracted from 160 accessions of *S. cereale* subsp. *cereale* (PIC = 0.2518). Though the mini core size is only 20% of the entire set, it covered 99% of the allelic diversity of the entire set. We ensured accessions of mini core set covers all the main clusters, with a minimum of one accession from each cluster (Figure 4-4). Mini core also captured a large portion of the geographic diversity (27 countries) of the global collection (70 countries) by representing major geographic regions (Figure 4-1). The average PIC value and I-index of mini core set are not significantly (p < 0.01) different from the entire set (Table 4-2). Average GD is significantly (p < 0.01) higher among mini core accessions as compared to the global set (Table 4-2). Based on all the aforementioned results we eliminated the redundant accessions and established a core set by keeping only the diverse ones.

Table 4-2: Comparison of mini core set and global set of *Secale cereale* subsp. *cereale*

 for the diversity indices.

	Size	Average PIC	Average I-index [†]	Average GD‡
Global Set	160	0.26	0.60	0.48
Mini core set	32	0.25	0.59	0.51
T-test (p-value)		0.02	0.11	1.90e ⁻⁹⁰ *

†Shannon's diversity index ‡Pairwise genetic dissimilarity *Significant at $\alpha < 0.01$.

4.4.5 Reaction to Pyrenophora tritici repentis race 5 (PTR race 5)

All 178 accessions of *S. cereale* were evaluated for resistance to tan spot (*PTR* race 5), however, we performed GWAS analysis only on *S. cereale* subsp. *cereale* (160 accessions). We observed a variety of response to *PTR* race 5 inoculations with 31.8% (51) accessions being resistant (R -category 1), 26.9% (43) accessions moderately resistance (MR - category 2), 24.4% (39) moderately susceptible (MS - category 3) and another 16.8% (27) being susceptible (S) falling in category 4 and 5. As expected resistant check (Salamouni) showed resistant (Score - 1) response and the susceptible

check (6B662) produced chlorosis reaction with a score of 4 to 5. All these results were consistent in both experiments.



Figure 4-7: Tan spot lesions scoring, based on the 1 to 5 scale (Lamari and Bernier 1989). 1 – Resistant wheat *Salamouni* (check), 2 – Resistant rye, 3 – Moderately susceptible rye, 4 – Susceptible rye.

4.4.6 Marker-trait association (MTA) for tan spot (PTR race 5) resistance in rye

Out of the tested linear models, we focused on MLM, since individuals have a kinship as well as there is a population structure. The decision for statistically significant associated SNPs was based on a threshold of $< 1.0 \times 10^{-3}$ p-value. Following this criterion, we identified one region on chromosome 2R (*QTs.sdsu-2R*) and other on 5R (*QTs.sdsu-5R*) associated with resistance against *PTR* race 5. The two SNPs "*S5R_16433036*" (p=1.4 × 10⁻⁴) on chromosome 5R and "*S2R_6856816*" (p=4.5 × 10⁻⁴) on chromosome 2R explained 13.11 % and 11.62 % of the variation respectively (Figure 4-8). We further evaluated the consistency of our results by repeating the analysis with GLM, and CMLM (Figure 4-8) and the QTLs identified with the MLM algorithm showed significant associations with all other algorithms. Finally, we also validated the candidate SNPs

using 5K jackknife approach. Both significant markers, S5R_16433036 and

 $S2R_{6856816}$ were consistent in the five repetitions of 5K jackknife with a p-value = $< 1.0 \times 10^{-3}$.



Figure 4-8: Genome-wide association scan for tan spot (*PTR* race 5) resistance in rye. Three different model based Manhattan plots representing $-\log_{10}$ (p-value) for SNPs distributed across all of the 7 chromosomes of Rye. Y-axis: $-\log_{10}$ (p-value) and x-axis: Rye chromosomes. The dashed line stands as a threshold for significant markers with $-\log_{10}$ (p-value) of > 3 which correspond to a p-value of $<1 \times 10^{-3}$. Two reported SNPs of this study are pointed with arrows. SNP of 5R (*S5R_16433036*) and SNP of 2R (*S2R_6856816*) come significant in all of the tested models.

4.4.7 Comparative analysis with wheat

Syntenic analysis with wheat was mainly focused on comparing the QTLs identified in our study. The *QTs.sdsu-2R* mapped on rye chromosome 2R had a hit on a corresponding region of wheat group 2. A tan spot (*PTR* race 5) insensitivity gene (*tsc2*) has been reported in wheat on chromosome 2B. We could not perform a precise syntenic analysis due to unavailability of complete ordered assembly of rye genome. The chromosome 5R region (*QTs.sdsu-5R*, *S5R_16433036*) showed hit on the 4B chromosome of wheat although 5R has a great deal of syntenic with group 5 of wheat. However, no QTL or gene for tan spot resistance/insensitivity has been reported on 4B in wheat.

Overall, chromosomes 1, 2, and 5 were highly syntenic with corresponding wheat homeologous groups whereas other chromosomes of rye showed rearrangements as expected (Figure 4-9). Based on general syntenic analysis of all seven chromosomes of rye with seven homeologous groups (21 chromosomes) of wheat, broader pictures of synteny between the wheat genome and the rye genome was observed (Figure 4-9). Majority of chromosome 1R, 2R, 3R and 5R is syntenic to wheat homeologous group 1, 2, 3, and 5 chromosomes respectively. However, blocks of rye chromosome 4R showed synteny with wheat group 4, 6 and 7. Chromosome 6R is also syntenic to wheat group 6 and 3, though due to fewer markers for 6R synteny in not very clear. Chromosome 7R shared syntenic blocks with wheat group 5, 4, and 7.



Figure 4-9: Synteny between wheat genome (IWGSC RefSeq v1.0) and rye genome (1000bp flanking sequence of 4,037 SNPs). Black bars on rye chromosomes denotes SNP density. QTs.sdsu-5R and QTs.sdsu-2R are presented adjacent to their corresponding rye chromosomes. Red italics denotes the tan spot insensitivity genes (*tsn1*, *tsc1*, and *tsc2*)

and resistance genes (*tsr2*, *tsr3*, *tsr4*, and *tsr5*) adjacent to their corresponding wheat chromosomes.

4.5 Discussion

4.5.1 Genome coverage by SNPs

Assessing the genetic diversity in germplasm resources in addition to the morphological or physiological observations can help in better exploitation of germplasm for crop improvement. In rye, several diversity studies have been conducted using DNA based markers [94,118–123,242]. But due to laborious genotyping methods and technological limitations these studies were based on only limited number of markers such as 11 PCR-RFLPs [118]; 14 allozyme and 3 SSR [119]; 15 SSR [120], 24 SSR [94]; 20 isozyme loci, 14 ISSR, and 38 SSR [121]; 242 ISSRs and 169 RAPDs [122]; 779 AFLP [123], 576 SNPs [242]. Furthermore, the chromosomal position of these markers was not reported. To address this issue of anonymous and less number of markers, so far a single study has been conducted by Bolibok-Bragoszewska et al. [124]. Authors used 1,054 DArT markers, more or less equally distributed on all seven chromosomes of rye and concluded that these DArT markers provide a better picture of genetic diversity in the rye gene pool. This achievement can be attributed to the comparatively high number of markers used in this study as well as the distribution of markers on all the chromosomes of rye. In the present study, we employed genotype by sequencing (GBS) approach for even better coverage of the genome.

To our knowledge, this is the first report of double enzyme digestion-based GBS in rye. GBS being a next-generation sequencing based method along with large number SNPs, it also has its own advantages for high diversity species like rye. We discovered ~ 4000 Genome wide distributed polymorphic SNPs that covered a significant portion of the rye genome. All chromosomes have more or less equal number of SNPs except chromosome 6R, which has 358 SNPs, significantly lower than the average 576 SNPs identified per chromosome. For GBS, the discovery of markers is directly related to the genetic diversity of the genomic region, more diversity corresponds to a larger number of markers [304]. Based on this fact, it can be concluded that chromosome number 6R was likely less diverse as compared to the other rye chromosomes. This finding is in line with several previous studies that have concluded chromosome 6R to be genetically less diverse among rye germplasm [80,81,124,241]. Seeing the GBS advantage in analyzing diversity and GWAS, it's reasonable to state that once rye whole genome is sequenced, the NGS based genotyping methods such as GBS may yield even better coverage of the rye genome [80].

4.5.2 Diversity analysis

Diversity panel consisted of 160 accessions of *S. cereale* subsp. *cereale* and 18 accessions of wild relatives. We mainly focused on *S. cereale* subsp. *cereale* because it is the only cultivated species of rye. The average PIC value for all SNPs based on *Secale cereale* subsp. *cereale* is 0.26 with a range from 0.09 to 0.5. There are only few SNPs based genetic diversity studies in rye which leaves a narrow scope for comparison. Nevertheless, Varshney *et al* [305] identified 96 SNPs in rye based on eSNPs in barley and reported the average PIC value to be 0.32. As those markers were carefully and deliberately selected hence slightly high PIC value in that case as compared to our study. In comparison to genetic diversity studies based on DArT markers, PIC value in our study (0.26) is lower than the reported average of 0.38 [124]. Average PIC values rank
even higher in SSR marker-based studies 0.67 for 16 SSR markers [306] and 0.57 for 22 SSR markers [307]. This higher average value can be credited to multi-allelic fashion of the SSR markers as PIC for multi-allelic markers ranges from 0 to 1 but for bi-allelic markers such as SNPs, it ranges from 0 to 0.5 only. However, lower PIC values of SNPs can be overweighed by their enormous number and genome wide distribution thus giving a similar picture about the diversity. The PIC value for individual chromosomes was almost same with a range from 0.25 to 0.27. This indicates that the selected SNPs were not in bias with any of the chromosomes and polymorphic SNPs were evenly distributed on all of the seven chromosomes of rye.

Average GD values among *Secale cereale* subsp. *cereale* was 0.48 with a range from 0.26 to 0.63 and is comparable with other studies in rye. Shang *et al.* analyzed 30 wild and 47 cultivated accessions and found average GD to be 0.36 [94], whereas, Ma *et al.* reported dissimilarity among 42 rye accessions ranged from 0.036 to 0.565 [308]. DArT marker based study comparing different 378 accessions, reported the average GD to be 0.39 [124]. It is noteworthy to mention SD_Sc195 and SD_Sc186 accessions with highest dissimilarity index of 0.63. As these are the most diverse accessions, these may be of future interest for exploiting heterosis. Among wild species, the average GD is 0.51, higher as compared to cultivated species and it ranged from 0.15 to 0.66. This higher GD in wild species is in accordance with the expectation that wild species conserve larger diversity [124]. Therefore, wild species can further be exploited to infuse diversity into cultivated germplasm. In particular, SD_Sc330 (*Secale sylvestre*) and SD_Sc322 (*Secale vavilovii*) were the most diverse accessions.

Three clustering approaches, namely Bayesian clustering, PCA and Neighbor-Joining clustering, were tested to group individuals based on 4,037 SNPs. Results among all three methods were consistent. Bayesian clustering predicted 3 populations: P1, P2, and P3. P1 and P2 both consisted of S. cereale subsp. and S. vavilovii accessions; P3 consisted of S. sylvestre and S. strictum accessions. These clusters were apparent on PCA too. Different clustering of S. sylvestre and S. strictum from other species have been reported in most of the previous studies [241,308]. Genome composition of Secale sylvestre was 100% from the P3 population, whereas, S. strictum had about 10 to 20% from P1. Sharing of ancestry among some accessions of S. strictum and S. cereale subsp. group (P1) suggests the compatibility among S. strictum and cultivated species. This sharing of ancestry also supports the proposed idea that S. strictum is the potential ancestor of Secale cereale [87–90]. Unlike other wild Secale sp. S. vavilovii accessions were found among the clusters of S. cereale subsp. which is in accordance with previous reports [241,308], suggesting its classification needs to be revisited. Wild species of S. cereale cannot be separated out of the clusters of the S. cereale subsp. cereale in our study similar to previous studies [124], suggesting an active gene transfer among these species. After comparing geographic origin with genetic clusters, we found no correlation between them. Similarly, many studies based on different marker systems have also reported that geographic diversity does not correspond to the genetic clustering of the individuals [94,118,123,124]. This may be due to sharing of the common genetic background among the accessions being analyzed in each study as it is also observed by Bolibok-Bragoszewska et al. in 2014 [124].

In many studies on different crop species such as rye [308], triticale [309] and wheat [310] it has been reported that vernalization requirement can lead to population divergence. After comparing genetic clustering with growth habit (winter vs spring), we did not identify any substantial association between growth habit and vernalization requirement. The germplasm being tested had some facultative genotypes, reported to behave as winter or spring type but that was not demonstrated by the genetic clustering. In conclusion, we did not observe any strong association of genetic clustering with geographic origin or growth habit. With the available data, the P3 population was clearly explained as wild-type *S. strictum* and *S. sylvestre* but P1 and P2 are clusters within the S. *cereale* subsp., these two clusters were not linked to any of the physiological or geographical data available.

4.5.3 Mini Core representing the global set

Most of the plant genetic resources are preserved as accessions in the form of gene banks [68]. Number of accessions for particular species may go up to thousands. Owing to the large number of accessions, management in gene banks and utilization by breeders has always been a challenge [68]. One of the strategies to handle such large number of accessions is a mini core collection (MC). The concept of mini core collections implies to keep as few diverse accessions as possible from the full collection which can represent the genetic diversity of full set to the best [69,70,75]. Based on that concept there are mini core collections for number of crops including wheat [71,72], rice [73], maize [74], soybean [68], and rye [307]. Adding one more collection to that list, we identified a mini core set of 32 accessions representing genetic (99% alleles) and geographic diversity (all major regions) of 160 accessions of *S. cereale* subsp. *cereale*. PIC value and Shanon's

diversity index of mini core is comparable to the total set while average GD is significantly higher than the total set. Thus, the mini core consists of very diverse accessions carrying similar information as the whole set. This mini core set can be easily and efficiently exploited for rye or wheat improvement. X. *Triticosecale* novel accessions developed based on these 32 accessions can make a very diverse set, which can be used for gene mining and mobilizing genes into wheat germplasm. Also, out of the 160 accessions analyzed in this study, preservation of 32 accessions in, mini core set could reduce the conservation cost still retaining 99% of the allelic diversity.

4.5.4 Identification of potential genomic regions conferring tan spot (*PTR* race 5) resistance

Rye is known for its resilience to the abiotic and biotic stress tolerance [307] and it has contributed number important genes into wheat germplasm [104,106,107,311]. For the improvement of rye germplasm and for efficient gene transfer to other crops like wheat, characterization, and mapping of the important genes is a most critical step. In this study, we performed GWAS using 160 accessions of *Secale cereale* subsp. *cereale* to demonstrate the utility of the rye collection and the genotyping information obtained from GBS. Using this panel two potential loci conferring resistance to *PTR* race 5 were mapped. The two SNPs (*S2R_6856816*" on chromosome 2 and "*S5R_16433036*" on chromosome 5) collectively explained 24.73% of the phenotypic variation using MLM and were consistent using other two models (GLM and CMLM). Though in our earlier study [282] we reported that rye carries good resistance to tan spot, however, no QTLs for tan spot resistance have been earlier reported in rye.

Syntenic analysis of rye and wheat revealed that the significant marker linked to tan spot resistance on chromosome 2R is homologous to chromosome group 2 of wheat. On wheat chromosome 2B, major insensitivity gene *tsc2* has been located by Friesen and Faris [183]. In the same study they found several minor *PTR* race 5 related QTLs such as QTS.fcu-2A (PTR race 5) on chromosome 2A [170,183] and in a recent GWAS analysis for *PTR* race 1 Juliana *et al.* mapped QTL on chromosome 2A [312]. Thus these reports suggest that wheat group 2 chromosomes harbor *PTR* resistance related genes, and it's possible that our QTL QTs.sdsu-2R in rye may be a homologous counterpart of tsc2 or other tan spot resistance QTLs discovered on chromosome group 2 of wheat. However, the precise syntenic analysis was limited by the incomplete genome assembly of rye. QTL QTs.sdsu-5R had a most significant hit on chromosome 4B of wheat. Though most of the chromosome 5R of rye is syntenic to chromosome group 5 of wheat, a small segment also hits a region on chromosome 4B which also includes our candidate SNP. So far no QTL/gene related to tan spot resistance or insensitivity has been reported on chromosome 4B of wheat. Thus, QTs.sdsu-5R may harbor novel genes for PTR race 5 resistance. The QTLs identified in our study can be easily transferred using linked SNPs into wheat and triticale for improving tan spot resistance in these crops. Using similar approach genes/QTLs controlling agronomic; biotic and abiotic stress tolerance can be mapped in rye and mobilized for triticale and wheat.

4.6 Conclusions

Our study reports the first genetic diversity analysis in rye which is based on more than 4,000 genome-wide distributed markers. We developed a mini core set of 32 accessions that retains ~99% of the allelic diversity. These accessions can be used for triticale and

wheat improvement. Genetic clustering was neither linked with geographic origins and nor with growth habit, suggesting individuals shared a common genetic background due to germplasm exchange and no major genomic changes happened due to vernalization requirements. Further, demonstrating the use of GWAS in rye we identified two genomic regions conferring resistance to tan spot (*PTR* race 5) in rye and the linked SNPs *S5R_16433036* (*QTs.sdsu-5R*) and *S2R_6856816* (*QTs.sdsu-2R*) can be utilized for marker-assisted breeding for tan spot resistance genes.

LITERATURE CITED

- von Braun J. The world food situation: New driving forces and required actions.
 Food Policy. 2007; 18. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.2499/0896295303
- Rosegrant MW, Agcaoili M. Global food demand, supply, and price prospects to 2010. Int Food Policy Res Institute, Washington, DC USA. 2010;
- Ray DK, Ramankutty N, Mueller ND, West PC, Foley JA. Recent patterns of crop yield growth and stagnation. Nat Commun. 2012;3: 1293. doi:10.1038/ncomms2296
- Tester M, Langridge P. Breeding Technologies to Increase Crop Production in a Changing World Linked references are available on JSTOR for this article : Breeding Technologies to Increase Crop Production in a Changing World. 2016;327: 818–822.
- Kihara H. Discovery of the DD-analyser, one of the ancestors of *Triticum vulgare* (abstr). Agric Hortic. 1944;19: 889–890.
- 6. McFadden ES, Sears ER. The artificial synthesis of *Triticum spelta*. 1944.
- Zhang H, Mittal N, Leamy LJ, Barazani O, Song BH. Back into the wild—Apply untapped genetic diversity of wild relatives for crop improvement. Evol Appl. 2017;10: 5–24. doi:10.1111/eva.12434
- Nevo E, Chen G. Drought and salt tolerances in wild relatives for wheat and barley improvement. Plant, Cell Environ. 2010;33: 670–685. doi:10.1111/j.1365-3040.2009.02107.x

- 9. Munns R, James RA. Screening methods for salinity tolerance: a case study with tetraploid wheat. Plant Soil. Springer; 2003;253: 201–218.
- Biswas DK, Xu H, Li YG, Liu MZ, Chen YH, Sun JZ, et al. Assessing the genetic relatedness of higher ozone sensitivity of modern wheat to its wild and cultivated progenitors/relatives. J Exp Bot. 2008;59: 951–963. doi:10.1093/jxb/ern022
- 11. Curtis BC. Wheat in the world. Bread wheat: Improvement and production. ^TBread wheat Improv Prod BC Rajaram, S Gómez Macpherson, H^ARome (Italy)^BFAO^C2002. 2002; Available: http://www.sidalc.net/cgibin/wxis.exe/?IsisScript=CIMMYT.xis&method=post&formato=2&cantidad=1&e xpresion=mfn=034763
- Alexandratos N, Bruinsma J. World agriculture towards 2030/2050. Land use policy. 2012;20: 375. doi:10.1016/S0264-8377(03)00047-4
- World Food Programme. Number Of World's Hungry Tops A Billion | WFP |
 United Nations World Food Programme Fighting Hunger Worldwide [Internet].
 [cited 30 Oct 2017]. Available: http://www.wfp.org/stories/number-world-hungry-tops-billion
- 14. USDA. World Agricultural Production. Circ Ser May 2014. 2017; 1–29. doi:Circular Series WAP 05-17
- Haider N. Evidence for the origin of the B genome of bread wheat based on chloroplast DNA. Turkish J Agric For. 2012;36: 13–25. doi:10.3906/tar-1011-1394

- Padulosi S, Hammer K, Heller J. Hulled Wheats: Proceedings of the First International Workshop on Hulled Wheats, 21-22 July 1995, Castelvecchio Pascoli, Tuscany, Italy. Bioversity International; 1996.
- Feldman M, Kislev ME. Domestication of emmer wheat and evolution of freethreshing tetraploid wheat. Isr J Plant Sci. 2007;55: 207–221. doi:10.1560/IJPS.55.3-4.207
- CWR. CWR » What is a genepool? [Internet]. [cited 30 Oct 2017]. Available: https://www.cwrdiversity.org/about/what-is-a-genepool/
- Harlan JR, de Wet JMJ. Toward a rational classification of cultivated plants. Taxon. JSTOR; 1971; 509–517.
- Jiang J, Friebe B, Gill BS. Recent advances in alien gene transfer in wheat. Euphytica. Springer; 1993;73: 199–212.
- 21. Cox TS. Deepening the wheat gene pool. J Crop Prod. Taylor & Francis; 1997;1:1–25.
- Chaudhary HK, Kaila V, Rather SA. Chapter · October 2013. 2013; doi:10.1007/978-1-4614-9572-7
- Dvorák J, Terlizzi P, Zhang HB, Resta P. The evolution of polyploid wheats: identification of the A genome donor species. Genome / Natl Res Counc Canada. 1993;36: 21–31. doi:10.1139/g93-004
- 24. Matsuoka Y. Evolution of polyploid *Triticum* wheats under cultivation: The role of domestication, natural hybridization and allopolyploid speciation in their

diversification. Plant Cell Physiol. 2011;52: 750-764. doi:10.1093/pcp/pcr018

- 25. Özkan H, Brandolini A, Schäfer-Pregl R, Salamini F. AFLP analysis of a collection of tetraploid wheats indicates the origin of emmer and hard wheat domestication in southeast Turkey. Mol Biol Evol. Oxford University Press; 2002;19: 1797–1801.
- 26. Faris JD, Friesen TL. Identification of quantitative trait loci for race-nonspecific resistance to tan spot in wheat. Theor Appl Genet. Springer; 2005;111: 386–392.
- 27. Wunder EJ. A reconsideration of the domestication geography of tetraploid wheats. 2005; 1052–1060. doi:10.1007/s00122-005-1925-8
- Mori N. Origins of domesticated emmer and common wheat inferred from chloroplast DNA fingerprinting. Tenth International Wheat Genetics Symposium, 2003. 2003. pp. 25–28.
- 29. An D, Zheng Q, Luo Q, Ma P, Zhang H, Li L, et al. Molecular Cytogenetic Identification of a New Wheat-Rye 6R Chromosome Disomic Addition Line with Powdery Mildew Resistance. PLoS One. Public Library of Science; 2015;10: e0134534. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0134534
- Salamini F, Ozkan H, Brandolini A, Schäfer-Pregl R, Martin W. Genetics and geography of wild cereal domestication in the near east. Nat Rev Genet. 2002;3: 429–441. doi:10.1038/nrg817
- 31. Zohary D, Hopf M, Weiss E. Domestication of Plants in the Old World: The origin and spread of domesticated plants in Southwest Asia, Europe, and the

Mediterranean Basin. Oxford University Press on Demand; 2012.

- Spoor W. Zohary D, Hopf M. 2000. Domestication of plants in the Old World. 3rd edn. 316pp. New York: Oxford University Press.£19.95 (softback). No longer published by Elsevier; 2001.
- 33. Oliveira HR, Campana MG, Jones H, Hunt H V, Leigh F, Redhouse DI, et al. Tetraploid Wheat Landraces in the Mediterranean Basin : Taxonomy , Evolution and Genetic Diversity. 2012;7. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0037063
- Feldman M. Feldman M, Kislev ME.. Domestication of emmer wheat and evolution of free-threshing tetraploid wheat . Isr J Plant Sci 55 ... 2007; doi:10.1560/IJPS.55.3-4.207
- 35. Zhou Y, He ZH, Sui XX, Xia XC, Zhang XK, Zhang GS. Genetic improvement of grain yield and associated traits in the Northern China Winter Wheat Region from 1960 to 2000. Crop Sci. 2007;47: 245–253. doi:10.2135/cropsci2006.03.0175
- 36. Dvorak JGWJ. The structure of wild and domesticated emmer wheat populations, gene X ow between them, and the site of emmer domestication. 2007; 947–959.
 doi:10.1007/s00122-006-0474-0
- Dorofeev VF. Geographic localization and gene centers of hexaploid wheats in Transcaucasia. Genetika. 1966;3: 16–33.
- Resources G, Evolution C, Aghai MJ, Mozafari J, Agricultural H. Durum wheat cultivation associated with *Aegilops tauschii* in northern Iran in northern Iran.
 2008; doi:10.1007/s10722-007-9290-x

- Dvorak J. Evolution of free-threshing and hulled forms of *Triticum aestivum*: old problems and new tools. Wheat Taxon Leg John Percival. Academic Press; 2001; 127–136.
- 40. Kuckuck H. On the origin of *Triticum carthlicum* Neyski (= *Triticum persicum* Vav.). Wheat Inf Serv. 1979;50: 1–5.
- 41. Naz AA, Kunert A, Lind V, Pillen K, Léon J. AB-QTL analysis in winter wheat:
 II. Genetic analysis of seedling and field resistance against leaf rust in a wheat advanced backcross population. Theor Appl Genet. 2008;116: 1095–1104.
 doi:10.1007/s00122-008-0738-y
- 42. Ma H, Singh RP, Mujeeb-Kazi A. Resistance to stripe rust in *Triticum turgidum*,
 T. *tauschii* and their synthetic hexaploids. Euphytica. Springer; 1995;82: 117–124.
- 43. Aseefa S, Fhrmann H. New Sources of Wheat Yellow Rust Resistance. 2014;
- Rizwan S, Ahmad I, Ashraf M, Sahi GM, Mirza JI, Ratto A, et al. New sources of wheat yellow rust (*Puccinia striiformis* f. *tritici*) seedling resistance. Pakistan J Bot. 2007;39: 595.
- 45. Arraiano LS, Worland AJ, Ellerbrook C, Brown JKM. Chromosomal location of a gene for resistance to septoria tritici blotch (*Mycosphaerella graminicola*) in the hexaploid wheat "Synthetic 6x." Theor Appl Genet. 2001;103: 758–764. doi:10.1007/s001220100668
- 46. Berzonsky WA, Hartel KD, Kianian SF, Leach GD. Registration of four synthetic hexaploid wheat germplasm lines with resistance to *Fusarium* head blight. Crop

Sci. Crop Science Society of America; 2004;44: 1500–1502.

- 47. Nicholson P, Rezanoor HN, Worland AJ. Chromosomal location of resistance to *Septoria nodorum* in a synthetic hexaploid wheat determined by the study of chromosomal substitution lines in 'Chinese Spring'wheat. Plant Breed. Wiley Online Library; 1993;110: 177–184.
- Loughman R, Lagudah ES, Trottet M, Wilson RE, Mathews A. Septoria nodorum blotch resistance in Aegilops tauschii and its expression in synthetic amphiploids. Aust J Agric Res. CSIRO; 2001;52: 1393–1402.
- 49. Lage J, Skovmand B, Andersen SB. Field evaluation of emmer wheat-derived synthetic hexaploid wheat for resistance to Russian wheat aphid (Homoptera: Aphididae). J Econ Entomol. BioOne; 2004;97: 1065–1070.
- Lage J, Skovmand B, Andersen SB. Expression and suppression of resistance to greenbug (Homoptera: Aphididae) in synthetic hexaploid wheats derived from *Triticum dicoccum × Aegilops tauschii* crosses. J Econ Entomol. BioOne; 2003;96: 202–206.
- 51. Vita P De, Li O, Nicosia D, Nigro F, Platani C, Riefolo C, et al. Breeding progress in morpho-physiological, agronomical and qualitative traits of durum wheat cultivars released in Italy during the 20th century. 2007;26: 39–53. doi:10.1016/j.eja.2006.08.009
- UN.A.F.P.A. UN.A.F.P.A. [Internet]. 2015 [cited 30 Oct 2017]. Available: http://www.pasta-unafpa.org/ingstatistics5.htm

- 53. van Ginkel M, Ogbonnaya F. Using synthetic wheats to breed cultivars better adapted to changing production conditions. F Crop Res. 2007;104: 86–94.
- 54. Mujeeb-Kazi A. New genetic stocks for durum and bread wheat improvement.
 Tenth International Wheat Genetics Symposium, Paestum, Italy. 2003. pp. 772– 774.
- 55. Cebert E. Genetic analysis of Hessian fly resistance of durum wheat lines PI59190 and CI3146. 1998;
- 56. Fernandes MIB de M, Zanatta ACA, Prestes AM, Caetano V da R, Barcellos AL, Angra DC, et al. Cytogenetics and immature embryo culture at Embrapa Trigo breeding program: transfer of disease resistance from related species by artificial resynthesis of hexaploid wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L. em. Thell). Genet Mol Biol. SciELO Brasil; 2000;23: 1051–1062.
- 57. Oliver RE, Cai X, Xu SS, Chen X, Stack RW. Wheat-alien species derivatives: A novel source of resistance to *Fusarium* head blight in wheat. Crop Sci. 2005;45: 1353–1360. doi:10.2135/cropsci2004.0503
- Carmona S, Alvarez JB, Caballero L. Genetic diversity for morphological traits and seed storage proteins in Spanish rivet wheat. Biol Plant. 2010;54: 69–75. doi:10.1007/s10535-010-0010-6
- 59. Percival J. The Wheat plants. a Monograph. Duckworth, London; 1921.
- 60. Brouwer W. Handbuch des speziellen Pflanzenbaues: in 2 Bänden. Parey; 1972.
- 61. Grausgruber H, Oberforster M, Ghambashidze G, Ruckenbauer P. Yield and

agronomic traits of Khorasan wheat (*Triticum turanicum* Jakubz.). F Crop Res. 2005;91: 319–327. doi:10.1016/j.fcr.2004.08.001

- 62. Khlestkina EK, Röder MS, Grausgruber H, Börner A. A DNA fingerprinting-based taxonomic allocation of Kamut wheat. Plant Genet Resour. Cambridge University Press; 2006;4: 172–180.
- 63. Eticha F, Belay G, Bekele E. Species diversity in wheat landrace populations from two regions of Ethiopia. Genet Resour Crop Evol. 2006;53: 387–393.
 doi:10.1007/s10722-004-6095-z
- 64. Rajaram S, Dubin HJ. Can yield potential of wheat be increased? CIMMYT; 1999;
- 65. Oliver RE, Cai X, Friesen TL, Halley S, Stack RW, Xu SS. Evaluation of *Fusarium* head blight resistance in tetraploid wheat (L.). Crop Sci. Crop Science Society of America; 2008;48: 213–222.
- 66. Mosulishvili M, Bedoshvili D, Maisaia I. A consolidated list of *Triticum* species and varieties of Georgia to promote repatriation of local diversity from foreign genebanks. Ann Agrar Sci. Elsevier Ltd; 2017;15: 61–70. doi:10.1016/j.aasci.2017.02.006
- 67. Van Slageren MW. Wild Wheats: A Monograph of *Aegilops* L. and *Amblypyrum* (Jaub. & Spach) Eig (Poaceae). Agricultural University Wageningen; 1994.
- Guo Y, Li Y, Hong H, Qiu LJ. Establishment of the integrated applied core collection and its comparison with mini core collection in soybean (*Glycine max*). Crop J. Crop Science Society of China and Institute of Crop Sciences, CAAS;

- 69. Brown AHD. Core collections: a practical approach to genetic resources management. Genome. 1989;31: 818–824. doi:10.1139/g89-144
- Frankel OH, Brown AHD. Current plant genetic resources--a critical appraisal.
 Genetics: new frontiers : proceedings of the XV International Congress of Genetics
 / editors, V.L. Chopra ... [et al.]. New Delhi : Oxford & IBH Publishing Co.,
 c1984.; 1984.
- Dong YS, Cao YS, Zhang XY, Liu SC, Wang LF, You GX, et al. Establishment of candidate core collections in Chinese common wheat germplasm. J Plant Genet Resour. 2003;1: 1.
- Hao C, Dong Y, Wang L, You G, Zhang H, Ge H, et al. Genetic diversity and construction of core collection in Chinese wheat genetic resources. Chinese Sci Bull. 2008;53: 1518–1526. doi:10.1007/s11434-008-0212-x
- 73. Zhang H, Zhang D, Wang M, Sun J, Qi Y, Li J, et al. A core collection and mini core collection of *Oryza sativa* L. in China. Theor Appl Genet. 2011;122: 49–61. doi:10.1007/s00122-010-1421-7
- 74. Li Y, Shi Y, Cao Y, Wang T. Establishment of a core collection for maize germplasm preserved in Chinese National Genebank using geographic distribution and characterization data. Genet Resour Crop Evol. Springer; 2005;51: 845–852.
- 75. Upadhyaya HD, Ortiz R. A mini core subset for capturing diversity and promoting utilization of chickpea genetic resources in crop improvement. Theor Appl Genet.

2001;102: 1292–1298. doi:10.1007/s00122-001-0556-y

- 76. Etminan A, Mohammadi R, Moradi Z, Mahdavian Z, Noori A, Branch K, et al. Evaluation of genetic diversity in a mini core collection of. 2017;27. Available: http://www.thejaps.org.pk/docs/Accepted/2007/27-5/11AG.pdf
- Figliuolo G, Jones SS, Murray TD, Spagnoletti Zeuli PL. Characterization of tetraploid wheat germplasm for resistance to *Pseudocercosporella herpotrichoides*, cause of eyespot disease. Genet Resour Crop Evol. 1998;45: 47–56. doi:10.1023/A:1008694113138
- 78. Santra M, Matthews SB, Thompson HJ. Development of a core collection of *Triticum* and *Aegilops* species for improvement of wheat for activity against chronic diseases. Agric Food Secur. 2013;2: 4. doi:10.1186/2048-7010-2-4
- 79. Sanguineti MC, Li S, Maccaferri M, Corneti S, Rotondo F, Chiari T, et al. Genetic dissection of seminal root architecture in elite durum wheat germplasm. Ann Appl Biol. Blackwell Publishing Ltd; 2007;151: 291–305. doi:10.1111/j.1744-7348.2007.00198.x
- Bauer E, Schmutzer T, Barilar I, Mascher M, Gundlach H, Martis MM, et al. Towards a whole-genome sequence for rye (*Secale cereale* L.). Plant J. 2016; doi:10.1111/tpj.13436
- Martis MM, Zhou R, Haseneyer G, Schmutzer T, Vrána J, Kubaláková M, et al. Reticulate Evolution of the Rye Genome. Plant Cell. 2013;25: 3685–3698. doi:10.1105/tpc.113.114553

- FAOSTAT. FAOSTAT [Internet]. 2004 [cited 30 Oct 2017]. Available: http://www.fao.org/faostat/en/#data/QC/visualize
- Bushuk W. Rye production and uses worldwide. Cereal Foods World. 2001;46: 70–73.
- Vinkx CJA, Delcour JA. Rye (*Secale cereale* L.) Arabinoxylans: A Critical Review. J Cereal Sci. 1996;24: 1–14. doi:10.1006/jcrs.1996.0032
- Meuser F, Brummer JM, Seibel W. Bread varieties in central Europe. Cereal foods world. 1994;
- 86. Andersson R, Fransson G, Tietjen M, Åman P. Content and molecular-weight distribution of dietary fiber components in whole-grain rye flour and bread. J Agric Food Chem. 2009;57: 2004–2008. doi:10.1021/jf801280f
- Zohary D. Orgin of south-west Asiatic cereals: wheats, barley, oats and rye. Plant life south-west Asia. 1971; 235–263.
- Sencer HA, Hawkes JG. On the origin of cultivated rye. Biol J Linn Soc. 1980;13: 299–313. doi:10.1111/j.1095-8312.1980.tb00089.x
- 89. Khush GS, Stebbins GL. Cytogenetic and evolutionary studies in *Secale*. I. Some new data on the ancestry of *S. cereale*. Am J Bot. JSTOR; 1961; 723–730.
- 90. Bustos a De, Jouve N. Phylogenetic relationships of the genus *Secale* based on the characterisation of rDNA ITS sequences. Plant Syst Evol. 2002;235: 147–154. doi:10.1007/s00606-002-0215-z
- 91. Helbaek H. origin and migration of rye, Secale cereale L.; a palaeo-ethnobotanical

study. Plant Life South west Asia. 1971;

- Roshevitz RY. A monograph of the wild, weedy and cultivated species of rye.
 Acta Inst Bot Nomine Acad Sci USSR Ser. 1947;1: 105–163.
- 93. Frederiksen S, Petersen G. A taxonomic revision of *Secale* (Triticeae, Poaceae).
 Nord J Bot. Wiley Online Library; 1998;18: 399–420.
- 94. Shang HY, Wei YM, Wang XR, Zheng YL. Genetic diversity and phylogenetic relationships in the rye genus *Secale* L. (rye) based on *Secale cereale* microsatellite markers. Genet Mol Biol. 2006; doi:10.1590/S1415-47572006000400018
- 95. Li Y, Böck A, Haseneyer G, Korzun V, Wilde P, Schön C-C, et al. Association analysis of frost tolerance in rye using candidate genes and phenotypic data from controlled, semi-controlled, and field phenotyping platforms. BMC Plant Biol. 2011;11: 146. doi:10.1186/1471-2229-11-146
- 96. Hömmö LM. Hardening of Some Winter Wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.), Rye (*Secale* cereals L.), Triticale (X *Triticosecale* Wittmack) and Winter Barley (*Hordeum vulgare* L.) Cultivars During Autumn and the Final Winter Survival in Finland. Plant Breed. Wiley Online Library; 1994;112: 285–293.
- 97. Fowler DB, Limin AE. Exploitable genetic-variability for cold tolerance in commercially grown cereals. Canadian Journal of Plant Science. 1987. p. 278.
- 98. Siminovitch D, Cloutier Y. Twenty-four-hour induction of freezing and drought tolerance in plumules of winter rye seedlings by desiccation stress at room

temperature in the dark. Plant Physiol. 1982;69: 250-5. doi:10.1104/pp.69.1.250

- GORHAM J. Salt Tolerance in the Triticeae: Ion Discrimination in Rye and Triticale. J Exp Bot. 1990;41: 609–614. doi:10.1093/jxb/41.5.609
- Bishnoi UR, Pancholy DK. Comparative salt tolerance in triticale, wheat and rye during germination. Plant Soil. 1980;55: 491–493. doi:10.1007/BF02182708
- 101. Li XF, Ma JF, Matsumoto H. Pattern of aluminum-induced secretion of organic acids differs between rye and wheat. Plant Physiol. 2000;123: 1537–1544.
 doi:10.1104/pp.123.4.1537
- 102. de Sousa A, AbdElgawad H, Han A, Teixeira J, Matos M, Fidalgo F. Oxidative Metabolism of Rye (*Secale cereale* L.) after Short Term Exposure to Aluminum: Uncovering the Glutathione–Ascorbate Redox Network. Front Plant Sci. 2016;7: 1–17. doi:10.3389/fpls.2016.00685
- 103. Abd El-Moneim D, Contreras R, Silva-Navas J, Gallego FJ, Figueiras AM, Benito C. On the consequences of aluminium stress in rye: Repression of two mitochondrial malate dehydrogenase mRNAs. Plant Biol. 2015;17: 123–133. doi:10.1111/plb.12219
- 104. Crespo-Herrera LA, Garkava-Gustavsson L, Åhman Inger. A systematic review of rye (*Secale cereale* L.) as a source of resistance to pathogens and pests in wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.). Hereditas. Hereditas; 2017;154: 1–9. doi:10.1186/s41065-017-0033-5
- 105. Mago R, Spielmeyer W, Lawrence GJ, Lagudah ES, Ellis JG, Pryor A.

Identification and mapping of molecular markers linked to rust resistance genes located on chromosome 1RS of rye using wheat-rye translocation lines. Theor Appl Genet. 2002;104: 1317–1324. doi:10.1007/s00122-002-0879-3

- 106. Friebe B, Jiang J, Raupp WJ, McIntosh RA, Gill BS. Characterization of wheatalien translocations conferring resistance to diseases and pests: current status. Euphytica. Springer; 1996;91: 59–87.
- 107. Mohler V, Hsam SLK, Zeller FJ, Wenzel G. An STS marker distinguishing the rye-derived powdery mildew resistance alleles at the Pm8/Pm17 locus of common wheat. Plant Breed. Wiley Online Library; 2001;120: 448–450.
- 108. Kumlay AM, Baenziger PS, Gill KS, Shelton DR, Graybosch RA, Lukaszewski
 AJ, et al. Understanding the effect of rye chromatin in bread wheat. Crop Sci.
 2003;43: 1643–1651. doi:10.2135/cropsci2003.1643
- 109. Kim W, Johnson JW, Baenziger PS, Lukaszewski AJ, Gaines CS. Agronomic effect of wheat-rye translocation carrying rye chromatin (1R) from different sources. Crop Sci. 2004;44: 1254–1258. doi:10.2135/cropsci2004.1254
- Villareal RL, Bañuelos O, Mujeeb-Kazi A, Rajaram S. Agronomic performance of chromosomes 1B and T1BL. 1RS near-isolines in the spring bread wheat Seri M82. Euphytica. Springer; 1998;103: 195–202.
- 111. Rabinovich S V. Importance of wheat-rye translocations for breeding modern cultivar of *Triticum aestivum* L. Euphytica. Springer; 1998;100: 323–340.
- 112. Monneveux P, Reynolds MP, Zaharieva M, Mujeeb-Kazi A. Effect of T1BL. 1RS

chromosome translocation on bread wheat grain yield and physiological related traits in a warm environment. Cereal Res Commun. JSTOR; 2003; 371–378.

- 113. Karki D, Iii WW, Berzonsky WA, Glover KD. Investigating Physiological and Morphological Mechanisms of Drought Tolerance in Wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L .) Lines with 1RS Translocation. 2014; 1936–1944. doi:10.4236/ajps.2014.513207
- 114. Ammar, K., Mergoum, M., Rajaram S. The history and evolution of triticale.Triticale Improv Prod. 2004; 1–10. doi:92-5-105182-8
- Saulescu NN, Ittu G, Ciuca M, Ittu M, Serban G, Mustatea P, et al. Transferring useful rye genes to wheat, using triticale as a bridge. Czech J Genet Plant Breed. 2011;47: 56–62.
- 116. Bartoš J, Paux E, Kofler R, Havránková M, Kopecký D, Suchánková P, et al. A first survey of the rye (*Secale cereale*) genome composition through BAC end sequencing of the short arm of chromosome 1R. BMC Plant Biol. 2008;8: 95. doi:10.1186/1471-2229-8-95
- 117. Flavell RB, Bennett MD, Smith JB, Smith DB. Genome size and the proportion of repeated nucleotide sequence DNA in plants. Biochem Genet. Springer; 1974;12: 257–269.
- 118. Isik Z, Parmaksiz I, Coruh C, Geylan-Su YS, Cebeci O, Beecher B, et al. Organellar genome analysis of rye (*Secale cereale*) representing diverse geographic regions. Genome. 2007;50: 724–34. doi:10.1139/g07-052
- 119. Burger JC, Lee S, Ellstrand NC. Origin and genetic structure of feral rye in the

western United States. Mol Ecol. 2006;15: 2527–2539. doi:10.1111/j.1365-294X.2006.02938.x

- 120. Fu S, Tang Z, Ren Z, Zhang H, Yan B. Isolation of rye-specific DNA fragment and genetic diversity analysis of rye genus *Secale* L. using wheat SSR markers. J Genet. 2010;89: 489–492. doi:10.1007/s12041-010-0070-6
- 121. Bolibok H, Rakoczy-Trojanowska M, Hromada A, Pietrzykowski R. Efficiency of different PCR-based marker systems in assessing genetic diversity among winter rye (*Secale cereale* L.) inbred lines. Euphytica. 2005;146: 109–116. doi:10.1007/s10681-005-0548-0
- Matos M, Pinto-Carnide O, Benito C. Phylogenetic Relationships among Portuguese Rye Based on Isozyme, RAPD and ISSR Markers. Hereditas. Munksgaard International Publishers; 2004;134: 229–236. doi:10.1111/j.1601-5223.2001.00229.x
- 123. Chikmawati T, Skovmand B, Gustafsson JP. Phylogenetic relationships among Secale species revealed by amplified fragment length polymorphisms. Genoma.
 2005;48: 792–801. doi:10.1139/g05-043
- 124. Bolibok-Brągoszewska H, Targońska M, Bolibok L, Kilian A, Rakoczy-Trojanowska M. Genome-wide characterization of genetic diversity and population structure in *Secale*. BMC Plant Biol. 2014;14: 184. doi:10.1186/1471-2229-14-184
- 125. Huang X, Han B. Natural Variations and Genome-Wide Association Studies in Crop Plants. Annu Rev Plant Biol. 2014;65: 531–551. doi:10.1146/annurev-

arplant-050213-035715

- 126. Aranzana MJ, Kim S, Zhao K, Bakker E, Horton M, Jakob K, et al. Genome-wide association mapping in Arabidopsis identifies previously known flowering time and pathogen resistance genes. PLoS Genet. 2005;1. doi:10.1371/journal.pgen.0010060
- 127. Yu J, Pressoir G, Briggs WH, Vroh Bi I, Yamasaki M, Doebley JF, et al. A unified mixed-model method for association mapping that accounts for multiple levels of relatedness. Nat Genet. 2006;38: 203–208. doi:10.1038/ng1702
- Stich B, Möhring J, Piepho HP, Heckenberger M, Buckler ES, Melchinger AE.
 Comparison of mixed-model approaches for association mapping. Genetics.
 2008;178: 1745–1754. doi:10.1534/genetics.107.079707
- Harjes CE, Rocheford TR, Bai L, Brutnell TP, Kandianis CB, Sowinski SG, et al. Natural Genetic Variation in Lycopene Epsilon Cyclase Tapped for Maize Biofortification. Science (80-). 2008;319: 330–333. doi:10.1126/science.1150255
- 130. Malosetti M, Van Der Linden CG, Vosman B, Van Eeuwijk FA. A mixed-model approach to association mapping using pedigree information with an illustration of resistance to *Phytophthora infestans* in potato. Genetics. 2007;175: 879–889. doi:10.1534/genetics.105.054932
- 131. Zhao K, Aranzana MJ, Kim S, Lister C, Shindo C, Tang C, et al. An Arabidopsis example of association mapping in structured samples. PLoS Genet. 2007;3: 0071– 0082. doi:10.1371/journal.pgen.0030004

- 132. Poland JA, Bradbury PJ, Buckler ES, Nelson RJ. Genome-wide nested association mapping of quantitative resistance to northern leaf blight in maize. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. National Academy of Sciences; 2011;108: 6893–8. doi:10.1073/pnas.1010894108
- 133. USDAERS. United States Department of Agriculture, Economic Research Services [Internet]. [cited 30 Oct 2017]. Available: https://www.ers.usda.gov/topics/crops/wheat/
- 134. McMullen M, Bergstrom G, De Wolf E, Dill-macky R, Hershman D, Shaner G, et al. *Fusarium* Head Blight Disease Cycle , Symptoms , and Impact on Grain Yield and Quality Frequency and Magnitude of Epidemics Since 1997. Plant Dis. 2012;96.
- Bolton MD, Kolmer JA, Garvin DF. Wheat leaf rust caused by *Puccinia triticina*.
 Mol Plant Pathol. 2008;9: 563–575. doi:10.1111/j.1364-3703.2008.00487.x
- 136. Cummins GB, Caldwell RM, others. The validity of binomials in the leaf rust fungus complex of cereals and grasses. Phytopathology. 1956;46.
- 137. Levine MN, Hildreth RC. A natural occurrence of the aecial stage of *Puccinia rubigo-vera* var *tritici* in the united-states. Phytopathology. Amer
 Phytopathological Soc 3340 Pilot Knob Road, St Paul, MN 55121; 1957. pp. 110– 111.
- 138. Aktar-Uz-Zaman M, Tuhina-Khatun M, Hanafi MM, Sahebi M. Genetic analysis of rust resistance genes in global wheat cultivars: an overview. Biotechnol Biotechnol Equip. Taylor & Francis; 2017;31: 431–445.

- McIntosh RA, Wellings CR, Park RF. Wheat rusts: an atlas of resistance genes. Csiro Publishing; 1995.
- Mains EB, Leighty CE, Johnston CO. Inheritance of resistance to leaf rust,
 Puccinia triticina Erikss, in crosses of common wheat, *Triticum vulgare* vill.
 Authority of the Secretary of Agriculture; 1926.
- 141. Bai G, Shaner G, others. Scab of wheat: prospects for control. Plant Dis. 1994;78:760–766.
- 142. Nganje WE, Kaitibie S, Wilson WW, Leistritz FL, Bangsund DA, others.
 Economic impacts of *Fusarium* head blight in wheat and barley: 1993-2001.
 Department of Agribusiness and Applied Economics, Agricultural Experiment
 Station, North Dakota State University; 2004.
- 143. Goswami RS, Kistler HC. Heading for disaster: *Fusarium* graminearum on cereal crops. Mol Plant Pathol. 2004;5: 515–525. doi:10.1111/J.1364-3703.2004.00252.X
- Madden L V, Paul PA, Lipps PE. Consideration of nonparametric approaches for assessing genotype-by-environment (G×E) interaction with disease severity data.
 Plant Dis. Am Phytopath Society; 2007;91: 891–900.
- 145. Trail F, Xu H, Loranger R, Gadoury D. Physiological and environmental aspects of ascospore discharge in Gibberella zeae (anamorph *Fusarium* graminearum). Mycologia. Taylor & Francis; 2002;94: 181–189.
- 146. Parry DW, Jenkinson P, McLeod L. Fusarium ear blight (scab) in small grain

cereals—a review. Plant Pathol. Wiley Online Library; 1995;44: 207–238.

- 147. Sutton JC. Epidemiology of wheat head blight and maize ear rot caused by*Fusarium* graminearum. Can J Plant Pathol. Taylor & Francis; 1982;4: 195–209.
- 148. Fernando WGD, Miller JD, Seaman WL, Seifert K, Paulitz TC. Daily and seasonal dynamics of airborne spores of *Fusarium* graminearum and other *Fusarium* species sampled over wheat plots. Can J Bot. NRC Research Press; 2000;78: 497– 505.
- Snijders CHA. Resistance in wheat to *Fusarium* infection and trichothecene formation. Toxicol Lett. Elsevier; 2004;153: 37–46.
- 150. Boutigny A-L, Richard-Forget F, Barreau C. Natural mechanisms for cereal resistance to the accumulation of *Fusarium* trichothecenes. Eur J Plant Pathol. Springer; 2008;121: 411–423.
- 151. Zhou W, Kolb FL, Bai G, Shaner G, Domier LL. Genetic analysis of scab resistance QTL in wheat with microsatellite and AFLP markers. Genome. NRC Research Press; 2002;45: 719–727.
- Willyerd K, Madden L, McMullen M, Wegulo S, Bockus W, Sweets L, et al.
 Inoculated field trials for evaluating FHB/DON integrated management strategies.
 Proc Natl *Fusarium* Head Blight Forum, Milwaukee, WI SM Canty, A Clark, A
 Anderson-Scully, D Ellis, and D Van Sanford, eds University of Kentucky. 2010.
 pp. 109–110.
- 153. Schroeder HW, Christensen JJ, others. Factors affecting resistance of wheat to

scab caused by Gibberella zeae. Phytopathology. 1963;53: 831–838.

- 154. Wegulo SN, Bockus WW, Nopsa JH, De Wolf ED, Eskridge KM, Peiris KHS, et al. Effects of integrating cultivar resistance and fungicide application on *Fusarium* head blight and deoxynivalenol in winter wheat. Plant Dis. Am Phytopath Society; 2011;95: 554–560.
- 155. Saharan MS, Kumar J, Sharma AK, Nagarajan S. *Fusarium* head blight (FHB) or head scab of wheat–a review. Proceedings of the Indian National Science Academy. Part B, Biological Sciences. 2004. pp. 255–268.
- 156. Buerstmayr H, Ban T, Anderson JA. QTL mapping and marker-assisted selection for *Fusarium* head blight resistance in wheat: a review. Plant Breed. Wiley Online Library; 2009;128: 1–26.
- 157. Liu S, Zhang X, Pumphrey MO, Stack RW, Gill BS, Anderson JA. Complex microcolinearity among wheat, rice, and barley revealed by fine mapping of the genomic region harboring a major QTL for resistance to *Fusarium* head blight in wheat. Funct Integr Genomics. Springer; 2006;6: 83–89.
- 158. Waldron BL, Moreno-Sevilla B, Anderson JA, Stack RW, Frohberg RC. RFLP mapping of QTL for *Fusarium* head blight resistance in wheat. Crop Sci. Crop Science Society of America; 1999;39: 805–811.
- 159. Bai G, Kolb FL, Shaner G, Domier LL. Amplified fragment length polymorphism markers linked to a major quantitative trait locus controlling scab resistance in wheat. Phytopathology. Am Phytopath Society; 1999;89: 343–348.

- 160. Lin F, Xue SL, Zhang ZZ, Zhang CQ, Kong ZX, Yao GQ, et al. Mapping QTL associated with resistance to *Fusarium* head blight in the Nanda2419\Wangshuibai population. II: Type I resistance. Theor Appl Genet. Springer; 2006;112: 528–535.
- 161. Jia G, Chen P, Qin G, Bai G, Wang X, Wang S, et al. QTLs for *Fusarium* head blight response in a wheat DH population of Wangshuibai/Alondra's.' Euphytica. Springer; 2005;146: 183–191.
- 162. Mardi M, Pazouki L, Delavar H, Kazemi MB, Ghareyazie B, Steiner B, et al. QTL analysis of resistance to *Fusarium* head blight in wheat using a 'Frontana'-derived population. Plant Breed. Wiley Online Library; 2006;125: 313–317.
- Paillard S, Schnurbusch T, Tiwari R, Messmer M, Winzeler M, Keller B, et al.
 QTL analysis of resistance to *Fusarium* head blight in Swiss winter wheat
 (*Triticum aestivum* L.). Theor Appl Genet. Springer; 2004;109: 323–332.
- 164. Semagn K, Skinnes H, Bjørnstad Å, Marøy AG, Tarkegne Y. Quantitative trait loci controlling *Fusarium* head blight resistance and low deoxynivalenol content in hexaploid wheat population from 'Arina' and NK93604. Crop Sci. Crop Science Society of America; 2007;47: 294–303.
- 165. Draeger R, Gosman N, Steed A, Chandler E, Thomsett M, Schondelmaier J, et al. Identification of QTLs for resistance to *Fusarium* head blight, DON accumulation and associated traits in the winter wheat variety Arina. Theor Appl Genet. Springer; 2007;115: 617–625.
- 166. Watanabe N, Sugiyama K, Yamagishi Y, Sakata Y. Comparative telosomic mapping of homoeologous genes for brittle rachis in tetraploid and hexaploid

wheats. Hereditas. Wiley Online Library; 2002;137: 180–185.

- 167. Otto CD, Kianian SF, Elias EM, Stack RW, Joppa LR. Genetic dissection of a major *Fusarium* head blight QTL in tetraploid wheat. Plant Mol Biol. Springer; 2002;48: 625–632.
- 168. Kumar S, Stack RW, Friesen TL, Faris JD. Identification of a novel *Fusarium* head blight resistance quantitative trait locus on chromosome 7A in tetraploid wheat. Phytopathology. Am Phytopath Society; 2007;97: 592–597.
- 169. Somers DJ, Fedak G, Clarke J, Cao W. Mapping of FHB resistance QTLs in tetraploid wheat. Genome. NRC Research Press; 2006;49: 1586–1593.
- 170. Faris JD, Liu Z, Xu SS. Genetics of tan spot resistance in wheat. Theor Appl Genet. 2013;126: 2197–2217. doi:10.1007/s00122-013-2157-y
- 171. Nagle BJ, Frohberg RC, Hosford Jr RM. Inheritance of resistance to tan spot of wheat. Tan spot of wheat and related diseases workshop North Dakota State University, Fargo. 1982.
- 172. Dinglasan E, Godwin ID, Mortlock MY, Hickey LT. Resistance to yellow spot in wheat grown under accelerated growth conditions. Euphytica. Springer Netherlands; 2016;209: 693–707. doi:10.1007/s10681-016-1660-z
- 173. Shabeer A, Bockus WW, others. Tan spot effects on yield and yield components relative to growth stage in winter wheat. Plant Dis. 1988;72: 599–602.
- 174. Diedicke H. Über den Zusammenhang zwischen Pleospora-und Helminthosporium-Arten. 1902.

- 175. De Wolf ED, Effertz RJ, Ali S, Francl LJ. Vistas of tan spot research. Can J Plant Pathol. Taylor & Francis; 1998;20: 349–370.
- 176. Ali S, Francl LJ. A new race of *Pyrenophora tritici-repentis* from Brazil. Plant Dis. Am Phytopath Society; 2002;86: 1050.
- 177. Lamari L, Bernier CC. Evaluation of wheat lines and cultivars to tan spot
 [*Pyrenophora tritici-repentis*] based on lesion type. Can J Plant Pathol. Taylor & Francis; 1989;11: 49–56.
- Shoemaker RA, Hambleton S. *Dothidea sambuci* and *Diaporthe spiculosa*. Can J
 Bot. 2005;83: 484–490. doi:10.1139/b05-023
- 179. Todorova M. First report of tan spot caused by *Pyrenophora tritici-repentis* (anamorph *Drechslera tritici-repentis*) in Bulgaria. Plant Pathol. 2006;55: 305. doi:10.1111/j.1365-3059.2006.01329.x
- 180. Chu CG, Friesen TL, Faris JD, Xu SS. Evaluation of seedling resistance to tan spot and *Stagonospora nodorum* blotch in tetraploid wheat. Crop Sci. Crop Science Society of America; 2008;48: 1107–1116.
- 181. Stock WS, Brule-Babel AL, Penner GA. A gene for resistance to a necrosisinducing isolate of *Pyrenophora tritici-repentis* located on 5BL of *Triticum aestivum* cv. Chinese Spring. Genome. NRC Research Press; 1996;39: 598–604.
- 182. Effertz RJ, Anderson JA, Francl LJ. Restriction fragment length polymorphism mapping of resistance to two races of *Pyrenophora tritici-repentis* in adult and seedling wheat. Phytopathology. Am Phytopath Society; 2001;91: 572–578.

- 183. Friesen TL, Faris JD. Molecular mapping of resistance to *Pyrenophora triticirepentis* race 5 and sensitivity to Ptr ToxB in wheat. Theor Appl Genet. Springer; 2004;109: 464–471.
- 184. Orolaza NP, Lamari L, Ballance GM, others. Evidence of a host-specific chlorosis toxin from *Pyrenophora tritici-repentis*, the causal agent of tan spot of wheat.
 Phytopathology. [St. Paul, Minn., etc.: American Phytopathological Society];
 1995;85: 1282–1287.
- 185. Singh PK, Gonzalez-Hernandez JL, Mergoum M, Ali S, Adhikari TB, Kianian SF, et al. Identification and molecular mapping of a gene conferring resistance to *Pyrenophora tritici-repentis* race 3 in tetraploid wheat. Phytopathology. Am Phytopath Society; 2006;96: 885–889.
- 186. Tadesse W, Hsam SLK, Wenzel G, Zeller FJ. Identification and Monosomic Analysis of Tan Spot Resistance Genes in Synthetic Wheat Lines (L. × Coss.). Crop Sci. Crop Science Society of America; 2006;46: 1212–1217.
- 187. Tadesse W, Hsam SLK, Zeller FJ. Evaluation of common wheat cultivars for tan spot resistance and chromosomal location of a resistance gene in the cultivar 'Salamouni.' Plant Breed. Wiley Online Library; 2006;125: 318–322.
- 188. Singh PK, Mergoum M, Gonzalez-Hernandez JL, Ali S, Adhikari TB, Kianian SF, et al. Genetics and molecular mapping of resistance to necrosis inducing race 5 of *Pyrenophora tritici-repentis* in tetraploid wheat. Mol Breed. Springer; 2008;21: 293–304.
- 189. Faris JD, Anderson JA, Francl LJ, Jordahl JG. RFLP mapping of resistance to

chlorosis induction by *Pyrenophora tritici-repentis* in wheat. TAG Theor Appl Genet. Springer; 1997;94: 98–103.

- 190. Cheong J, Wallwork H, Williams KJ. Identification of a major QTL for yellow leaf spot resistance in the wheat varieties Brookton and Cranbrook. Aust J Agric Res. CSIRO; 2004;55: 315–319.
- 191. Chu C-G, Chao S, Friesen TL, Faris JD, Zhong S, Xu SS. Identification of novel tan spot resistance QTLs using an SSR-based linkage map of tetraploid wheat. Mol Breed. Springer; 2010;25: 327–338.
- 192. Sun X-C, Bockus W, Bai G. Quantitative trait loci for resistance to *Pyrenophora tritici-repentis* race 1 in a Chinese wheat. Phytopathology. Am Phytopath Society; 2010;100: 468–473.
- 193. Faris JD, Abeysekara NS, McClean PE, Xu SS, Friesen TL. Tan spot susceptibility governed by the Tsn1 locus and race-nonspecific resistance quantitative trait loci in a population derived from the wheat lines Salamouni and Katepwa. Mol Breed. Springer; 2012;30: 1669–1678.
- 194. Rees RG, Platz GJ. Sources of resistance to *Pyrenophora tritici-repentis* in bread wheats. Euphytica. Springer; 1990;45: 59–69.
- 195. Riede CR, Francl LJ, Anderson JA, Jordahl JG, Meinhardt SW. Additional sources of resistance to tan spot of wheat. Crop Sci. Crop Science Society of America; 1996;36: 771–777.
- 196. Cox TS, Raupp WJ, Wilson DL, Gill BS, Leath S, Bockus WW, et al. Resistance

to foliar diseases in a collection of *Triticum* tauschii germ plasm. Plant Dis. American Phytopathological Society; 1992;76: 1061–1064.

- 197. Siedler H, Obst A, Hsam SLK, Zeller FJ. Evaluation for resistance to Pyrenophora tritici-repentis in Aegilops tauschii Coss. and synthetic hexaploid wheat amphiploids. Genet Resour Crop Evol. Springer; 1994;41: 27–34.
- 198. Santi C, Bogusz D, Franche C. Biological nitrogen fixation in non-legume plants. Ann Bot. 2013;111: 743–767. doi:10.1093/aob/mct048
- Dobermann A. Nutrient use efficiency--measurement and management. Fertil best Manag Pract. IFA Paris; 2007;1.
- 200. Da Silva JG, Serra GE, Moreira JR, Conçalves JC, Goldemberg J. Energy balance for ethyl alcohol production from crops. Science (80-). American Association for the Advancement of Science; 1978;201: 903–906.
- Garnett T, Conn V, Kaiser BN. Root based approaches to improving nitrogen use efficiency in plants. Plant Cell Environ. Wiley Online Library; 2009;32: 1272– 1283.
- 202. Lam H-M, Coschigano KT, Oliveira IC, Melo-Oliveira R, Coruzzi GM. The molecular-genetics of nitrogen assimilation into amino acids in higher plants. Annu Rev Plant Biol. Annual Reviews 4139 El Camino Way, PO Box 10139, Palo Alto, CA 94303-0139, USA; 1996;47: 569–593.
- 203. Reinhold-Hurek B, Hurek T. Interactions of gramineous plants with Azoarcus spp. and other diazotrophs: Identification, localization, and perspectives to study their

function. CRC Crit Rev Plant Sci. 1998;17: 29–54. doi:10.1016/S0735-2689(98)00355-4

- 204. Schultze M, Kondorosi A. Regulation of symbiotic root nodule development. Annu Rev Genet. Annual Reviews 4139 El Camino Way, PO Box 10139, Palo Alto, CA 94303-0139, USA; 1998;32: 33–57.
- 205. Webster G, Jain V, Davey MR, Gough C, Vasse J, Dénarié J, et al. The flavonoid naringenin stimulates the intercellular colonization of wheat roots by *Azorhizobium caulinodans*. Plant Cell Environ. 1998;21: 373–383. doi:10.1046/j.1365-3040.1998.00278.x
- 206. Lethbridge G, Davidson MS. Root-associated nitrogen-fixing bacteria and their role in the nitrogen nutrition of wheat estimated by 15N isotope dilution. Soil Biol Biochem. 1983;15: 365–374. doi:10.1016/0038-0717(83)90085-8
- 207. Scholoter M, Hartmann A. Endophytic and Surface Colonization of Wheat Roots by Different *Azospirillum brasilense* Strains Studied with Strain Specific Monoclonal Antibodies. Symbiosis. 1998;25: 159–179.
- 208. Iniguez a L, Dong Y, Triplett EW. Nitrogen fixation in wheat provided by *Klebsiella pneumoniae* 342. Mol Plant Microbe Interact. 2004;17: 1078–1085. doi:10.1094/MPMI.2004.17.10.1078
- 209. Kihara H. Factors affecting the evolution of common wheat. Indian J Genet A. 1966;26: 14–28.
- 210. Zhu ZW, Bonnett D, Ellis M, Singh P, Heslot N, Dreisigacker S, et al. Mapping

resistance to spot blotch in a CIMMYT synthetic-derived bread wheat. Mol Breed. 2014;34: 1215–1228. doi:10.1007/s11032-014-0111-6

- Melania F, E. HK, S. SP. A review of wheat diseases—a field perspective. Mol
 Plant Pathol. 19: 1523–1536. doi:10.1111/mpp.12618
- 212. Qi LL, Pumphrey MO, Friebe B, Chen PD, Gill BS. Molecular cytogenetic characterization of alien introgressions with gene Fhb3 for resistance to *Fusarium* head blight disease of wheat. Theor Appl Genet. Springer; 2008;117: 1155–1166.
- 213. Cainong JC, Bockus WW, Feng Y, Chen P, Qi L, Sehgal SK, et al. Chromosome engineering, mapping, and transferring of resistance to *Fusarium* head blight disease from *Elymus tsukushiensis* into wheat. Theor Appl Genet. Springer; 2015;128: 1019–1027.
- 214. Guo J, Zhang X, Hou Y, Cai J, Shen X, Zhou T, et al. High-density mapping of the major FHB resistance gene Fhb7 derived from *Thinopyrum ponticum* and its pyramiding with Fhb1 by marker-assisted selection. Theor Appl Genet. Springer; 2015;128: 2301–2316.
- 215. Schnurbusch T, Paillard S, Schori A, Messmer M, Schachermayr G, Winzeler M, et al. Dissection of quantitative and durable leaf rust resistance in Swiss winter wheat reveals a major resistance QTL in the Lr34 chromosomal region. Theor Appl Genet. Springer; 2004;108: 477–484.
- 216. Hiebert CW, Thomas JB, McCallum BD, Humphreys DG, DePauw RM, Hayden MJ, et al. A new gene, Lr67, from the wheat accession PI250413 confers resistance to leaf rust at the adult plant stage. Theor Appl Genet. 2010;121: 1083–
1091.

- 217. Dadkhodaie NA, Karaoglou H, Wellings CR, Park RF. Mapping genes Lr53 and Yr35 on the short arm of chromosome 6B of common wheat with microsatellite markers and studies of their association with Lr36. Theor Appl Genet. Springer; 2011;122: 479–487.
- 218. Marais GF, McCallum B, Snyman JE, Pretorius ZA, Marais AS. Leaf rust and stripe rust resistance genes Lr54 and Yr37 transferred to wheat from *Aegilops kotschyi*. Plant Breed. Wiley Online Library; 2005;124: 538–541.
- Stack RW. A comparison of the inoculum potential of ascospores and conidia of Gibberella zeae. Can J Plant Pathol. Taylor & Francis; 1989;11: 137–142.
- 220. Stack RW, McMullen MP. Head blighting potential of *Fusarium* species associated with spring wheat heads. Can J Plant Pathol. Taylor & Francis; 1985;7: 79–82.
- 221. Anderson JA, Stack RW, Liu S, Waldron BL, Fjeld AD, Coyne C, et al. DNA markers for *Fusarium* head blight resistance QTLs in two wheat populations. TAG Theor Appl Genet. Springer; 2001;102: 1164–1168.
- 222. Singh RP, Rajaran S. Resistance to *Puccinia recondita* f. sp. *tritici* in 50 Mexican bread wheat cultivars. Crop Sci. Crop Science Society of America; 1991;31: 1472–1479.
- 223. Imbaby IA, Mahmoud MA, Hassan MEM, Abd-El-Aziz ARM. Identification of leaf rust resistance genes in selected Egyptian wheat cultivars by molecular

markers. Sci World J. Hindawi Publishing Corporation; 2014;2014.

- 224. Stakman EC, Levine MN. Identification of physiologic races of *Puccinia graminis tritici*. United State Department Of Agriculture; 1944.
- 225. Ali S, Francl LJ. Recovery of *Pyrenophora tritici-repentis* from barley and reaction of 12 cultivars to five races and two host-specific toxins. Plant Dis. Am Phytopath Society; 2001;85: 580–584.
- 226. Jordahl JG, Francl LJ. Increase and storage of cultures of *Pyrenophora triticirepentis*. North Dakota Agricultural Experiment Station; 1992;
- 227. Prat N, Buerstmayr M, Steiner B, Buerstmayr H. Meta-analysis of Resistance to *Fusarium* Head Blight in Tetraploid Wheat: Implications for Durum Wheat Breeding. In: Ogihara Y, Takumi S, Handa H, editors. Advances in Wheat Genetics: From Genome to Field: Proceedings of the 12th International Wheat Genetics Symposium. Tokyo: Springer Japan; 2015. pp. 323–329. doi:10.1007/978-4-431-55675-6_37
- 228. Ruan Y, Comeau A, Langevin F, Hucl P, Clarke JM, Brule-Babel A, et al. Identification of novel QTL for resistance to *Fusarium* head blight in a tetraploid wheat population. Genome. NRC Research Press; 2012;55: 853–864.
- 229. Buerstmayr M, Huber K, Heckmann J, Steiner B, Nelson JC, Buerstmayr H. Mapping of QTL for *Fusarium* head blight resistance and morphological and developmental traits in three backcross populations derived from *Triticum dicoccum/Triticum durum*. Theor Appl Genet. Springer; 2012;125: 1751–1765.

- 230. Beleggia R, Rau D, Laido G, Platani C, Nigro F, Fragasso M, et al. Evolutionary metabolomics reveals domestication-associated changes in tetraploid wheat kernels. Mol Biol Evol. 2016;33: 1740–1753. doi:10.1093/molbev/msw050
- 231. Liu M, Rodrigue N, Kolmer J. Population divergence in the wheat leaf rust fungus *Puccinia triticina* is correlated with wheat evolution. Heredity (Edinb). Nature Publishing Group; 2013;112: 443–453. doi:10.1038/hdy.2013.123
- 232. Kim S, Dale BE. Effects of nitrogen fertilizer application on greenhouse gas emissions and economics of corn production. Environ Sci Technol. ACS Publications; 2008;42: 6028–6033.
- 233. McAuliffe C, Chamblee DS, Uribe-Arango H, Woodhouse WW. Influence of inorganic nitrogen on nitrogen fixation by legumes as revealed by N15. Agron J. American Society of Agronomy; 1958;50: 334–337.
- 234. Ashworth AJ, West CP, Allen FL, Keyser PD, Weiss SA, Tyler DD, et al. Biologically Fixed Nitrogen in Legume Intercropped Systems: Comparison of Nitrogen-Difference and Nitrogen-15 Enrichment Techniques. 2015; doi:10.2134/agronj14.0639
- 235. El Khoury D, Cuda C, Luhovyy BL, Anderson GH. Beta glucan: health benefits in obesity and metabolic syndrome. J Nutr Metab. Hindawi Publishing Corporation; 2011;2012.
- 236. Friebe B, Hatchett JH, Sears RG, Gill BS. Transfer of Hessian fly resistance from 'Chaupon' rye to hexaploid wheat via a 2BS/2RL wheat-rye chromosome translocation. Theor Appl Genet. Springer; 1990;79: 385–389.

- Carver BF, Rayburn AL. Comparison of related wheat stocks possessing 1B or 1RS. 1BL chromosomes: agronomic performance. Crop Sci. Crop Science Society of America; 1994;34: 1505–1510.
- McKendry AL, Tague DN, Miskin KE. Effect of 1BL. 1RS on agronomic performance of soft red winter wheat. Crop Sci. Crop Science Society of America; 1996;36: 844–847.
- 239. Von Mark VC, Kilian A, Dierig DA. Development of DArT marker platforms and genetic diversity assessment of the US collection of the new oilseed crop lesquerella and related species. PLoS One. Public Library of Science; 2013;8: e64062.
- YAO Q, FAN P, ZOU S. Constructing a Core Collection for Maize (*Zea mays* L.)
 Landrace from Wuling Mountain Region in China. Agric Sci China. Chinese
 Academy of Agricultural Sciences; 2008;7: 1423–1432.
 doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S1671-2927(08)60398-3
- 241. Bolibok-Bragoszewska H, Heller-Uszyńska K, Wenzl P, Uszyński G, Kilian A, Rakoczy-Trojanowska M. DArT markers for the rye genome - genetic diversity and mapping. BMC Genomics. 2009;10: 578. doi:10.1186/1471-2164-10-578
- 242. Hagenblad J, Oliveira HR, Forsberg NEG, Leino MW. Geographical distribution of genetic diversity in *Secale* landrace and wild accessions. BMC Plant Biol. BioMed Central; 2016;16: 23.
- 243. Ma X-F, Wanous MK, Houchins K, Milla MAR, Goicoechea PG, Wang Z, et al. Molecular linkage mapping in rye (*Secale cereale* L.). Theor Appl Genet.

Springer; 2001;102: 517–523.

- 244. Milczarski Pawełand Bolibok-Brkagoszewska H, Myśków B, Stojałowski S, Heller-Uszyńska K, Góralska M, Brkagoszewski P, et al. A high density consensus map of rye (*Secale cereale* L.) based on DArT markers. PLoS One. Public Library of Science; 2011;6: e28495.
- 245. Milczarski P, Hanek M, Tyrka M, Stoja??owski S. The application of GBS markers for extending the dense genetic map of rye (*Secale cereale* L.) and the localization of the Rfc1 gene restoring male fertility in plants with the C source of sterility-inducing cytoplasm. J Appl Genet. 2016;57: 439–451. doi:10.1007/s13353-016-0347-4
- 246. Korzun V, Malyshev S, Kartel N, Westermann T, Weber WE, Börner A. A genetic linkage map of rye (*Secale cereale* L.). Theor Appl Genet. Springer; 1998;96: 203–208.
- 247. Börner A, Korzun V, Voylokov A V, Worland AJ, Weber WE. Genetic mapping of quantitative trait loci in rye (*Secale cereale* L.). Euphytica. Springer; 2000;116: 203–209.
- 248. Świ\kecka S, Berdzik M, Myśków B. Genetic mapping of the ScHd1 gene in rye and an assessment of its relationship with earliness per se and plant morphology. J Appl Genet. Springer; 2014;55: 469–473.
- 249. Milczarski Pawełand Masojć P, Krajewski Pawełand Stochmal A, Kowalczyk M, Angelov M, Ivanova V, Schollenberger M, et al. QTL mapping for benzoxazinoid content, preharvest sprouting, α-amylase activity, and leaf rust resistance in rye

(Secale cereale L.). PLoS One. Public Library of Science; 2017;12: e0189912.

- 250. Jannink J-L, Walsh B. Association mapping in plant populations. Quant Genet genomics plant Breed. CAB International: New York, NY, USA; 2002; 59–68.
- 251. Huang X, Sang T, Zhao Q, Feng Q, Zhao Y, Li C, et al. Genome-wide association studies of 14 agronomic traits in rice landraces. Nat Genet. Nature Publishing Group; 2010;42: 961.
- 252. Famoso AN, Zhao K, Clark RT, Tung C-W, Wright MH, Bustamante C, et al. Genetic architecture of aluminum tolerance in rice (*Oryza sativa*) determined through genome-wide association analysis and QTL mapping. PLoS Genet. Public Library of Science; 2011;7: e1002221.
- 253. McCouch SR, Wright MH, Tung C-W, Maron LG, McNally KL, Fitzgerald M, et al. Open access resources for genome-wide association mapping in rice. Nat Commun. 2016;7: 10532. doi:10.1038/ncomms10532
- 254. Raboin L-M, Ballini E, Tharreau D, Ramanantsoanirina A, Frouin J, Courtois B, et al. Association mapping of resistance to rice blast in upland field conditions. Rice.
 Springer; 2016;9: 59.
- 255. Zhao K, Tung C-W, Eizenga GC, Wright MH, Ali ML, Price AH, et al. Genomewide association mapping reveals a rich genetic architecture of complex traits in *Oryza sativa*. Nat Commun. 2011;2: 467. doi:10.1038/ncomms1467
- 256. Xiao Y, Liu H, Wu L, Warburton M, Yan J. Genome-wide association studies in maize: praise and stargaze. Mol Plant. Elsevier; 2017;10: 359–374.

- 257. Visscher PM, Brown MA, McCarthy MI, Yang J. Five years of GWAS discovery.
 Am J Hum Genet. The American Society of Human Genetics; 2012;90: 7–24.
 doi:10.1016/j.ajhg.2011.11.029
- 258. Beló A, Zheng P, Luck S, Shen B, Meyer DJ, Li B, et al. Whole genome scan detects an allelic variant of *fad2* associated with increased oleic acid levels in maize. Mol Genet Genomics. Springer; 2008;279: 1–10.
- 259. Liu H, Luo X, Niu L, Xiao Y, Chen L, Liu J, et al. Distant eQTLs and non-coding sequences play critical roles in regulating gene expression and quantitative trait variation in maize. Mol Plant. Elsevier; 2017;10: 414–426.
- 260. Wang H, Li K, Hu X, Liu Z, Wu Y, Huang C. Genome-wide association analysis of forage quality in maize mature stalk. BMC Plant Biol. BioMed Central; 2016;16: 227.
- 261. Farfan IDB, De La Fuente GN, Murray SC, Isakeit T, Huang P-C, Warburton M, et al. Genome Wide Association Study for Drought, Aflatoxin Resistance, and Important Agronomic Traits of Maize Hybrids in the Sub-Tropics. Lukens L, editor. PLoS One. 2015;10: e0117737. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0117737
- 262. Chen J, Shrestha R, Ding J, Zheng H, Mu C, Wu J, et al. Genome-Wide Association Study and QTL Mapping Reveal Genomic Loci Associated with *Fusarium* Ear Rot Resistance in Tropical Maize Germplasm. G3: Genes|Genomes|Genetics. 2016; doi:10.1534/g3.116.034561
- 263. Roy JK, Smith KP, Muehlbauer GJ, Chao S, Close TJ, Steffenson BJ. Association mapping of spot blotch resistance in wild barley. Mol Breed. 2010;26: 243–256.

doi:10.1007/s11032-010-9402-8

- 264. Pasam RK, Sharma R, Malosetti M, van Eeuwijk FA, Haseneyer G, Kilian B, et al. Genome-wide association studies for agronomical traits in a world wide spring barley collection. BMC Plant Biol. 2012;12: 16. doi:10.1186/1471-2229-12-16
- 265. Gawenda I, Thorwarth P, Günther T, Ordon F, Schmid KJ. Genome-wide association studies in elite varieties of German winter barley using single-marker and haplotype-based methods. Bürstmayr H, editor. Plant Breed. 2015;134: 28–39. doi:10.1111/pbr.12237
- 266. Bellucci A, Tondelli A, Fangel JU, Torp AM, Xu X, Willats WGT, et al. Genomewide association mapping in winter barley for grain yield and culm cell wall polymer content using the high-throughput CoMPP technique. Perovic D, editor. PLoS One. Public Library of Science; 2017;12: e0173313. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0173313
- 267. Reinert S, Kortz A, Léon J, Naz AA. Genome-Wide Association Mapping in the Global Diversity Set Reveals New QTL Controlling Root System and Related Shoot Variation in Barley. Front Plant Sci. 2016;7. doi:10.3389/fpls.2016.01061
- 268. Fan Y, Zhou G, Shabala S, Chen Z-H, Cai S, Li C, et al. Genome-Wide Association Study Reveals a New QTL for Salinity Tolerance in Barley (*Hordeum vulgare* L.). Front Plant Sci. Frontiers; 2016;7: 946. doi:10.3389/fpls.2016.00946
- 269. Wójcik-Jagła M, Fiust A, Kościelniak J, Rapacz M. Association mapping of drought tolerance-related traits in barley to complement a traditional biparental QTL mapping study. Theor Appl Genet. 2018;131: 167–181. doi:10.1007/s00122-

- 270. Ahmad I, Ali N, Ahmad H, Inamullah. Association Mapping of Root Traits for Drought Tolerance in Bread Wheat. Wheat Improvement, Management and Utilization. InTech; 2017. doi:10.5772/67242
- 271. Mwadzingeni L, Shimelis H, Rees DJG, Tsilo TJ. Genome-wide association analysis of agronomic traits in wheat under drought-stressed and non-stressed conditions. PLoS One. Public Library of Science; 2017;12: e0171692. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0171692
- 272. Ain Q, Rasheed A, Anwar A, Mahmood T, Imtiaz M, Mahmood T, et al. Genomewide association for grain yield under rainfed conditions in historical wheat cultivars from Pakistan. Front Plant Sci. 2015;6. doi:10.3389/fpls.2015.00743
- 273. Tadesse W, Ogbonnaya FC, Jighly A, Sanchez-Garcia M, Sohail Q, Rajaram S, et al. Genome-Wide Association Mapping of Yield and Grain Quality Traits in Winter Wheat Genotypes. Wu R, editor. PLoS One. 2015;10: e0141339. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0141339
- 274. Lozada DN, Mason RE, Babar MA, Carver BF, Guedira G-B, Merrill K, et al. Association mapping reveals loci associated with multiple traits that affect grain yield and adaptation in soft winter wheat. Euphytica. 2017;213: 222. doi:10.1007/s10681-017-2005-2
- 275. Edae EA, Byrne PF, Haley SD, Lopes MS, Reynolds MP. Genome-wide association mapping of yield and yield components of spring wheat under contrasting moisture regimes. Theor Appl Genet. 2014;127: 791–807.

doi:10.1007/s00122-013-2257-8

- 276. Liu J, He Z, Rasheed A, Wen W, Yan J, Zhang P, et al. Genome-wide association mapping of black point reaction in common wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.). BMC Plant Biol. 2017;17: 220. doi:10.1186/s12870-017-1167-3
- 277. Shi W, Hao C, Zhang Y, Cheng J, Zhang Z, Liu J, et al. A Combined Association Mapping and Linkage Analysis of Kernel Number Per Spike in Common Wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.). Front Plant Sci. 2017;8. doi:10.3389/fpls.2017.01412
- Zanke CD, Ling J, Plieske J, Kollers S, Ebmeyer E, Korzun V, et al. Whole Genome Association Mapping of Plant Height in Winter Wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.). Hernandez P, editor. PLoS One. 2014;9: e113287. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0113287
- 279. Arruda MP, Brown P, Brown-Guedira G, Krill AM, Thurber C, Merrill KR, et al. Genome-Wide Association Mapping of *Fusarium* Head Blight Resistance in Wheat using Genotyping-by-Sequencing. Plant Genome. 2016;9: 0. doi:10.3835/plantgenome2015.04.0028
- 280. Gurung S, Mamidi S, Bonman JM, Xiong M, Brown-Guedira G, Adhikari TB. Genome-wide association study reveals novel quantitative trait loci associated with resistance to multiple leaf spot diseases of spring wheat. PLoS One. Public Library of Science; 2014;9: e108179.
- 281. Kidane YG, Hailemariam BN, Mengistu DK, Fadda C, Pè ME, Dell'Acqua M. Genome-Wide Association Study of *Septoria tritici* Blotch Resistance in Ethiopian Durum Wheat Landraces. Front Plant Sci. 2017;8. doi:10.3389/fpls.2017.01586

- 282. Abdullah S, Sehgal SK, Glover KD, Ali S. Reaction of Global Collection of Rye (*Secale cerealeL.*) to Tan Spot and *Pyrenophora tritici-repentis* Races in South Dakota. plant Pathol J. The Korean Society of Plant Pathology; 2017;33: 229–237. doi:10.5423/PPJ.OA.12.2016.0265
- 283. Doyle JJ. A rapid DNA isolation procedure for small quantities of fresh leaf tissue.Phytochem Bull Bot Soc Am. 1987;19: 11–15.
- 284. Poland JA, Brown PJ, Sorrells ME, Jannink JL. Development of high-density genetic maps for barley and wheat using a novel two-enzyme genotyping-by-sequencing approach. PLoS One. 2012;7. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0032253
- 285. Alipour H, Bihamta MR, Mohammadi V, Peyghambari SA, Bai G, Zhang G. Genotyping-by-Sequencing (GBS) Revealed Molecular Genetic Diversity of Iranian Wheat Landraces and Cultivars. Front Plant Sci. Frontiers; 2017;8: 1293.
- 286. helmholtz Zentrum Munchen. PGSB Plant Genome and Systems Biology [Internet]. [cited 1 Jan 2016]. Available: http://pgsb.helmholtzmuenchen.de/plant/rye/gz/download/
- 287. Alheit K V, Maurer H, Reif JC, Tucker MR, Hahn V, Weissmann EA, et al. Genome-wide evaluation of genetic diversity and linkage disequilibrium in winter and spring triticale (x *Triticosecale* Wittmack). BMC Genomics. 2012;13: 235. doi:10.1186/1471-2164-13-235
- 288. Sherwin WB, Jabot F, Rush R, Rossetto M. Measurement of biological information with applications from genes to landscapes. Mol Ecol. 2006;15: 2857– 2869. doi:10.1111/j.1365-294X.2006.02992.x

- 289. Team RC, others. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. Citeseer; 2013;
- 290. Paradis E, Claude J, Strimmer K. APE: analyses of phylogenetics and evolution in R language. Bioinformatics. Oxford University Press; 2004;20: 289–290.
- 291. Müllner D. fastcluster: Fast hierarchical, agglomerative clustering routines for R and Python. J Stat Softw. Foundation for Open Access Statistics; 2013;53: 1–18.
- 292. Letunic I, Bork P. Interactive tree of life (iTOL) v3: an online tool for the display and annotation of phylogenetic and other trees. Nucleic Acids Res. Oxford University Press; 2016;44: W242--W245.
- 293. Pritchard JK, Stephens M, Donnelly P. Inference of population structure using multilocus genotype data. Genetics. 2000;155: 945–959. doi:10.1111/j.1471-8286.2007.01758.x
- 294. Evanno G, Regnaut S, Goudet J. Detecting the number of clusters of individuals using the software STRUCTURE: A simulation study. Mol Ecol. 2005;14: 2611–2620. doi:10.1111/j.1365-294X.2005.02553.x
- 295. Lipka AE, Tian F, Wang Q, Peiffer J, Li M, Bradbury PJ, et al. GAPIT: genome association and prediction integrated tool. Bioinformatics. Oxford University Press; 2012;28: 2397–2399.
- 296. VanRaden PM, Olson KM, Wiggans GR, Cole JB, Tooker ME. Genomic inbreeding and relationships among Holsteins, Jerseys, and Brown Swiss. J Dairy Sci. Elsevier; 2011;94: 5673–5682.

- 297. Zhao K, Aranzana MJ, Kim S, Lister C, Shindo C, Tang C, et al. An Arabidopsis example of association mapping in structured samples. PLoS Genet. Public Library of Science; 2007;3: e4.
- 298. Zhang Z, Ersoz E, Lai C-Q, Todhunter RJ, Tiwari HK, Gore MA, et al. Mixed linear model approach adapted for genome-wide association studies. Nat Genet. Nature Publishing Group; 2010;42: 355.
- 299. Kohavi R, others. A study of cross-validation and bootstrap for accuracy estimation and model selection. Ijcai. 1995. pp. 1137–1145.
- Bradbury PJ, Zhang Z, Kroon DE, Casstevens TM, Ramdoss Y, Buckler ES.
 TASSEL: Software for association mapping of complex traits in diverse samples.
 Bioinformatics. 2007;23: 2633–2635. doi:10.1093/bioinformatics/btm308
- 301. Plant Ensembl. Index @ plants.ensembl.org [Internet]. Available: http://plants.ensembl.org/Triticum_aestivum/Info/Index
- 302. Altschul SF, Gish W, Miller W, Myers EW, Lipman DJ. Basic local alignment search tool. J Mol Biol. Elsevier; 1990;215: 403–410.
- 303. Krzywinski M, Schein J, Birol I, Connors J, Gascoyne R, Horsman D, et al. Circos: an information aesthetic for comparative genomics. Genome Res. Cold Spring Harbor Lab; 2009;19: 1639–1645.
- 304. Elshire RJ, Glaubitz JC, Sun Q, Poland JA, Kawamoto K, Buckler ES, et al. A robust, simple genotyping-by-sequencing (GBS) approach for high diversity species. PLoS One. 2011;6: 1–10. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0019379

- 305. Varshney RK, Beier U, Khlestkina EK, Kota R, Korzun V, Graner A, et al. Single nucleotide polymorphisms in rye (*Secale cereale* L.): Discovery, frequency, and applications for genome mapping and diversity studies. Theor Appl Genet. 2007;114: 1105–1116. doi:10.1007/s00122-007-0504-6
- 306. Monteiro F, Vidigal P, Barros AB, Monteiro A, Oliveira HR, Viegas W. Genetic Distinctiveness of Rye In situ Accessions from Portugal Unveils a New Hotspot of Unexplored Genetic Resources. Front Plant Sci. 2016;7: 1–17. doi:10.3389/fpls.2016.01334
- 307. Targońska M, Bolibok-Brągoszewska H, Rakoczy-Trojanowska M. Assessment of Genetic Diversity in *Secale cereale* Based on SSR Markers. Plant Mol Biol Report. 2016;34: 37–51. doi:10.1007/s11105-015-0896-4
- 308. Ma R, YLI-MATTILA T, Pulli S. Phylogenetic relationships among genotypes of worldwide collection of spring and winter ryes (*Secale cereale* L.) determined by RAPD-PCR markers. Hereditas. Wiley Online Library; 2004;140: 210–221.
- 309. Niedziela A, Orłowska R, Machczyńska J, Bednarek PT. The genetic diversity of triticale genotypes involved in Polish breeding programs. Springerplus. Springer International Publishing; 2016;5: 355. doi:10.1186/s40064-016-1997-8
- 310. Chao S, Dubcovsky J, Dvorak J, Luo M-C, Baenziger SP, Matnyazov R, et al.
 Population- and genome-specific patterns of linkage disequilibrium and SNP variation in spring and winter wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.). BMC Genomics.
 BioMed Central Ltd; 2010;11: 727. doi:10.1186/1471-2164-11-727
- 311. Mago R, Spielmeyer W, Lawrence GJ, Lagudah ES, Ellis JG, Pryor A.

Identification and mapping of molecular markers linked to rust resistance genes located on chromosome 1RS of rye using wheat-rye translocation lines. Theor Appl Genet. 2002;104: 1317–1324. doi:10.1007/s00122-002-0879-3

312. Juliana P, Singh RP, Singh PK, Poland JA, Bergstrom GC, Huerta-Espino J, et al. Genome-wide association mapping for resistance to leaf rust, stripe rust and tan spot in wheat reveals potential candidate genes. Theor Appl Genet. Springer Berlin Heidelberg; 2018; 1–18. doi:10.1007/s00122-018-3086-6

APPENDIX

Sr.no.	Genera	Species	Subspecies	No. of lines
1	Secale	cereale	cereale	160
2	Secale	cereale	tetraploidum	1
3	Secale	cereale	afghanicum	1
4	Secale	cereale	dighoricum	1
5	Secale	cereale	segetale	2
6	Secale	cereale	Unranked rigidum	1
7	Secale	cereale	ancestrale	3
8	Secale	vavilovi	-	2
9	Secale	strictum	anatolicum	1
10	Secale	strictum	strictum	1
11	Secale	strictum	siliatoglume	1
12	Secale	strictum	kupriganovi	1
13	Secale	strictum	africanum	1
14	Secale	sylvestre	-	2
Total				178

Table 1: Number of accessions of each Secale subsp. in the diversity set of 178 lines.These lines represent 56 different countries around the globe.

Table 2: Detailed description about the Secale cereale accessions used in this study. Populations are based on structure results and reaction against *P. tritici repentis* (race 5) is also presented.

SD_code	Country	PI No.	Genera	species	subsp.	Population	PTR race 5	
SD_Sc001	Sweden	Cise 1	Secale	cereale	cereale	P2	1.83	-
SD_Sc002	Sweden	Cise 20	Secale	cereale	cereale	P12	3.83	
SD_Sc003	United States	Cise 28	Secale	cereale	cereale	P1	1.00	
SD_Sc005	United States	Cise 38	Secale	cereale	cereale	P1	1.50	
SD_Sc006	Australia	Cise 79	Secale	cereale	cereale	P1	2.00	
SD_Sc007	France	Cise 84	Secale	cereale	cereale	P12	1.00	
SD_Sc008	Bosnia and Herzegovina	PI 349919	Secale	cereale	cereale	P1	3.00	
SD_Sc009	Ireland	Cise 106	Secale	cereale	cereale	P12	1.17	
SD_Sc011	Japan	Cise 108	Secale	cereale	cereale	P12	1.00	
SD_Sc012	Japan	Cise 109	Secale	cereale	cereale	P12	3.00	
SD_Sc013	Korea, South	Cise 110	Secale	cereale	cereale	P1	3.00	
SD_Sc014	United States	Cise 174	Secale	cereale	cereale	P1	4.00	

SD_Sc015	United States	Cise 176	Secale	cereale	cereale	P2	3.00
SD_Sc016	Canada	Cise 183	Secale	cereale	cereale	P12	3.00
SD_Sc017	United States	Cise 521	Secale	cereale	cereale	P2	3.00
SD_Sc018	Israel	PI 201991	Secale	cereale	cereale	P12	1.00
SD_Sc019	Pakistan	PI 218110	Secale	cereale	cereale	P1	1.00
SD_Sc020	Pakistan	PI 219740	Secale	cereale	cereale	P1	1.00
SD_Sc021	Pakistan	PI 219741	Secale	cereale	cereale	P1	1.00
SD_Sc022	Afghanistan	PI 223896	Secale	cereale	cereale	P1	1.00
SD_Sc023	Iran	PI 227870	Secale	cereale	cereale	P12	1.00
SD_Sc024	Kazakhstan	PI 234655	Secale	cereale	cereale	P1	1.00
SD_Sc025	Kazakhstan	PI 234656	Secale	cereale	cereale	P12	1.00
SD_Sc027	France	PI 235536	Secale	cereale	cereale	P2	2.67
SD_Sc028	Brazil	PI 239580	Secale	cereale	cereale	P1	2.83
SD_Sc029	Argentina	PI 240676	Secale	cereale	cereale	P1	1.00
SD_Sc030	Brazil	PI 241578	Secale	cereale	cereale	P1	2.67

SD_Sc032	Iran	PI 243741	Secale	cereale	cereale	P1	1.00
SD_Sc033	Greece	PI 249936	Secale	cereale	cereale	P2	2.60
SD_Sc034	Iran	PI 250744	Secale	cereale	cereale	P1	3.80
SD_Sc039	Austria	PI 254810	Secale	cereale	cereale	P1	3.80
SD_Sc040	Spain	PI 256026	Secale	cereale	cereale	P2	3.83
SD_Sc041	Switzerland	PI 263561	Secale	cereale	cereale	P12	1.00
SD_Sc042	Estonia	PI 265471	Secale	cereale	cereale	P1	1.00
SD_Sc043	Finland	PI 265473	Secale	cereale	cereale	P12	1.00
SD_Sc044	Turkey	PI 266975	Secale	cereale	cereale	P12	1.00
SD_Sc045	Latvia	PI 267098	Secale	cereale	cereale	P12	1.00
SD_Sc049	Hungary	PI 272333	Secale	cereale	cereale	P1	1.00
SD_Sc050	Afghanistan	PI 275356	Secale	cereale	cereale	P1	2.83
SD_Sc052	Russian Federation	PI 280838	Secale	cereale	cereale	P12	1.00
SD_Sc053	Russian Federation	PI 280841	Secale	cereale	cereale	P1	1.00
SD_Sc055	Iran	PI 289814	Secale	cereale	cereale	P1	2.67

SD_Sc056	Pakistan	PI 289827	Secale	cereale	cereale	P12	2.00
SD_Sc057	Slovakia	PI 290423	Secale	cereale	cereale	P12	2.80
SD_Sc058	Netherlands	PI 290425	Secale	cereale	cereale	P1	1.00
SD_Sc060	Germany	PI 290435	Secale	cereale	cereale	P12	2.80
SD_Sc061	Hungary	PI 290436	Secale	cereale	cereale	P12	3.00
SD_Sc062	Ukraine	PI 290439	Secale	cereale	cereale	P12	4.67
SD_Sc063	Finland	PI 290440	Secale	cereale	cereale	P12	3.80
SD_Sc066	Bulgaria	PI 294794	Secale	cereale	cereale	P12	1.20
SD_Sc067	Bulgaria	PI 294795	Secale	cereale	cereale	P12	4.00
SD_Sc069	Romania	PI 306487	Secale	cereale	cereale	P12	1.20
SD_Sc070	Romania	PI 306495	Secale	cereale	cereale	P12	3.00
SD_Sc072	Brazil	PI 314964	Secale	cereale	cereale	P1	3.00
SD_Sc073	France	PI 315957	Secale	cereale	cereale	P12	3.20
SD_Sc074	Netherlands	PI 315962	Secale	cereale	cereale	P1	1.83
SD_Sc075	Canada	PI 323363	Secale	cereale	cereale	P12	2.00

SD_Sc077	United States	PI 323377	Secale	cereale	cereale	P2	1.67
SD_Sc078	Spain	PI 323383	Secale	cereale	cereale	P1	1.33
SD_Sc081	Poland	PI 323449	Secale	cereale	cereale	P2	1.67
SD_Sc082	Poland	PI 323454	Secale	cereale	cereale	P2	2.00
SD_Sc083	Austria	PI 326407	Secale	cereale	cereale	P2	4.00
SD_Sc084	South Africa	PI 330413	Secale	cereale	cereale	P2	2.17
SD_Sc087	Germany	PI 330424	Secale	cereale	cereale	P12	4.00
SD_Sc089	South Africa	PI 330431	Secale	cereale	cereale	P12	2.40
SD_Sc091	Sweden	PI 330439	Secale	cereale	cereale	P2	3.00
SD_Sc093	Netherlands	PI 330445	Secale	cereale	cereale	P12	2.17
SD_Sc094	United Kingdom	PI 330526	Secale	cereale	cereale	P2	1.33
SD_Sc096	Poland	PI 338383	Secale	cereale	cereale	P2	1.00
SD_Sc097	Montenegro	PI 344980	Secale	cereale	cereale	P1	3.00
SD_Sc098	Macedonia	PI 344991	Secale	cereale	cereale	P1	3.17
SD_Sc099	Macedonia	PI 344998	Secale	cereale	cereale	P1	1.20

SD_Sc100	Serbia	PI 345000	Secale	cereale	cereale	P1	2.17
SD_Sc101	United Kingdom	PI 345531	Secale	cereale	cereale	P12	2.17
SD_Sc102	Australia	PI 345739	Secale	cereale	cereale	P2	2.17
SD_Sc103	Australia	PI 345740	Secale	cereale	cereale	P12	2.17
SD_Sc104	Australia	PI 346416	Secale	cereale	cereale	P12	2.17
SD_Sc107	Montenegro	PI 349912	Secale	cereale	cereale	P2	2.33
SD_Sc109	Bosnia and Herzegovina	PI 349923	Secale	cereale	cereale	P12	2.17
SD_Sc110	Turkey	PI 357067	Secale	cereale	cereale	P1	1.80
SD_Sc111	Croatia	PI 362391	Secale	cereale	cereale	P1	1.00
SD_Sc116	Afghanistan	PI 366503	Secale	cereale	cereale	P2	3.00
SD_Sc117	Sweden	PI 368157	Secale	cereale	cereale	P12	3.67
SD_Sc118	Estonia	PI 372114	Secale	cereale	cereale	P2	4.67
SD_Sc119	Ukraine	PI 372115	Secale	cereale	cereale	P12	2.67
SD_Sc120	Belarus	PI 372116	Secale	cereale	cereale	P12	2.83
SD_Sc122	Belarus	PI 372119	Secale	cereale	cereale	P2	3.67

SD_Sc127	Serbia	PI 378230	Secale	cereale	cereale	P1	2.17
SD_Sc128	Serbia	PI 378231	Secale	cereale	cereale	P1	2.00
SD_Sc129	Macedonia	PI 378233	Secale	cereale	cereale	P1	1.33
SD_Sc131	Macedonia	PI 378239	Secale	cereale	cereale	P12	1.00
SD_Sc134	Germany	PI 392069	Secale	cereale	cereale	P12	4.00
SD_Sc136	Lithuania	PI 404227	Secale	cereale	cereale	P2	2.17
SD_Sc141	United Kingdom	PI 414080	Secale	cereale	cereale	P12	1.50
SD_Sc146	India	PI 430004	Secale	cereale	cereale	P1	1.33
SD_Sc147	Chile	PI 436165	Secale	cereale	cereale	P12	3.40
SD_Sc148	Chile	PI 436171	Secale	cereale	cereale	P2	3.67
SD_Sc150	Chile	PI 436192	Secale	cereale	cereale	P2	4.00
SD_Sc152	Israel	PI 445980	Secale	cereale	cereale	P2	1.20
SD_Sc154	Canada	PI 445984	Secale	cereale	cereale	P1	3.17
SD_Sc157	Canada	PI 445998	Secale	cereale	cereale	P2	3.17
SD_Sc161	Japan	PI 446020	Secale	cereale	cereale	P2	3.17

SD_Sc162	Mexico	PI 446058	Secale	cereale	cereale	P12	1.40
SD_Sc163	Lithuania	PI 446123	Secale	cereale	cereale	P1	4.67
SD_Sc167	Greece	PI 446151	Secale	cereale	cereale	P2	2.00
SD_Sc168	Poland	PI 446177	Secale	cereale	cereale	P12	2.17
SD_Sc169	Latvia	PI 446181	Secale	cereale	cereale	P2	1.33
SD_Sc170	Portugal	PI 446195	Secale	cereale	cereale	P2	3.00
SD_Sc173	Romania	PI 446245	Secale	cereale	cereale	P2	2.83
SD_Sc176	Estonia	PI 446514	Secale	cereale	cereale	P1	3.50
SD_Sc177	China	PI 447337	Secale	cereale	cereale	P2	3.00
SD_Sc178	China	PI 452132	Secale	cereale	cereale	P1	1.67
SD_Sc179	China	PI 452133	Secale	cereale	cereale	P1	3.67
SD_Sc180	United States	PI 464583	Secale	cereale	cereale	P1	2.17
SD_Sc182	United States	PI 491395	Secale	cereale	cereale	P1	3.00
SD_Sc185	United States	PI 522185	Secale	cereale	cereale	P2	1.00
SD_Sc186	Morocco	PI 525203	Secale	cereale	cereale	P2	2.40

SD_Sc187	Morocco	PI 525205	Secale	cereale	cereale	P1	3.67
SD_Sc191	Italy	PI 534929	Secale	cereale	cereale	P1	2.67
SD_Sc195	Romania	PI 534943	Secale	cereale	cereale	P12	3.00
SD_Sc197	Ukraine	PI 534948	Secale	cereale	cereale	P2	2.17
SD_Sc201	United States	PI 534954	Secale	cereale	cereale	P2	3.00
SD_Sc202	Czechoslovakia	PI 534956	Secale	cereale	cereale	P12	1.50
SD_Sc203	Austria	PI 534960	Secale	cereale	cereale	P2	3.33
SD_Sc204	United States	PI 534961	Secale	cereale	cereale	P2	1.83
SD_Sc205	United States	PI 534962	Secale	cereale	cereale	P1	1.67
SD_Sc209	Belgium	PI 534970	Secale	cereale	cereale	P12	2.80
SD_Sc210	Argentina	PI 534987	Secale	cereale	cereale	P2	1.00
SD_Sc211	Argentina	PI 534988	Secale	cereale	cereale	P12	1.00
SD_Sc214	Kenya	PI 535006	Secale	cereale	cereale	P12	1.83
SD_Sc215	Austria	PI 535007	Secale	cereale	cereale	P2	1.00
SD_Sc219	Portugal	PI 535083	Secale	cereale	cereale	P1	1.00

SD_Sc220	Portugal	PI 535094	Secale	cereale	cereale	P1	2.75
SD_Sc225	France	PI 535144	Secale	cereale	cereale	P1	1.17
SD_Sc227	United States	PI 535154	Secale	cereale	cereale	P12	1.83
SD_Sc229	United States	PI 535159	Secale	cereale	cereale	P1	1.50
SD_Sc230	Romania	PI 535163	Secale	cereale	cereale	P12	1.83
SD_Sc231	Uruguay	PI 535174	Secale	cereale	cereale	P2	2.00
SD_Sc239	Poland	PI 535192	Secale	cereale	cereale	P12	2.83
SD_Sc241	United States	PI 535199	Secale	cereale	cereale	P2	2.33
SD_Sc242	Mexico	PI 542467	Secale	cereale	cereale	P12	1.33
SD_Sc243	United States	PI 542469	Secale	cereale	cereale	P2	2.00
SD_Sc244	Brazil	PI 542470	Secale	cereale	cereale	P2	1.00
SD_Sc246	Argentina	PI 543398	Secale	cereale	cereale	P1	4.33
SD_Sc247	Turkey	PI 543408	Secale	cereale	cereale	P1	1.83
SD_Sc249	Turkey	PI 543593	Secale	cereale	cereale	P1	3.00
SD_Sc251	Turkey	PI 543664	Secale	cereale	cereale	P2	2.50

SD_Sc254	United States	PI 543729	Secale	cereale	cereale	P1	2.17
SD_Sc256	United States	PI 552973	Secale	cereale	cereale	P1	2.20
SD_Sc257	United States	PI 559980	Secale	cereale	cereale	P2	4.00
SD_Sc258	United States	PI 559981	Secale	cereale	cereale	P12	3.40
SD_Sc261	Turkey	PI 560572	Secale	cereale	cereale	P2	1.00
SD_Sc265	Sweden	PI 561674	Secale	cereale	cereale	P1	3.00
SD_Sc271	Turkey	PI 568106	Secale	cereale	cereale	P1	1.00
SD_Sc278	Pakistan	PI 578092	Secale	cereale	cereale	P1	1.00
SD_Sc281	Canada	PI 590948	Secale	cereale	cereale	P2	3.00
SD_Sc293	United States	PI 628642	Secale	cereale	cereale	P2	1.67
SD_Sc296	Tajikistan	PI 639328	Secale	cereale	cereale	P1	1.00
SD_Sc297	Tajikistan	PI 639336	Secale	cereale	cereale	P1	1.00
SD_Sc269	Pakistan	PI 561809	Secale	cereale	cereale	P2	1.33
SD_Sc326	Armenia	PI 618662	Secale	cereale	afghanicum	P12	2.33
SD_Sc010	Japan	Cise 107	Secale	cereale	ancestrale	P12	-

SD_Sc324	Soviet Union	PI 445975	Secale	cereale	ancestrale	P2	3.00
SD_Sc327	Turkey	PI 618663	Secale	cereale	ancestrale	P1	3.00
SD_Sc329	Turkey	PI 618669	Secale	cereale	tetraploidum	P2	2.00
SD_Sc332	South Africa	PI 630963	Secale	strictum	africanum	P13	-
SD_Sc323	United States	PI 445973	Secale	strictum	anatolicum	P12	2.66
SD_Sc333	Poland	PI 630967	Secale	strictum	ciliatoglume	P3	2.50
SD_Sc315	Armenia	PI 592292	Secale	strictum	kuprijanovii	P13	3.00
SD_Sc334	Poland	PI 630971	Secale	strictum	strictum	P13	1.50
SD_Sc330	Ukraine	PI 618674	Secale	sylvestre	-	P3	3.00
SD_Sc331	Bulgaria	PI 618675	Secale	sylvestre	-	P3	2.50
SD_Sc320	Afghanistan	PI 253957	Secale	vavilovii	-	P1	-
SD_Sc322	Hungary	PI 284842	Secale	vavilovii	-	P1	-

Table 3: Detailed description about the *T. turgidum* subsp. mini core accessions. Results for the screening for Fusarium head blight (FHB), leaf rust greenhouse screening (LR-GH), leaf rust field screening (LR-field) and tan spot (*PTR* race 5) screening are also presented. Number beside categories denote the average rating score for the corresponding disease. Green color highlights the resistant accessions.

	T. turgidum					
Accession	subsp.	Origin	FHB	LR - GH	LR-field	Tan spot
PI341800	carthlicum	Russian Federation	-	S - 3.4	MR50	MS - 3.3
MG4330-66	diccocoides	-	-	S - 4	0	MR - 2
MG4343	diccocoides	-	S - 82.3	-	S80	-
PI352323	dicoccoides	Asia minor	S - 96.6	S - 4	0	MR - 2
PI428021	dicoccoides	Turkey	MS - 77.4	S - 4	S80	MR - 2
PI428054	dicoccoides	Turkey	S - 98.7	S - 3.1	S60	MS - 3
PI428057	dicoccoides	Turkey	MS - 61.1	S - 4	S50	MR - 2.2
PI428080	dicoccoides	Turkey	S - 93.3	S - 3.8	S80	MS - 3.2
PI428095	dicoccoides	Israel	S - 85.9	MS - 3	MR20	MS - 3.8

PI428105	dicoccoides	Israel	MR - 29.0	S - 3.5	MS90	R - 1
PI428143	dicoccoides	Lebanon	MS - 45.1	MR - 2	S80	R - 1
PI470944	dicoccoides	Syria	S - 100	MS - 3	S80	-
PI538657	dicoccoides	Turkey	-	S - 3.3	-	MR - 2.6
PI538672	dicoccoides	Israel	MS - 33.3	S - 4	S80	R - 1.5
PI538709	dicoccoides	Lebanon	S - 100	-	-	R - 1
PI538719	dicoccoides	Israel	S - 98.3	-	S80	-
Cltr4013	dicoccon	India	MR - 30.0	MS - 3	MR10	MS - 3.5
PI94667	dicoccon	Russian Federation	MS - 63.3	MS - 3	MR10	MS - 3.6
PI352369	dicoccon	Czech Republic	MS - 47.1	MS - 3	MR20	MS - 3.5
		Former Soviet				
PI355497	dicoccon	Union	MR - 26.0	S - 3.2	MR20	R - 1.6
PI434993	dicoccon	Montenegro	-	S - 4	-	MS - 3.3
MG5293-1	dicoccon	Italy	R - 14.68	MR - 2	0	S - 4.16
MG5416-1	dicoccon	-	R - 15	S - 3.8	0	S - 4.6

MG5473	dicoccon	Spain	MS - 51.7	S - 4	S20	S - 4.8
Cltr1471	durum	Algeria	-	R - 1	5R	MS - 3.5
Cltr6870	durum	Tunisia	-	MS - 2.1	10R	S - 4
PI8898	durum	India	-	R - 1	-	MS - 3.5
PI47889	durum	Spain	-	MR - 2	MR20	MS - 3.3
PI60741	durum	Egypt	-	R - 0.6	S20	MS - 3.3
PI185233	durum	United Kingdom	-	R - 1	10R	S - 4.2
PI192843	durum	Portugal	-	S - 3.5	-	MR - 2.7
PI204050	durum	Portugal	-	MR - 2	() S - 4
PI244061	durum	Yemen	-	HR - ;	5R	S - 4.1
		Bosinia and				
PI265010	durum	Herzegovina	-	S - 4	S 80	MR - 2.1
PI352459	durum	France	-	MS - 2.6	-	-
PI621771	durum	Iran	-	S - 4	S 90	MS - 3.6
PI627550	durum	Iran	_	MS - 3	-	MS - 4

PI286547	polonicum	Ecuador	-	S - 4	MR20	MS - 3.8
PI289606	polonicum	United Kingdom	-	MS - 2.6	MR20	MS - 4
					S10/S80/S8	
PI306549	polonicum	Romania	-	S - 4	0	MS - 3.6
PI67343	turanicum	Australia	-	S - 4	-	S - 4.2
PI68287	turanicum	Azerbaijan	-	S - 4	MR20	S - 4.6
PI352514	turanicum	Azerbaijan	-	S - 4	-	MS - 3.4
PI134951	turgidum	Portugal	-	MS - 2.2	R10	R - 1.7
PI542679	turgidum	Algeria	S - 100	MR - 1.5	S80	MR - 2.8
PI56263	turgidum	Portugal	-	MS - 2.6	-	S - 4.2
PI191104	turgidum	Spain	-	MS - 2.3	MS40	R - 1.8
KU7348	abyssinicum	Ethiopia	-	MS - 3	10R	-
KU138	carthlicum	-	-	-	-	MS - 4
KU14468	dicoccoides	Israel	-	MR - 2	S60	-
KU15917	dicoccoides	Israel	S - 100	MR - 2	S80	MR - 2.8

KU108-1	dicoccoides	-	MS - 50.3	MS - 2.6	S 80	MS - 3.2
KU109	dicoccoides	Israel	-	S - 3.6	-	MR - 2
KU8941	dicoccoides	Iran	S - 100	S - 3.6	-	R - 1.1
KU14456	dicoccoides	Israel	S - 94.7	MS - 3	MS20	R - 1
KU14508	dicoccoides	Israel	MS - 32.2	MS - 3	S 90	-
KU8821A	dicoccoides	Iraq	S - 90.5	MS - 3	S 80	R - 1.1
KU108-3	dicoccoides	-	MS - 66.3	S - 4	S 80	MR - 2
KU108-4	dicoccoides	Syria	S - 99.8	-	-	MS - 3.5
KU195	dicoccoides	Israel	MS - 69.9	S - 4	S80	MR - 2
KU1921	dicoccoides	Turkey	S - 100	S - 4	S 80	R - 1.8
KU1974	dicoccoides	Turkey	-	S - 4	-	R - 1
KU8805	dicoccoides	Iraq	-	S - 4	S80	MR - 2
KU14493	dicoccoides	Israel	S - 86.6	S - 3.6	S80	S - 4
KU15808	dicoccoides	Turkey	S - 97.5	S - 4	S50	MS - 3.1
KU15819	dicoccoides	Turkey	S - 100	S - 4	S 80	MS - 3.3

KU13451	dicoccoides	Israel	MS - 47.6	-	MS60	MS - 3.6
KU117	dicoccon	-	-	MS - 3	MS80	MS - 3.8
KU124	dicoccon	-	MR - 20.5	-	MS80	R - 1.7
KU1058	dicoccon	Spain	R - 14.2	-	0	S - 5
KU15549	dicoccon	Russian Federation	MS - 61	-	MR50	-
KU111	dicoccon	-	MS - 50.5	S - 4	5R	S - 4
KU114	dicoccon	-	-	S - 4	-	-
KU15626	durum	Yemen	-	MR - 2	0/0	S - 4.1
KU3679	durum	Syria	-	-	-	-
KU11701	durum	Greece	-	-	-	-
KU3701	durum	Turkey	-	R - 1	MS40	S - 4
KU15591	durum	Egypt	-	R - 0.3	S20	S - 4
KU128-1	durum	China	-	S - 4	S10	-
KU129-1	durum		-	S - 4	-	-
KU1359	durum	Greece	-	S - 4	-	S - 4

KU1369	durum	Greece	-	S - 4	0	MS - 3.8
KU1522	durum	Russian Federation	-	S - 4	S 90	MS - 4
KU3732	durum	Turkey	-	S - 4	S80/S80	S - 4.1
KU11752	durum	Greece	-	S - 4	0	MR - 2.5
KU11805	durum	Greece	-	S - 4	S40	MS - 3.6
KU11830	durum	Greece	-	HR - ;	-	MR - 2
KU15681	durum	Iran	-	S - 4	S80	S - 4
KU137	turanicum	-	-	S - 4	MR20	MS - 3.6
KU190-2	paleocolchicum	USSR	-	S - 4	-	-
KU141	polonicum	-	-	S - 4	-	S - 4.2
KU146	pyramidale	-	-	S - 4	0/0	S - 4.4
KU15774	turgidum	Portugal	-	S - 4	MR10	S - 4
KU15787	turgidum	Algeria	-	S - 4	S100	S - 4
KU149	turgidum	-	-	MR - 1.1	MR80	S - 4